# UP IN SMOKE: BANKRUPTCY BY CONTRACT IN THE LEGAL CANNABIS INDUSTRY

by

# William A. Organek\*

Access to the federal Bankruptcy Code cannot be modified by contract. Its procedures are meant to preserve the value of a bankrupt's limited assets for all claimants, not just those who negotiate for protection. While critics of this inflexibility argue that many debtors and creditors would benefit from contractual modifications to the Code's one-size-fits-all approach, such agreements are rare because courts universally reject them. However, the state-legal cannabis industry is different: since cannabis is federally illegal, the protections of the Code, as well as its prohibitions on bankruptcy contracting, are entirely inapplicable to industry participants. This Article exploits this anomaly and leverages a novel, handcollected data set-consisting of almost 75,000 pages from 1,167 publicly-filed documents disclosed by thirty-four publicly-listed cannabis companies—to discover whether, and how, companies use this unique chance to contract around insolvency. It concludes that parties largely ignore this opportunity, but that some classes of participants make advantageous bankruptcy contracts.

This Article offers five key findings. First, industry participants are aware, and largely publicly disclose, that they cannot access the Code. Second, despite this awareness, the data suggests cannabis companies are mostly unwilling or unable to include contract terms that might replace or improve upon correlated provisions in Only around 6.6% of cannabis industry contracts contain such provisions. Third, despite this overall rarity, bankruptcy contracting is present in around 29% of secured lending contracts for cannabis companies, meaning it is more than four times more likely in these contracts than overall. Fourth, companies more frequently rely on structural mechanisms to allow them (or their

<sup>\*</sup> Assistant Professor of Law, Zicklin School of Business, Baruch College, City University of New York. I am grateful to Ken Ayotte, Vince Buccola, Tony Casey, Jared Ellias, Michael Francus, Jim Greiner, Ted Janger, Jonathan Lipson, Caley Petrucci, Mark Roe, and participants at the 2023 Wharton-Harvard Insolvency and Restructuring Conference, the 2024 University of Chicago-BYU Winter Bankruptcy Conference, the 2024 Faculty Research Workshop in the Law Department at the Zicklin School of Business, and the 2024 International Association on Regulation & Governance Conference for their helpful comments and suggestions. I also thank Joe Marger for introducing me to cannabis law. Judge Elizabeth Gunn added superb ideas and made helpful edits to a very long article. She, Judge Terrence Michael, and others at the American Bankruptcy Law Journal dramatically improved the quality of this work. Finally, I thank my wife and family for their continued support and encouragement. All errors are mine.

counterparties) to take advantage of the absence of bankruptcy protection for the industry. Around 44.8% of documents examined include provisions to tailor capital structures or business operations in this manner, though only around 6.5% employed marijuana-specific strategies. Finally, despite predictions or suggestions by academics who support bankruptcy contracting, no company issues any form of exotic securities that would contractually automate parts of the insolvency process.

Bankruptcy contracting could be more common in secured lending agreements because of lenders' heightened negotiating leverage and sophistication, greater financial stakes, and longer-term relationship with the borrower. However, for most parties, it may be that informational and transactional costs make bankruptcy contracting inefficient. Forms of bankruptcy structuring might serve as a cheaper alternative. By showing how legal cannabis companies use, or fail to use, their freedom of contract to tailor results in insolvency, this Article provides evidence of the limits and potential inequities of bankruptcy contracting.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUC	TION	241
I. MA	rijuana's Distinctive Legal Framework	250
A.	Marijuana Businesses Grow Despite Legal Uncertain	
1.	Dual Status: Illegal under Federal Law, but Legal und	-
	State Law	
2.	Legal Implications of Marijuana's Dual Status	252
3.	Financial Implications of Marijuana's Dual Status	
B.	Cannabis Companies Can Rarely Obtain Bankruptcy	
		256
1.	U.S. Government Policy and Court Adoption	256
2.	Exceptions Avoid Inequities, but Do Not Help Cann	abis
	Businesses	259
C.	Alternatives to Bankruptcy-State and Foreign	262
1.	State-Law Insolvency Procedures	262
2.	Foreign Insolvency Procedures	266
II. C	ANNABIS COMPANIES AS A TESTING GROUND FOR	
BA	ANKRUPTCY CONTRACTING	268
A.	Data Collection Methods and Summary Statistics	269
1.	Data Collection Methods	269
2.	•	
B.	Cannabis Company Contracts	276
1.	Awareness of Unique Bankruptcy Status	277

2.	Limited Bankruptcy Contracting	279
3.	Contracting is Concentrated in Agreements with S	ecured
	Lenders	280
4.	Structural Mechanisms are More Common	290
5.	Never Issue Exotic Securities	297
6.	Conclusions on Bankruptcy Contracting	298
III. I	BANKRUPTCY CONTRACTING AS AN ALTERNATIVE	TO A
1	Mandatory Bankruptcy Regime	299
A.	The Creditors' Bargain and Arguments Against Ba	nkruptcy
	Contracting	
В.	Arguments in Favor of Bankruptcy Contracting	301
1.	r - 7	
2.		
3.		
C.	F - 7	
1.		
	Structure	
2.	0 1 ,	311
	THE ROLE OF BANKRUPTCY CONTRACTING AND	
1	Mandatory Bankruptcy Law	
A.	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	
B.	The Purposes of (Imperfect) Bankruptcy Rules	320
CONCLUSI	ON	325
APPENDIX	A–DATABASE CREATION AND CODING N	OTES
		326
A.	Database Creation	326
B.	Building the Data Set	330
C.	Exclusions from the Data Set	338
D.	Coding for Bankruptcy Contracting	339
E.	Coding for Structuring	

## Introduction

Frank Arenas, a disabled pensioner, started a small agricultural and retail business with his wife Sarah. They used one unit of a two-unit commercial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Arenas v. U.S. Trustee (*In re* Arenas), 535 B.R. 845, 848 (10th Cir. BAP 2015).

property they owned in Denver to grow crops and leased the other to a company, DPG, that would sell their crops.<sup>2</sup> The Arenases obtained all required governmental licenses and operated their business legally and successfully. But after some time, disputes with DPG caused Frank and Sarah to face large claims for damages and attorneys' fees.<sup>3</sup> With insufficient assets to pay these bills, they did what many similarly "honest but unfortunate" 4 companies and individuals do under such circumstances: they filed for bankruptcy. Perhaps the Arenases believed relief would be forthcoming because insolvent debtors are almost never denied access to bankruptcy courts.<sup>5</sup> Yet this was not the case because the crop the couple grew and sold was state-legal and state-licensed marijuana.6 Although licensed marijuana businesses may be legal on a state level, they are illegal on a federal level.<sup>7</sup> Unfortunately for Frank and Sarah Arenas, the Bankruptcy Code is federal law.<sup>8</sup> The court in the Arenas' case therefore reasoned that "while the debtors have not engaged in intrinsically evil conduct, the debtors cannot obtain bankruptcy relief because their marijuana business activities are federal crimes." Thus, a trustee could not be appointed to sell their illegal assets or distribute the proceeds of illegal crimes; nor could the Arenases be permitted to manage their company and continue to violate federal law with the imprimatur of a federal court. 10 The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> *Id.* at 847.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> *Id.* at 847-48.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Local Loan Co. v. Hunt, 292 U.S. 234, 244 (1934); see also Marrama v. Citizens Bank, 549 U.S. 365, 367 (2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See generally 2 COLLIER ON BANKR. ¶ 101.32 (16th ed. 2023) (both solvent and insolvent parties can file for bankruptcy); see also William Organek, The Dismissal of LTL and What Lies Ahead for Mass Tort Bankruptcy, HARVARD LAW SCHOOL BANKRUPTCY ROUNDTABLE, Feb. 14, 2023, https://hlsbankruptcyr.wpengine.com/wpcontent/uploads/2023/02/The-Dismissal-of-LTL-and-What-Lies-Ahead-for-Mass-Tort-Bankruptcy.pdf (discussing the novel imposition of an insolvency requirement by the Third Circuit to deter controversial use of bankruptcy to resolve mass tort liability).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Throughout this Article, the terms "cannabis" and "marijuana" are used interchangeably.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See generally 21 U.S.C. § 801 et seq. (regulating controlled substances such as marijuana).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> 11 U.S.C. § 101 *et seq.*; *see also* U.S. CONST., Art. I, Sec. 8, Cl. 4 (Congress shall have the power to establish "uniform Laws on the subject of Bankruptcies throughout the United States.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Arenas v. U.S. Trustee (In re Arenas), 535 B.R. 845, 849 (10th Cir. BAP 2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> *Id.* at 852-53.

Arenases were "unfortunately caught between pursuing a business that the people of Colorado have declared to be legal and beneficial, but which the laws of the United States—laws that every United States Judge swears to uphold—proscribe and subject to criminal sanction." As a result, their bankruptcy petition was dismissed. They—along with every state-legal cannabis bankrupt before and since 13—were ineligible for federal bankruptcy protection. As a result, their bankrupt before and since 13—were ineligible for federal bankruptcy protection.

This prohibition is uniquely anomalous in American bankruptcy law. The goal of this Article is to examine the legal cannabis industry's contractual response to the prohibition. No other industry is comparably foreclosed from bankruptcy protection—far from it.<sup>15</sup> Instead, use of the Bankruptcy Code, without alteration, is forced upon individuals and companies, who are not permitted to voluntarily waive their rights to file for bankruptcy or alter even part of its mandatory rules.<sup>16</sup> Yet the legal marijuana industry is effectively forced to waive bankruptcy protection. Scholars have written for decades about the potential benefits and drawbacks of amending, modifying, or waiving some or all aspects of bankruptcy's otherwise comprehensive and mandatory scheme—so-called

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> *Id.* at 854.

<sup>12</sup> Id

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> As described *infra*, there have been a handful of cases where bankruptcy courts have been willing to permit cannabis companies to pursue bankruptcy filings, but generally only after divesting themselves of all cannabis-related assets. Thus, restructuring a financially distressed but economically viable cannabis company effectively remains impossible. This Article will therefore proceed as though bankruptcy protection is entirely unavailable for companies in this industry.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> State law insolvency resolution procedures exist, but for reasons discussed in Part I.C.1, *infra*, these alternatives are rarely used and would likely not be effective for large cannabis companies.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> There are certain classes of entities Congress expressly carved out from the definition of who may be a debtor under the Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. § 109, but unlike cannabis companies, Congress has provided alternative insolvency resolution mechanisms for most of them. Insurance companies, meanwhile, are required to use state law to resolve insolvency. See Michael Sean Quinn & Brian S. Martin, *Insurance and Bankruptcy*, 36 TORT & INS. L.J. 1025, 1046 n.133 (2001) (insurance companies cannot file for bankruptcy, so "insurer insolvency is handled in state courts.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> See, e.g., In re Roberson Cartridge Co., LLC, No. 22-20191, 2023 Bankr. LEXIS 588 at \*16-\*20 (Bankr. N.D. Tex. Mar. 7, 2023) (waiver of the right to file for bankruptcy is void as against public policy, and citing cases in numerous other circuits holding same); see also David A. Skeel, Jr. & George Triantis, Bankruptcy's Uneasy Shift to a Contract Paradigm, 166 U. PA. L. REV. 1777, 1785 (2018) ("bankruptcy law does not allow a debtor to waive its right to file a bankruptcy petition").

bankruptcy contracting.<sup>17</sup> But, because access to bankruptcy cannot be waived, there have until now been few direct opportunities to test their propositions. The blanket prohibition on bankruptcy protection for the legal marijuana industry inadvertently grants companies freedom to create contractual alternatives to bankruptcy.

Using a novel, hand-collected data set of material contracts, and public filings made by large industry participants, this Article investigates whether, and how, companies modify their contracts in an industry where the provisions of the Bankruptcy Code are almost entirely inapplicable. This research bridges the gap between theoretical arguments and real-world practice. By hand-coding analyzing almost 75,000 pages of 1,167 publicly-disclosed documents by thirty-four publicly-listed cannabis companies, this Article adds rare empirical data to the typically speculative debate on the merits of contractual alternatives to bankruptcy.

The Article presents five key findings from the data. First, this data set indicates that marijuana companies are typically aware of their inability to access bankruptcy protection. Second, and counterintuitively, despite this awareness companies rarely alter their contracts to provide alternative mechanisms for resolving financial distress. Only about 6.6% of contracts contain tailored provisions to address insolvency in the absence of the Bankruptcy Code, making bankruptcy contracting unusual even in the one industry where it could be commonplace. Third, the bankruptcy contracting that does exist is largely concentrated among one type of creditor: secured lenders. Here, bankruptcy contracting still remains rare, with around 29% of secured lending contracts containing insolvency specific remedies that would alter, amend, or even incorporate remedies that would be available under the Bankruptcy Code. Notably, this 29% prevalence in secured lending contracts is more than four times greater than the 6.6% prevalence Fourth, companies more frequently tailor their business in all contracts. operations or capital structures in response to the inability to file for bankruptcy rather than using specific contractual language to address their lack of bankruptcy protection. Overall, this alternative strategy is used in around 44.8% of contracts. Yet 85.5% of these contracts (i.e., 447 of 523

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> See Alan Schwartz, Bankruptcy Related Contracting and Bankruptcy Functions 6 (Yale L. & Econ., Research Paper No. 553, 2017), https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=2806027 (defining bankruptcy contracting as "contracting that regulates how agents use the public procedure" made available through the Bankruptcy Code).

documents) structure around bankruptcy by trying, with varying degrees of success, to "opt out" of any potential violation of US cannabis law. Only around 6.5% of documents use marijuana specific structuring strategies. Finally, despite predictions or suggestions by bankruptcy scholars, no company examined issues any form of exotic security meant to contractually automate portions of the bankruptcy process. The greater (though still low overall) prevalence of bankruptcy contracting among secured lenders, and the overall dearth of bankruptcy contracting generally, adds useful data to debates about the role and limits of bankruptcy contracting.

The inability of parties to waive bankruptcy's mandatory rules is understood as essential to its operation. Without a collective, compulsory system, creditors would race each other to the courthouse to collect on the remaining assets of a dying company. This process would hasten the company's demise, waste value, harm some creditors, and increase borrowing costs. But critics question the necessity of a compulsory system, noting that freedom of contract and avoidance of mandatory systems stands behind almost all other aspects of corporate law. These contractualists argue at least some debtors and creditors might benefit from a customizable set of rules through lower credit costs and more efficient transactions. But despite these arguments and growing support for contractual solutions to a host of corporate law issues, 18 contracting out of bankruptcy has been consistently rejected by courts. Consequently, one frustrated proponent of bankruptcy contracting, who envisioned that parties would write bankruptcy contracts if able, complained more than twenty years ago that "It his prediction is not testable today because bankruptcy contracts are unenforceable."19 The situation is little changed since.

The state-legal marijuana industry thus provides a singular—perhaps unique—opportunity to test the predictions of supporters and opponents of bankruptcy contracting. Despite an enduring, and well-known in the industry, prohibition on bankruptcy filings for cannabis companies, cannabis businesses have boomed. Sales in the legal marijuana industry have grown from about \$4.6 billion in 2014<sup>20</sup> to a projected \$33 billion in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> See Daniel J. Bussel, Corporate Governance, Bankruptcy Waivers, and Consolidation in Bankruptcy, 36 EMORY BANKR. DEV. J. 99, 105 (2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Alan Schwartz, *Bankruptcy Contracting Reviewed*, 109 YALE L.J. 343, 344 (1999). This so-called Creditors' Bargain Theory and its original exponents are described in notes 248-252, *infra*, and accompanying text.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Heesun Wee, *Legal US Pot Sales Soar to \$5.4B in 2015: Report*, CNBC (Feb. 1, 2016, 2:52 p.m.), https://www.cnbc.com/2016/02/01/legal-us-pot-sales-soar-in-2015.html.

2023 (an amount that exceeds sales of chocolate, eggs, craft beer, topical pain relief, and even legal opioids).<sup>21</sup> Five public companies in the industry have market capitalizations exceeding \$1 billion.<sup>22</sup> Moreover, much of this growth has been enabled by debt, even though many bankruptcy scholars would predict an industry without a compulsory bankruptcy system would struggle to find affordable financing. In 2018, less than 20% of capital raised by the industry consisted of debt, but by 2022 this figure increased to almost 60%.<sup>23</sup> The industry raised almost \$8 billion in debt capital in 2021 and 2022 alone,<sup>24</sup> with debt composing 93% of capital raised by U.S. marijuana cultivation and retail companies in 2022.<sup>25</sup> State-legal marijuana is big, debt-fueled business—yet one, exceptionally, without access to bankruptcy.

This Article is built around novel, hand-collected data set consisting of almost 75,000 pages across 1,167 documents filed by publicly-listed companies in the legal cannabis industry with a market capitalization greater than or equal to \$25 million. Despite being aware of the bankruptcy prohibition and the opportunities this opens for bankruptcy contracting, the vast majority of the industry's publicly-filed material contracts do not contain any language that specifically accounts for this unique status. Many contracts note the illegality of the company's business under federal law and therefore carve out compliance with federal drug law from standard, more general provisions requiring compliance with any applicable law. However, few contracts include tailored provisions addressing the inaccessibility of the Bankruptcy Code or alternatives to the Bankruptcy Code in its absence.

Of the small number of contracts that address the bankruptcy issue headon, 37.6% of them are secured loan agreements. Contracts written by secured lenders may include bankruptcy-related terms because the secured

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Chris Morris, *Cannabis Retail Sales to Surpass \$33.5B in 2023, Topping Chocolate, Eggs and Craft Beer*, FORTUNE (Apr. 12, 2023, 1:08 p.m.), https://fortune.com/2023/04/12/cannabis-retail-sales-2023-33-billion/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> The 12 Largest Cannabis Companies in 2024, STASH (July 12, 2024), https://www.stash.com/learn/largest-cannabis-companies/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Viridian Capital Advisors and EY, THE CANNABIS CAPITAL FLOW: A FULL-YEAR 2022 REVIEW OF CAPITAL MARKET TRANSACTIONS 18, accessible at: https://assets.ey.com/content/dam/ey-sites/ey-com/en\_ca/topics/cannabis/ey-cannabis-coe-viridian-report-fy-2022-v07-final.pdf.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> *Id.* at 34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Kate Robertson, *Debt Financing Eclipses Equity in US Marijuana Cultivation and Retail Fundings*, MJBIZDAILY (Oct. 27, 2022), https://mjbizdaily.com/debt-financing-eclipses-equity-in-us-cannabis-cultivation-and-retail-fundings/.

lending parties are more sophisticated, and have greater financial and relational stakes, than other contract counterparties. Institutional lenders continue to shy away from the legal cannabis industry. This financing void has been filled largely by opportunistic private debt funds and sale-leaseback financing firms. Many such lenders use their heightened negotiating leverage and sophistication to obtain loans with strict covenants and control They are particularly incentivized to negotiate airtight provisions. documents because many of their marijuana industry loans are outsized, long-term bets on nascent companies in an uncertain industry, and some portion of these lenders may be unable to diversify away from industry or company risks.<sup>26</sup> For secured lenders underwriting the risk of a loan based in part on the collectability of its collateral upon insolvency, a more tailored contract could also lead to lower costs and might therefore be worth the costs entailed. As a result, some of these lenders contract for bankruptcy: they negotiate insolvency-specific remedies that vary from what might typically occur if a cannabis borrower were able to file for bankruptcy.

While bankruptcy contracting is quite rare, "bankruptcy structuring" is more common. Recall that bankruptcy contracting is any form of contracting that amends, modifies, or waives some or all of the provisions of the Bankruptcy Code that would otherwise apply to a company. Bankruptcy structuring, meanwhile, is a term used in this Article to refer to two potential strategies: "opt-out," or "cannabis structuring." Opting out means largely or entirely removing the risk of violating US drug law by refraining from establishing plant-touching operations in the US. Cannabis structuring refers to a small set of corporate law techniques used to isolate and mitigate the specific risks a creditor might face if a cannabis company became insolvent but was unable to use the Bankruptcy Code.<sup>27</sup> Cannabis structuring ensures valuable assets are kept together in blocs easily accessible to a small number of creditors. Overall, the bankruptcy structuring strategies of opt-out and cannabis-specific structuring are used in about 44.8% of documents. Opting out is the far more common strategy, but it may be of limited effectiveness because of the wide range of the federal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> See Douglas G. Baird, Priority Matters: Absolute Priority, Relative Priority, and the Costs of Bankruptcy, 165 U. PA. L. REV. 785, 794-95, 798 (2017); Erik Gilje, Do Firms Engage in Risk-Shifting? Empirical Evidence, 29 REV. FIN. STUD. 2925 (2016); Skeel & Triantis, supra note 16, at 1813-14.

 $<sup>^{27}\,\</sup>mathrm{More}$  detailed definitions of "bankruptcy contracting", "bankruptcy structuring", and "cannabis-specific structuring," as well as how each was operationalized in coding documents in the Data Set, are provided in Appendix A.

drug laws and the prohibition on accessing bankruptcy courts for even marijuana-adjacent companies. It also is all but impossible for a marijuana grower or retailer to implement. The cannabis-specific structuring tools, meanwhile, are illuminating because they provide a potential second-best option for companies seeking some of the benefits of bankruptcy contracting without the informational and transactional costs entailed by full customization.

Finally, over the years there have been numerous academic suggestions for alternative forms of debt or equity issuance that could directly address insolvency risk without needing to rely on the Bankruptcy Code. However, no company examined in this Article uses any form of exotic securities. Securities issued in this industry are limited to standard and preferred equity, convertible debt, and standard secured and unsecured debt. Failing to use exotic securities could suggest that any potential benefits from issuing them might be outweighed by the reduced information costs for subsequent public market purchasers achieved through standardization.<sup>28</sup>

Collectively, the data presented in this Article suggests that, at least for the legal cannabis industry, bankruptcy contracting does not appear to play a major role in most transactions. However, its manifestation in secured lending contracts underscores the important role of secured lenders, and in particular non-traditional private capital and sale-leaseback financing, in riskier or more uncertain industries, as well as the limits on the protections afforded to them. This Article therefore contributes to the literature on bankruptcy contracting by providing rare empirical data on bankruptcy contracts in practice. As discussed above, the blanket ban on opting out of bankruptcy means that what little empirical study of the topic exists does not focus on the contracts themselves, for there rarely are such contracts. The author is aware of no other work that examines the specific contractual language used by parties that are empowered to waive their right to bankruptcy and thus able to make credible alternative contracts. The hope is that the empirical data and analysis provided in this Article may suggest places where bankruptcy's mandatory rules could be fruitfully replaced by default rules. At the same time, an absence of bankruptcy contracting may

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> See generally Thomas W. Merrill & Henry E. Smith, Optimal Standardization in the Law of Property: The Numerus Clausus Principle, 110 YALE L.J. 1 (2000); see also Kenneth Ayotte & Alex Zhicheng Huang, Standardizing and Unbundling the Sub Rosa DIP Loan, 39 EMORY BANKR. DEV. J. 523(2023).

suggest important roles for default rules. Perhaps the absence of contracting implies that a fixed rule—any clear rule consistently applied, with wide latitude as to particular content of that rule—is at times preferable to a customized deal. Uncertainty, rather than suboptimal rules, may sometimes be the bigger enemy of commerce.<sup>29</sup>

The remainder of this Article proceeds as follows. Part I examines the distinctive legal framework governing the legal marijuana industry. This begins with explaining the ways the federally-illegal but state-legal industry operates—who regulates it, how it raises funds, and what behaviors are seen as legally permissible (or not) in the industry. It turns next to an analysis of the current law with respect to bankruptcy filings in the industry, and briefly examines underused state- or international-law alternatives to bankruptcy and what might explain their limited uptake. With no satisfactory bankruptcy system available for the industry, bankruptcy contracting could present a beneficial alternative.

Part II presents this Article's novel empirical contribution. It briefly describes the data set collection and coding process,<sup>30</sup> and provides summary statistic data on the industry and its contracts. It then uses this data to answer this Article's motivating question: are companies drafting bankruptcy contracts, and if so, what provisions do they include? The data suggests contracts that expressly address potential bankruptcy-related issues or seek to embrace, modify, or reject particular provisions of the Bankruptcy Code are rare. Those bankruptcy contracts that are entered into are negotiated primarily with secured lenders—parties with heightened negotiating leverage and sophistication, greater financial stakes, and longer-term relationships with borrowers. This Part examines several examples of bankruptcy contract provisions and analyzes what parties might have hoped to gain from including them. It also looks at various structural mechanisms parties use more frequently than substantive contracting.

Part III steps back from the empirical data to a more theoretical perspective. It summarizes the rationale behind the current bankruptcy system, critiques of its mandatory regime, and why bankruptcy contracting is seen by some as an antidote to some of its problems. It also identifies key provisions of bankruptcy law that contracts might seek to replicate, modify,

 $<sup>^{29}</sup>$  See In re Bulson, 327 B.R. 830, 842 (Bankr. W.D. Mich. 2005) ("[M]] arkets work best when there are clear rules consistently applied . . . Investors can adjust for inequities. It is much harder to adjust for uncertainty.").

 $<sup>^{30}</sup>$  A more complete explanation of the methods used to assemble and code the data set can be found in Appendix A—Database Creation and Coding Notes.

or eliminate in a world shorn of mandatory bankruptcy rules.

Finally, Part IV investigates the broader implications of this data. Normatively, it suggests this industry's experience offers a potentially limited role for bankruptcy contracting. It also counsels that there may be multiple independent reasons—equity, efficiency, and certainty—to maintain bankruptcy's mandatory nature in most circumstances. The Article then briefly concludes.

## I. Marijuana's Distinctive Legal Framework

This Part describes marijuana's distinctive legal framework. It first explains that marijuana is legal under state law but illegal under federal law, and how this affects the structures these companies use to conduct business. It then turns to the consistent approach undertaken by the Department of Justice in opposing bankruptcy filings by cannabis companies and the ways that bankruptcy courts have largely (though not entirely) accepted these arguments. Finally, this Part briefly canvasses two insolvency resolution alternatives to federal bankruptcy law: state-law proceedings and international proceedings. It notes that these alternatives have remained mostly unused and suggests why the industry's size and structure could explain their limited uptake.

#### A. Marijuana Businesses Grow Despite Legal Uncertainty

Marijuana is illegal under federal law, but legal under state law in many states. This creates a unique regulatory framework for marijuana, with implications for organizational, contract, and securities law, as well as for how marijuana companies are financed. This Section explores each in turn.

1. Dual Status: Illegal under Federal Law, but Legal under State Law

As a Schedule I substance under the Controlled Substances Act (the "CSA"), marijuana is recognized as a drug with "a high potential for abuse," "no currently accepted medical use," and "a lack of accepted safety for use of the drug . . . under medical supervision."<sup>31</sup> It is illegal to possess,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> 21 U.S.C. § 812(b)(1). On August 29, 2023, the Department of Health and Human Services recommended to the Drug Enforcement Administration that marijuana be

manufacture, distribute, or dispense marijuana (whether intrastate<sup>32</sup> or across state lines), or to possess with intent to do any of these.<sup>33</sup> The CSA makes it illegal for individuals or companies to "knowingly open, lease, rent, use, or maintain any place, whether permanently or temporarily, for the purpose of manufacturing, distributing, or using any controlled substance."<sup>34</sup> Sales of items "primarily intended or designed for use" in manufacturing a controlled substance is prohibited,<sup>35</sup> as is making anything with reason to believe the item made will be used to manufacture a controlled substance.<sup>36</sup> Merely profiting from a violation of the CSA is similarly banned.<sup>37</sup> Violations can lead to fines, prison sentences, and criminal forfeiture.<sup>38</sup> Doctrines such as conspiracy, aiding and abetting, and accessory after the fact further expand the breadth of illegality to businesses that provide ancillary services to the marijuana industry.<sup>39</sup>

Cannabis has nevertheless been made legal in forty states and the District of Columbia for medical use, and twenty-three states and the District of Columbia for recreational use.<sup>40</sup> But cannabis businesses operating in these states do so at the sufferance of the federal government.<sup>41</sup> Policy has shifted greatly under different presidential administrations.<sup>42</sup>

rescheduled as a Schedule III substance. As of this writing marijuana remains a Schedule I drug. Nevertheless, even if marijuana were rescheduled, the manufacture, distribution, and possession of recreational marijuana would remain illegal under federal law. *Legal Consequences of Rescheduling Marijuana* 2-3, CONGRESSIONAL RESEARCH SERVICE (May 1, 2024), https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/LSB/LSB11105.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Gonzales v. Raich, 545 U.S. 1 (2005).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> 21 U.S.C. §§ 841(a)(1), 844(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> 21 U.S.C. § 856(a)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> 21 U.S.C. § 863.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> 21 U.S.C. § 843(a)(7).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> 21 U.S.C. § 855.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> 21 U.S.C. §§ 853(a), 881(a)(7).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> See 18 U.S.C. §§ 2, 3, 371.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> Where Marijuana is Legal in the United States (As of Nov. 13, 2023) MJBIZDAILY, https://mjbizdaily.com/map-of-us-marijuana-legalization-by-state/ (last visited Jul. 26, 2024).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Vivian Cheng, Note, *Medical Marijuana Dispensaries in Chapter 11 Bankruptcy*, 20 EMORY BANKR. DEV. J. 105, 143-45 (2013).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Compare Memorandum from David W. Ogden, Deputy Att'y Gen., to Selected U.S. Atty's (Oct. 19, 2009), available at https://www.justice.gov/archives/opa/blog/memorandum-selected-united-state-attorneys-investigations-and-prosecutions-states (Obama-era memo advising against prosecuting state law-compliant dispensaries) with Memorandum from Jefferson B. Sessions, III, Att'y Gen., to all U.S. Atty's (Jan. 4, 2018), available at

Meanwhile, any federal enforcement would be limited by the Joyce Amendment, a provision included in federal appropriations legislation since 2014 that prohibits the Department of Justice from using Congressionally-appropriated funds in bringing enforcement actions against state-legal cannabis companies.<sup>43</sup> This policy vacillation suggests that marijuana businesses continue to operate in an uncertain federal legal framework, despite state policy gains.

## 2. Legal Implications of Marijuana's Dual Status

The dual status of cannabis—illegal on a federal level, but legal on a state level-increases the costs cannabis companies face while limiting their operational and financing options in several ways. First, interactions between federal and state laws increase regulatory uncertainty and thus the cost of operating in the industry. As a general matter, state law respects the contracts of approved marijuana companies where marijuana has been legalized. Despite potentially implicating aspects of federal law, companies in the industry regularly enter into purchase and sale agreements, secured lending agreements with property as collateral, intellectual property license agreements governing state-granted intellectual property protections, leases, employment agreements, and a host of other legal agreements. Breached contracts get resolved through courts, employees can bring wrongful termination suits, foreclosures are permitted, and many other cases are resolved as they would be in other industries. Thus, this is not an industry that could be said to operate in the "wild west"—there is plenty of order, and plenty of law, and, in most cases, legal results do not vary from the underlying legal entitlements merely because marijuana is involved. 44

Nevertheless, state courts can vitiate contracts to engage in illegal activities as void against public policy. Although this problem has been

https://www.justice.gov/d9/press-releases/attachments/2018/01/04/ag\_marijuana\_enforcement\_1.4.18\_0.pdf (Trump-era memo indicating greater enforcement efforts).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> ATACH Policy Paper: The Time Has Come for U.S. Cannabis Operators to Be Listed on Nasdaq and the New York Stock Exchange, AMERICAN TRADE ASSOCIATION FOR CANNABIS AND HEMP (Nov. 8, 2022), https://www.duanemorris.com/site/static/ATACH-policy-paper-us-cannabis-operators-nasdaq-nyse.pdf, 7-8 (hereinafter, "ATACH Policy Paper").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Cf. Robert C. Ellickson, Order without Law: How Neighbors Settle Disputes (1994).

mitigated somewhat in the handful of states that have passed laws to carve out state-legal violations of the CSA from this common-law doctrine, some businesses may still choose not to conduct business with marijuana companies. Additionally, cannabis companies have no access to federal patent or trademark protections. Directors and officers of cannabis companies could also be subject to suit for violating fiduciary duties to shareholders by engaging in federally illegal activity. Even the interaction between two parts of federal law can increase costs for marijuana operators: cannabis companies are not permitted to take federal deductions for business expenses in furtherance of their federally illegal operations, but are nonetheless taxed on their federal income. These and other complications likely impose substantial costs on cannabis operators.

Next, state-legal marijuana businesses are tightly regulated, increasing industry costs while reducing the number of entrants. For example, Massachusetts has a comprehensive regulatory framework regarding entry into the market. No cannabis business may operate without a license, which is granted on a discretionary basis.<sup>49</sup> Limits are placed on the number of licenses and square footage of grow sites that a given individual or entity may have.<sup>50</sup> Licenses must be renewed annually, with fees of up to \$50,000/year/license.<sup>51</sup> Initial license applications require financial disclosures, criminal background checks, and escrowed funds to pay for dismantling of the business if necessary.<sup>52</sup> They also require the applicant to reach agreements with host communities, create a plan to address each of thirteen separate areas of concern for marijuana operations, and meet many other requirements.<sup>53</sup>

Regulations also vary widely from state to state<sup>54</sup> (and even by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> H. Justin Pace, *The "Free Market" for Marijuana: A Sober, Clear-Eyed Analysis of Marijuana Policy*, 24 LEWIS & CLARK L. REV. 1219, 1229 (2020). State laws normalizing marijuana contracts still leave the possibility that federal courts could find marijuana-related contracts as void for being *federally* illegal. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> *Id.* at 1242-44.

<sup>47</sup> Id. at 1230-36.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> See 26 U.S.C. § 280E.

Guidance on Licensure, COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS CANNABIS CONTROL COMMISSION 19 (Jan. 2020), https://masscannabiscontrol.com/document/guidance-on-licensure/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> *Id.* at 12-15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> *Id.* at 16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> *Id.* at 19-23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> *Id.* at 24-27, 31-32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> See, e.g., Acreage Holdings, Inc., 2022 Annual Report (Form 10-K), 18-42 (May 1,

locality),<sup>55</sup> further increasing entry costs. Moreover, approval from the applicable regulator is typically required before marijuana licenses can be transferred to a third party, while some place additional restrictions on transfers or ban transfers entirely.<sup>56</sup> As a result, licenses are among the most costly, valuable, and illiquid assets a cannabis company holds.<sup>57</sup> Substantial expertise is required to effectively monetize marijuana company assets, making underwriting loans to the industry more difficult and reducing the avenues of capital available to it.

Third, cannabis companies are generally shut out from traditional sources of financing, limiting their ability to grow through normal financial channels. Only around 10% of the approximately 5,000 commercial banks in the US report having worked with cannabis companies in 2021,<sup>58</sup> and marijuana companies are generally shut out from credit card processing systems.<sup>59</sup> Finally, access to public equity is made more challenging because US stock exchanges, concerned they will be subject to prosecution, do not permit companies that "touch the plant" (i.e., growers, processors, or retailers) to list.<sup>60</sup>

## 3. Financial Implications of Marijuana's Dual Status

Despite the challenges described in the prior subsection, financing

.

<sup>2023) (</sup>hereinafter, "Acreage 2022 10-K"). Strict requirements are even common in supposedly low-regulation states. See, e.g., Fla. Stat. § 381.986(8)(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> See, e.g., Talia Lux, Note, The California Cannabis Industry: The Complexities Since Recreational Legalization, 13 J. Bus. Entrepreneurship & L. 209, 222 (2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> See generally Barry Weisz, Cannabis State-by-State Regulations, THOMPSON COBURN LLP 3-4, 7, 12, 23 (Aug. 2022).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> See Ashley Southall, These Are New York's First Recreational Marijuana Retailers, N.Y. TIMES (Nov. 20, 2022), https://www.nytimes.com/2022/11/20/nyregion/new-york-marijuana-license.html (regulatory fees for New York retailers would range from \$3 million to \$5 million); Margaret Jackson, Buying Cannabis Licenses on Secondary Market More of a Sure Bet than Applying for State Business Permits, MJBIZDAILY (Dec. 17, 2021), https://mjbizdaily.com/buying-cannabis-licenses-on-secondary-market-more-of-a-sure-bet-than-applying-for-a-state-business-permit/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> Jeffrey Miron & Nicholas Anthony, Cannabis Banking: A Clash Between Federal and State Laws, CATO INSTITUTE (May 27, 2022, 12:30 p.m.), https://www.cato.org/blog/cannabis-banking-clash-between-federal-state-laws.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> See Luke Scheuer, The Green Rush: The Public Marijuana Securities Market, 26 WIDENER L. REV. 53, 73 (2020).

<sup>60</sup> ATACH Policy Paper, supra note 43, at 1.

remains available to cannabis industry participants. Cannabis companies have relied on two primary strategies to obtain public equity capital. The first is to simply not touch the plant in the US. Marijuana related financing companies, companies that provide goods and services to marijuana companies, and even companies that sell cannabis in countries where doing so is federally legal, have all been able to list on US exchanges because they do not touch the plant in the US.<sup>61</sup> The second strategy is for plant-touching cannabis companies to go public in Canada (where marijuana is federally legal) and then obtain a secondary over-the-counter listing in the United States. This method reduces the potential availability of capital as compared to a more traditional listing and also increases compliance costs since listing requirements in both jurisdictions must be satisfied.<sup>62</sup>

Marijuana firms face limitations in attracting equity or operating capital. As a result, firms often turn to a number of unconventional financing options. Two important (though by no means exclusive) sources of debt capital are opportunistic private firms and sale-leaseback financiers. Opportunistic financing firms often focus specifically on the cannabis industry and invest through private equity or debt offerings. Sale-leaseback financiers offer another channel of debt capital by monetizing the real estate holdings of marijuana companies. By purchasing a marijuana company's real property and immediately leasing it back to the company on a long-term basis at an above-market rent, the premium paid effectively acts as interest on a long-term loan.

Any attempt by financiers to take security interests in the assets of their marijuana borrowers presents issues because of the nature of the assets and the legal framework of marijuana companies. The exact means used, the special issues presented, and what this says about bankruptcy law are all explored in Parts III and IV. The complexity of operating suggests that for lenders to be successful in the space, they must have specialized knowledge not only of the nature of cannabis businesses and how best to underwrite their risks, but also the distinctive challenges faced when trying to collect on defaulted loans. The next Section reviews the caselaw on cannabis

<sup>61</sup> *Id.* at 9-13.

<sup>62</sup> Id. at 16, 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> See, e.g., Home Page, VIRIDIAN CAPITAL ADVISORS, https://www.viridianca.com/cannabis-transactions (the website of a prominent cannabis-focused advisory firm) (last visited July 24, 2024).

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 64}$  The author represented several cannabis sale-leaseback financiers while in private practice.

bankruptcies, analyzing the legal arguments and institutional forces that prevent cannabis companies from accessing bankruptcy protection.

## B. Cannabis Companies Can Rarely Obtain Bankruptcy Relief

Courts have been remarkably consistent for more than ten years in prohibiting cannabis companies to obtain bankruptcy protection. The Department of Justice has also been universally opposed to marijuana bankruptcy petitions, despite the policy lurches that have typified the executive response to cannabis companies during this period. This Section examines the Department of Justice's view on cannabis bankruptcy filings. It then turns to an examination of how courts have usually adopted this policy, while leaving small room for maneuvers that could overcome certain inequitable results for individuals but will likely prove of little help to most cannabis companies.

## 1. U.S. Government Policy and Court Adoption

The Department of Justice operates the U.S. Trustee Program, which is responsible for overseeing the bankruptcy system. <sup>65</sup> Trustees are permitted to intervene in bankruptcy cases to preserve the integrity of the bankruptcy system as a whole. <sup>66</sup> The U.S. Trustee has been a major opponent of bankruptcy filings by marijuana companies and individuals operating or profiting from marijuana businesses since at least 2011. <sup>67</sup> In 2017, the U.S. Trustee issued a memorandum explaining two reasons why it must oppose marijuana bankruptcies:

First, the bankruptcy system may not be used as an instrument in the ongoing commission of a crime and reorganization plans that permit or require continued illegal activity may not be confirmed. Second, bankruptcy trustees and other estate fiduciaries should not be required to administer assets if doing so would cause them to violate

<sup>65</sup> U.S. Trustee Program, DEP'T OF JUSTICE, https://www.justice.gov/ust.

 $<sup>^{66}</sup>$  11 U.S.C. § 307; 1 Collier on Bankr. § 6.01[2]; 2 Collier on Bankr. § 307.02.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> See In re McGinnis, 453 B.R. 770 (Bankr. D. Or. 2011).

federal criminal law.<sup>68</sup>

The memorandum explains that any other position would cause parties to violate one or both of the U.S. Trustee's rationales.<sup>69</sup> Continuing to operate the business would permit either the debtor-in-possession or a trustee to violate federal law. Meanwhile, even a trustee "who liquidated the fertilizer or equipment used to grow marijuana, who collected rent from a marijuana business tenant, or who sought to collect the profits of a marijuana investment" would breach the CSA.<sup>70</sup> As a result, the U.S. Trustee has challenged the bankruptcy filings of marijuana growers and retailers, marijuana-related businesses such as lessors to marijuana tenants,<sup>71</sup> sellers of hydroponic equipment that could be used to grow regular produce or marijuana,<sup>72</sup> companies that provide management services to marijuana sellers,<sup>73</sup> defunct marijuana businesses that might recover funds from active lawsuits,<sup>74</sup> and others.

Courts have largely deferred to arguments put forward by the U.S. Trustee seeking to prohibit cannabis bankruptcies. Reasons courts have denied bankruptcy filings generally fall within several interrelated categories: good faith, <sup>75</sup> feasibility, <sup>76</sup> trustee inability, <sup>77</sup> and unclean hands. <sup>78</sup> First, a bankruptcy court cannot approve a reorganization plan unless it is "proposed in good faith and not by any means forbidden by law." <sup>79</sup> Since reorganizations of marijuana debtors would involve continuing violations of law, courts have held that it would be impossible to confirm a marijuana bankruptcy plan. <sup>80</sup> Next, bankruptcy's feasibility requirement mandates

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> Clifford J. White & John Sheahan, Why Marijuana Assets May Not Be Administered in Bankruptcy, DEP'T OF JUSTICE, EXECUTIVE OFFICE FOR U.S. TRUSTEES, 2, Dec. 2017, available at https://www.justice.gov/ust/file/abi\_201712.pdf/download.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> *Id.* at 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> See In re ARM Ventures, LLC, 564 B.R. 77 (Bankr. S.D. Fla. 2017).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> See In re Way to Grow, Inc., 597 B.R. 111 (Bankr. D. Colo. 2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> See In re Medpoint Mgmt., 528 B.R. 178 (Bankr. D. Ariz. 2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> See Burton v. Maney (In re Burton), 610 B.R. 633 (BAP 9th Cir. 2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> See notes 79-80, infra, and accompanying text.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> See notes 81-82, infra, and accompanying text.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> See note 83, infra, and accompanying text.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> See notes 83-85, infra, and accompanying text.

 $<sup>^{79}</sup>$  11 U.S.C. §§ 1129(a)(3), 1325(a)(3); see also 11 U.S.C. § 1112(b) (a bankruptcy petition may be dismissed for cause).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> Arenas v. U.S. Trustee (*In re* Arenas), 535 B.R. 845, 852-53 (10th Cir. BAP 2015); *In re* Rent-Rite Super Kegs W. Ltd., 484 B.R. 799, 809 (Bankr. D. Colo. 2012); *In re* McGinnis, 453 B.R. at 772-73.

that a plan of reorganization cannot be approved unless it is not likely to be followed by a liquidation or further reorganization.<sup>81</sup> Any plan a bankruptcy court approved that resulted in an operating cannabis business would inevitably continue to violate the CSA. Continued violations of the CSA, in turn, would necessarily lead to liquidation. Thus, it would be impossible for a company that derives its income from marijuana sales to propose a feasible plan.<sup>82</sup>

Cannabis companies are also denied bankruptcy relief because neither trustees nor debtors in possession are able to liquidate the assets of a cannabis company or continue the company's operations without violating federal law. Finally, courts dismiss bankruptcy petitions filed by cannabis companies under the doctrine of unclean hands. Bankruptcy courts are courts of equity. Under the equitable doctrine of unclean hands, "a federal court should not, in an ordinary case, lend its judicial power to a plaintiff who seeks to invoke that power for the purpose of consummating a transaction in clear violation of federal law." Since cannabis is federally illegal, the argument goes, all cannabis debtors have unclean hands and courts of equity should deny bankruptcy relief to them (and, correspondingly, to any creditors who might seek assistance under the Bankruptcy Code). In the view of the U.S. Trustee and courts, therefore, there is no shortage of reasons to deny marijuana companies bankruptcy

<sup>82</sup> In re Arenas, 535 B.R. at 852; In re ARM Ventures, LLC, 564 B.R. 77, 83-84 (Bankr. S.D. Fla. 2017); In re Rent-Rite Super Kegs W. Ltd., 484 B.R. at 810.

<sup>81 11</sup> U.S.C. § 1129(a)(11).

<sup>83</sup> In re Arenas, 535 B.R. at 852 ("short of exposing him to physical harm, nothing could be more burdensome to the Trustee's administration than requiring him to take possession, sell and distribute marijuana [a]ssets in violation of federal criminal law."); In re ARM Ventures, LLC, 564 B.R. at 84-86; In re Rent-Rite Super Kegs W. Ltd., 484 B.R. at 810; In re Way to Grow, Inc., 597 B.R. at 120; In re Burton, 610 B.R. at 639; In re Johnson, 532 B.R. 53, 56-57 (Bankr. W.D. Mich. 2015) (even if debtor segregated cannabis proceeds from other income, "money is fungible and the arrangement would invariably taint the court and the Standing Trustee."); In re Medpoint Mgmt., 528 B.R. 178, 184-85 (Bankr. D. Ariz. 2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> See, e.g., U.S. v. Energy Resources Co., Inc., 495 U.S. 545 (1990); see also Marcia S. Krieger, "The Bankruptcy Court is a Court of Equity": What Does that Mean?, 50 S.C. L. REV. 275, 297-310 (1999).

<sup>85</sup> Johnson v. Yellow Cab Transit Co., 321 U.S. 383, 387 (1944).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> In re Medpoint Mgmt., 528 B.R. at 186-87; In re Rent-Rite Super Kegs W. Ltd., 484 B.R. at 806-07; In re Basrah Custom Design, Inc., 600 B.R. 368, 383 (Bankr. E.D. Mich. 2019).

relief.

2. Exceptions Avoid Inequities, but Do Not Help Cannabis Businesses

Despite the success of the U.S. Trustee, several courts have, in well-reasoned opinions, analyzed the flaws and "creeping absurdit [ies]" of a blanket prohibition on marijuana bankruptcy filings. Nevertheless, there has not been a single reported case overruling the prohibition on bankruptcy filings for companies actively involved in the marijuana industry. Bankruptcy courts have, at times, tried to circumvent this blanket prohibition, but the alternatives they offer are limited. Under current law, cannabis companies *may* be able to proceed in bankruptcy if they fully cease their cannabis-related operations, divest all marijuana-related assets, and forswear future cannabis-related ventures. Even under such strict guidelines, however, the U.S. Trustee would likely still object to a bankruptcy filing, and a judge might still dismiss the case. Perhaps more importantly, this narrow path would be impractical for an operating company whose sole, or even primary, business is marijuana-related.

Courts acknowledge the bright-line rule adopted by the U.S. Trustee, but at least some believe "[t] here may be cases where Chapter 11 relief is appropriate for an individual or non-individual entity directly engaged in a marijuana-related business." For example, bankruptcy courts are sometimes willing to permit a debtor, especially a sympathetic individual debtor, to propose a plan that does not rely on income received in violation of the CSA.<sup>89</sup>

At other times, courts find it possible for businesses that do not touch the plant and for which cannabis-related income is only a small part of their overall revenue to propose plans that do not rely on income that violated the CSA. Courts have approved bankruptcy filings of landlords that have rejected their leases to cannabis companies, <sup>90</sup> or have permitted debtors to resubmit plans that exclude any marijuana-sourced income from the funds to be used to make payments under a plan of reorganization. <sup>91</sup> Of course,

<sup>89</sup> In re Johnson, 532 B.R. 53, 54-55 (Bankr. W.D. Mich. 2015); see also Olson v. Van Meter (In re Olson), No 17-1168, 2018 Bankr. LEXIS 480, at \*18 (BAP 9th Cir. Dec. 1, 2018); In re McGinnis, 453 B.R. 770, 772-74 (Bankr. D. Or. 2011).

<sup>87</sup> In re CWNevada LLC, 602 B.R. 717, 740 (Bankr. D. Nev. 2019).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> *Id.* at 747.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> Garvin v. Cook Invs. NW, SPNWY, LLC, 922 F.3d 1031, 1033-36 (9th Cir. 2019).

<sup>91</sup> In re ARM Ventures, LLC, 564 B.R. 77, 84-87 (Bankr. S.D. Fla. 2017).

this type of strategy would be of little use to a marijuana retailer or grower, who could not easily remove cannabis from its business entirely.

The difficulty of disentangling a business from marijuana-sourced income does not only arise for plant-touching businesses. For example, the chapter 11 case of Way to Grow concerned the bankruptcy filing a seller of indoor hydroponic and gardening equipment that did not itself sell marijuana, but deliberately targeted the marijuana industry. In dismissing the bankruptcy case, the court observed that it would be extremely unlikely the company could structure a viable business that did not depend on marijuana customers. Thus, results vary on a case-by-case basis, with a subjective judgment regarding the centrality of marijuana to the business, rather than a simple test of whether a company touches the plant or not, determining eligibility for bankruptcy.

Some recent decisions have gone further, arguing "the mere involvement of marijuana-related assets, income, or connections to the debtor, is not dispositive of whether a particular case is permitted to proceed." Others have challenged the U.S. Trustee's inflexibility and their view on whether the ban on a plan being proposed "not by any means forbidden by law" refers to the plan's contents or the means of its proposal. Finally, a decision in early 2023 appeared to provide the most direct opening to date for cannabis companies to file for bankruptcy. In *Hacienda*, a plant-touching debtor previously operated a cannabis wholesale manufacturing and packaging business known as Lowell Farms, which ceased operations more than a year before its chapter 11 filing but still retained intellectual property. Lowell Farms was sold to a publicly-listed but thinly-traded Canadian cannabis firm ("CanCo") in exchange for equity in CanCo. Following this transaction, the debtor filed for bankruptcy, proposing to pay creditors through the sale of the debtor's stock in CanCo over time.

The U.S. Trustee objected, but the court rejected their arguments. It reasoned there would be no ongoing sale of marijuana, and any remaining

<sup>92</sup> In re Way to Grow, Inc., 597 B.R. 111, 114-15 (Bankr. D. Colo 2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>93</sup> See id. at 131-32.

<sup>94</sup> In re CWNevada LLC, 602 B.R. 717, 737 (Bankr. D. Nev. 2019).

<sup>95</sup> Garvin v. Cook Invs. NW, SPNWY, LLC, 922 F.3d at 1035-36.

<sup>96</sup> In re Hacienda Co., LLC, 647 B.R. 748, 750 (Bankr. C.D. Cal. 2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup> Id.

<sup>98</sup> Id.

inventory could be disposed of by federal authorities. Next, the court explained that Congress "did not adopt a 'zero tolerance' policy that requires dismissal of any bankruptcy case involving violation of the CSA . . . ."  $^{100}$  Therefore, courts have discretion as to whether or not to dismiss marijuana cases. Since "the only thing for the Debtor to do is to sell its stock in  $[\![CanCo]\!]$  . . . and then use the proceeds to pay creditors," the case was permitted to proceed.  $^{102}$ 

Second, and more fundamentally, it appears the conditions that might need to be met to fall within the holding of *Hacienda* would be challenging for cannabis businesses to achieve. *Hacienda* seems to require a complete cessation of any cannabis business, destruction of any remaining marijuana inventory, and a sale to a non-US company. The first two parts could be value-destructive for any existing cannabis business and would likely make it impossible for the business to continue to operate. The third, which appears necessary to avoid liability under the CSA provisions that prevent the proceeds of marijuana sales to be used to pay creditors, <sup>104</sup> could also result in value destruction through requiring a forced sale on a quick timeline—precisely the fire-sale discount bankruptcy is meant to avoid.

Finally, it is not immediately clear that other courts would accept the logic of *Hacienda*. Each step of the transaction is tainted by association with marijuana proceeds, and thus plausibly violates the CSA. It is also difficult to see how this scheme would not somehow fall within the wide reach the aiding and abetting or conspiracy portions of the CSA. In short, if *Hacienda* offers salvation from bankruptcy excommunication, the rites needed to

<sup>99</sup> Id. at 752-753.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>100</sup> *Id.* at 754.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup> *Id.* at 756.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>102</sup> *Id.* at 757.

<sup>103</sup> Id

<sup>104</sup> See 21 U.S.C. § 854.

obtain such salvation may rarely be accessible to the typical cannabis company.<sup>105</sup>

## C. Alternatives to Bankruptcy-State and Foreign

Federal bankruptcy protection may be unavailable for cannabis companies, but they are not wholly without options for managing insolvency. This Section briefly examines two alternatives—state-law insolvency procedures and use of the Bankruptcy Code's international debtor provisions. Yet as this Section will explain, these are poor substitutes for many of the key benefits of the Bankruptcy Code: national jurisdiction, an automatic stay, asset sales free and clear of liens, rejection of contracts, and others.

## 1. State-Law Insolvency Procedures

Pioneering work by Edward Morrison has shown that the vast majority of business failures in the United States are not resolved through chapter 11, or any other part of the Bankruptcy Code. Instead, "[t]]he vast majority of small businesses resolve distress under state law." <sup>106</sup> For smaller companies (a) with fewer secured lenders, (b) where lenders can obtain reliable information about the value of their collateral, and (c) where

<sup>105</sup> During the writing of this Article, the law has continued to develop, especially with respect to loosening some of the prohibitions on cannabis companies using bankruptcy. For example, in In re Callaway, No. 24-30082, 2024 Bankr. LEXIS 1515 (Bankr. N.D. Cal. June 26, 2024), an individual whose primary assets consisted of membership interest in various LLCs that owned and operated marijuana dispensaries filed for bankruptcy under chapter 7. Id. at \*3.5. The court permitted this chapter 7 to proceed over the objection of the U.S. Trustee, the trustee appointed to liquidate the estate, and others, because the trustee would merely be required to monetize the LLC interests rather than operate the dispensaries. *Id.* at \*14. Since "there is nothing . . . that suggests that monetizing an intangible ownership interest is the equivalent of profiting from a marijuana business," merely selling the LLC interests would not violate the CSA, and therefore would not prohibit bankruptcy relief. Id. This demonstrates a potential slow and cautious opening of the courthouse doors to marijuana debtors under some circumstances. In a follow-up article, I intend to analyze the developing doctrine on this question; whether these doctrinal moves are consistent with each other, the Bankruptcy Code, and other applicable law, and suggest a path forward for cannabis companies seeking bankruptcy relief.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>106</sup> Edward R. Morrison, *Bargaining around Bankruptcy: Small Business Workouts and State Law*, 38 J. LEG. STUD. 255, 256 (2009).

insolvency is more likely to result from a gradual decline rather than a sudden shock, state law procedures might be more efficient than federal bankruptcy. $^{107}$ 

Professor Morrison's article focuses on assignments for the benefit of creditors ("ABCs"). In an ABC, a distressed company transfers its assets to an assignee, who then either liquidates the company or sells it as a going concern and distributes the proceeds to creditors, though state law varies widely in the duties and responsibilities of parties in ABCs. Another popular state-law alternative to bankruptcy is the receivership, which unlike an ABC's voluntary regime, is generally imposed on a defaulting debtor by a concerned lender or creditor. Peceivers obtain control of the business and replace existing management to either run the business as a going concern or liquidate it; however, the high costs of receiverships can often lead to liquidation.

At first blush, these state law alternatives may appear to solve the cannabis company bankruptcy prohibition conundrum. For some cannabis companies with few or no secured lenders, smaller information asymmetries, and little risk of a sudden implosion, it could even seem as though state-law procedures might improve upon insolvency under the Bankruptcy Code (were it available). However, this fails to account for empirical, doctrinal, and jurisdictional aspects of major cannabis companies that make state-law proceedings a poor fit.

Initially, state-law procedures tend to be used by private companies that are far smaller than the major cannabis companies that are the focus of this Article, where large numbers of dispersed creditors and complex capital structures benefit from bankruptcy's negotiation mechanisms. Professor Morrison's work, by contrast, focuses small, privately-held businesses, with average annual sales of only \$1.45 million. In a similar vein, a study of all ABCs commenced in South Florida (Miami-Dade, Broward, and Palm

<sup>108</sup> Edward S. Adams, When Cannabis Businesses Fail: Assignment for the Benefit of Creditors as an Alternative to Bankruptcy, 2022 UTAH L. REV. 967, 985-93 (2022).

<sup>107</sup> Id. at 263, 284.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>109</sup> Heidi Schult Gregory and William M.X. Wolfe, *Cannabis-Related Companies Alternatives to Bankruptcy*, HARRIS BEACH PLLC (Sept. 22, 2022), https://www.harrisbeach.com/insights/cannabis-related-companies-alternatives-to-bankruptcy/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup> Gary Kaplan & Cynthia Castillo, *Alternatives to Bankruptcy in the Cannabis Sector*, Farella Braun + Martel LLP (Jan. 30, 2021), https://www.fbm.com/cynthia-castillo/publications/alternatives-to-bankruptcy-in-the-cannabis-sector/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> Morrison, *supra* note 106, at 277, 285.

Beach Counties) from 2012 to 2014 concluded that eighty percent of the debtors had liabilities under \$5 million, sixty percent of these businesses were owned by a single individual or a married couple, and eighty percent were held by ten or fewer shareholders. Moreover, unlike bankruptcy, ABCs may also be harder for publicly-owned corporations to initiate because under state law, corporations typically require approval of *both the board and shareholders* to commence. Since receiverships typically displace existing management, larger companies tend to avoid them as well. Empirically, therefore, ABCs and receivers would seem a poor fit for large, publicly-held marijuana businesses with substantial amounts of secured debt and assets scattered across the country. Is

Next, the ability of *marijuana companies* to use state-law remedies is doctrinally questionable and varies from state to state. Washington state, for instance, has a comprehensive statute permitting ABCs and receiverships for marijuana business. Moving south, Oregon also has a cannabis-specific statutory regime for receiverships (but not for ABCs), but one with powers and duties different from those offered in its neighbor across the Columbia River. Several states expressly authorize marijuana ABCs, but only upon approval from the state's cannabis regulatory authority, and powers and duties vary by state. Any receiver or assignee under state law would also, of course, risk forfeiture and criminal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup> Andrew B. Dawson, *Better than Bankruptcy?*, 69 RUTGERS U. L. REV. 137, 153-160 (2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup> Adams, *supra* note 108, at 1006.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> Kaplan & Castillo, *supra* note 110.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup> Failure affects both large and small cannabis companies. It is possible that smaller companies may be able to make more use of state-law procedures than larger ones (though, because larger companies have publicly available data, they are the focus of this Article). Nevertheless, even the use of state-law procedures by smaller cannabis companies is rare. See Jean Smith-Gonnell et al., How Cannabis Cos. Are Adapting in Shifting Bankruptcy Arena, TROUTMAN PEPPER (Dec. 4, 2023), https://www.troutman.com/insights/how-cannabis-cos-are-adapting-in-shifting-bankruptcy-arena.html (describing the state-law resolution of a Massachusetts cannabis company that concluded in September 2023 as "the first instance in which a Massachusetts cannabis company was liquidated through a court-appointed receivership.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> Wash. Admin. Code 314-55-137 et seg.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup> Or. Admin. Code 845-05-1260 et seq.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup> See, e.g., 935 CMR 500.104(4) (Massachusetts); 4 CCR 15024(c) (California).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> Compare COMAR 10.62.08.14 (Maryland's permissive regime) with Fla. Stat. §§ 381.986(8)(b)(7), (8)(e)(1) (Florida's restrictive regime).

penalties under federal law. A fifty-state survey is beyond the scope of this Article, but suffice it to say that a multi-state cannabis company that sought to use state-law proceedings to address their insolvency would likely face substantial uncertainty, serious logistical hurdles, and high costs.

State law receiverships and ABCs would likely also be ineffective for major cannabis companies because these procedures lack the statutory authority and broad reach of the Bankruptcy Code. No state law proceeding can impose a nationwide automatic injunction on all collections efforts. 120 State law often includes remedies against fraudulent transfers, 121 but these vary from what are available on a federal level and from state to state. 122 State law preference protection is rare, making it less useful in cases where some creditors have been paid before others shortly before a bankruptcy. 123 One of bankruptcy's primary advantages is that it allows assets to be sold free and clear of liens, which decreases uncertainty for buyers and limits the veto power of other creditors. 124 While some states permit assets to be sold free and clear of liens in a state receivership, this would only apply to liens on property within that state. State ABCs generally do not allow lenders that offer post-insolvency financing to obtain liens with priority over existing liens, and even if they did, such liens could only attach to property within that jurisdiction. 125 State-level proceedings also do not permit companies to reject unwanted executory contracts or leases, retain rights in intellectual property licenses, renegotiate union contracts, or exercise other powers that are only available under the Bankruptcy Code. 126 These and other unique aspects of the Bankruptcy Code<sup>127</sup> make state-level remedies a poor substitute for larger, more complex

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup> See 11 U.S.C. § 362. Some state proceedings impose automatic stays against collection efforts made within their jurisdiction. See, e.g., Conn. Gen. Stat. § 52-632.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>121</sup> See, e.g., Rev. Code Wash. § 19.40 et seq.

<sup>122</sup> See 11 U.S.C. § 548.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>123</sup> See 11 U.S.C. § 547; Jack F. Williams, Assignment for the Benefit of Creditors, State Court Receiverships, and Bankruptcy Options 9 (2009), available at www.sblinc.org/archive/2009/documents/M.pdf.

<sup>124</sup> See 11 U.S.C. §363(f).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>125</sup> 11 U.S.C. § 364; *see also* Dawson, *supra* note 112, at 169 (some courts in Florida have permitted postpetition senior financing by analogizing to § 364).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup> 11 U.S.C. §§ 365, 1113; see also Dawson, supra note 112, at 152-53.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>127</sup> Some companies might also prefer bankruptcy to state law proceedings because the IRS receives lower priority in bankruptcy than they would under state law. Morrison, *supra* note 106, at 267 n.14. Since section 280E of the Internal Revenue Code increases the tax liabilities of marijuana companies by denying them tax deductions that are available to all other businesses, unsecured creditors in particular would likely prefer a bankruptcy

cannabis companies whose corporate structures, operations, and capital structures span across multiple jurisdictions and demand a unified solution to their insolvency issues.

## 2. Foreign Insolvency Procedures

One final alternative to bankruptcy that merits a brief mention because of the prevalence of Canadian-domiciled, US-operating entities in the marijuana industry is the possibility of using Chapter 15 of the US Bankruptcy Code. "Under chapter 15, courts in the United States freely recognize and enforce foreign insolvency proceedings of companies that have assets that are located in more than one country," in order to facilitate cross-border insolvency and ultimately cross-border trade. Thus, a company that files for bankruptcy in a foreign country can file a chapter 15 petition with a US bankruptcy court to obtain its assistance with the company's US-domiciled assets. Such assistance includes applying the automatic stay to US-based collateral, issuing necessary orders, granting injunctions against actions inconsistent with the foreign proceeding, and otherwise aiding the foreign proceeding.

Importantly for cannabis companies, the structure of a chapter 15 proceeding defangs most of the U.S. Trustee's arguments against permitting marijuana bankruptcies to proceed. Chapter 15 proceedings do not centralize the assets of a debtor in a fashion that requires a trustee to administer them.<sup>131</sup> In chapter 15 proceedings, no plan of reorganization is proposed, and no dismissal authority under § 1112 is applicable.<sup>132</sup> Thus, some commentators believe chapter 15 could be used as an alternative to chapter 11 relief for some Canadian-domiciled cannabis companies with

proceeding, where the IRS has lower priority, to a state-law proceeding.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>128</sup> Anthony J. Casey & Joshua C. Macey, *Bankruptcy Shopping: Domestic Venue Races and Global Forum Wars*, 37 EMORY BANKR. DEV. J. 463, 483 (2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>129</sup> *Id.* at 484.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>130</sup> *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup> Compare 11 U.S.C. § 541 (estate created) with 11 U.S.C. § 1502(1) (no estate created); see also British Am. Ins. Co. Ltd. v. Fullerton (*In re* British Am. Ins. Co. Ltd.), 488 B.R. 205, 222-23 (Bankr. S.D. Fla. 2013).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>132</sup> Catherine Jun & Colin Davidson, *The Cannabis Conundrum: Can Cannabis Companies File Chapter 15?*, SHEPPARD MULLIN CANNABIS LAW BLOG (May 20, 2022), https://www.cannabislawblog.com/2022/05/cannabis-conundrum-cannabis-companies-file-chapter-15/.

significant US operations.<sup>133</sup> To date, however, there has been very little use of this strategy by Canadian-domiciled US cannabis companies.

While there may be many reasons why chapter 15 has not been used by many cannabis companies, four plausible explanations are suggested below. First, few companies are willing to be the first to experiment with this approach, since bankruptcy is often an expensive proposition and companies typically stray away from untested legal regimes. 134 Next, while chapter 15 may appear to be a good fit for marijuana bankruptcies because it does not contain a "for cause" dismissal standard, § 1506 permits courts to abstain from acting in a chapter 15 case if doing so would be "manifestly contrary to the public policy of the United States." Although this exception is rarely applied in practice, 135 a cannabis chapter 15 might be just such a case. Even if a court did grant recognition, it could apply the public policy exception to particular aspects of relief requested, harming any chance of reorganization. 136 Third, cost is likely a factor: this process would require filings in two countries, almost certainly entailing additional legal and administrative costs. Finally, this strategy could only be used by companies with Canadian-domiciled operations. While it is possible the Canadachapter 15 route could help many cannabis companies, and if this became a well-tested approach other companies might establish operations in Canada for these purposes, it would still likely remain an incomplete solution for bankruptcy relief for marijuana companies. 137

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>133</sup> Stephanie Ben-Ishai, *Bankruptcy for Cannabis Companies: Canada's Newest Export?*, 27 U. MIAMI INT'L & COMP. L. REV. 226, 250 (2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>134</sup> See Carly Landon, Note, Making Assignments for the Benefit of Creditors as Easy as A-B-C, 41 FORDHAM URB. L.J. 1451, 1467 (2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>135</sup> Jun & Davidson, *supra* note 132.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>136</sup> See In re Qimonda AG, 462 B.R. 165, 185 (Bankr. E.D. Va. 2011).

that was studied as part of the Data Set recently took advantage (perhaps inadvertently) of parts of both of these strategies. Following SEC filings that revealed financial weakness, MedMen was placed in receivership in California. The next day, it filed for bankruptcy in Canada. Ronaldo Garcia, From Giant to Gone: Billion-Dollar Cannabis Company MedMen Sells-Off Its Property Under Receivership, BENZINGA (July 19, 2024, 2:39 p.m.), https://www.benzinga.com/markets/cannabis/24/07/39865930/from-giant-to-gone-billion-dollar-cannabis-company-medmen-sells-off-its-property-under-receivers.

Subsequently, the company sought (with varying levels of success) to sell property in New York, Illinois, Nevada, and California. John Schroyer, MedMen Wind-Down Proceeding as Receiver Works to Sell Off Assets, GREEN MARKET REPORT (July 17, 2024), https://www.greenmarketreport.com/medmen-wind-down-proceeding-as-receiver-works-to-sell-off-assets/. Reports indicate that the company considered initiating receivership proceedings in other jurisdiction where it has cannabis licenses. Chris

This Part explored marijuana's distinctive legal framework. Companies that operate in this industry face numerous challenges as a result of the dual status of marijuana—illegal on a federal level, while legal on a state level. This affects how cannabis companies are established, financed, and operated. Moreover, to prevent violations of the Controlled Substances Act from continuing under the aegis of bankruptcy courts, cannabis companies are foreclosed from accessing bankruptcy protection. Although some alternatives may exist under state or foreign law to address insolvency, these are imperfect remedies for large, publicly-traded cannabis companies with more complex capital structures. Nevertheless, the unique position of cannabis companies in the bankruptcy system creates opportunities for companies to make contracts around bankruptcy. The next Part explores whether companies in the cannabis industry actually engage in bankruptcy contracting by turning to a novel, hand-collected data set on the industry.

# II. CANNABIS COMPANIES AS A TESTING GROUND FOR BANKRUPTCY CONTRACTING

As we have seen, cannabis companies are uniquely excluded from bankruptcy protection. While scholars have argued against the imposition of bankruptcy's mandatory rules on all companies and in favor of permitting bankruptcy contracting, there has been little opportunity to test these arguments. Since cannabis companies are barred from accessing bankruptcy courts, no bankruptcy court would have an opportunity to invalidate a contract regarding insolvency for altering the rights that a contract counterparty would otherwise have under the Bankruptcy Code. In a sense, therefore, marijuana companies operate with a bankruptcy blank slate. As the door to the bankruptcy courthouse closes, another door—the door to

Casacchia, MedMen Receiver Sets Date to Meet with Creditors After Cannabis MSO's Bankruptcy Filing, MJBIZDAILY (Apr. 30, 2024), https://mjbizdaily.com/medmenreceiver-sets-date-to-meet-with-creditors-after-bankruptcy-filing/. While it is too early to tell whether these efforts will be successful or replicable, the headline in one article—describing the company as "[t]]orn [i]]nto [a]] [t]]housand [p]]ieces,"—illustrates precisely the collective action problem that scholars believe justifies the existence of the bankruptcy system. Ronaldo Garcia, From Giant to Gone: Billion-Dollar Cannabis Company MedMen Sells-Off Its Property Under Receivership, BENZINGA (July 19, 2024, 2:39 p.m.), https://www.benzinga.com/markets/cannabis/24/07/39865930/from-giant-to-gone-billion-dollar-cannabis-company-medmen-sells-off-its-property-under-receivers.

contracting around bankruptcy—opens in its place. Cannabis companies therefore provide a quasi-natural experiment<sup>138</sup> through which to evaluate how companies respond when given the chance to contract around bankruptcy.

This Part briefly outlines the methods used to collect data on the marijuana industry and provides summary statistics on the industry and the Data Set, <sup>139</sup> and then investigates how cannabis companies actually use bankruptcy contracting. The data shows that cannabis companies know they cannot file for bankruptcy under current law but generally do not make specific changes to their contracts in light of this fact. Of the small number of contracts that do contain such changes, a large proportion of them include secured lenders as counterparties. Instead, cannabis companies more commonly rely on structural mechanisms to obtain favorable outcomes. Finally, contrary to the predictions or suggestions of some scholars, they never issue exotic securities that would use more objective criteria to dictate when they would be required to file for bankruptcy.

## A. Data Collection Methods and Summary Statistics

This Section describes the methods used to collect and develop the database upon which the findings of this Article depend, as well as summary statistics regarding the nature of the companies examined and their contracts. Each is described in turn.

#### 1. Data Collection Methods

The claims made in this Article are based upon a hand-collected data set (as more fully defined in Appendix A, the "Data Set") consisting of 74,922 pages in 1,167 publicly-filed documents from thirty-four publicly-listed companies in the legal cannabis industry. To the knowledge of the author, this is the most comprehensive data set of the publicly-accessible legal documents for the marijuana industry ever compiled. First, a list of all

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>138</sup> A natural experiment, as described by economists, is one where "real randomization was employed, without the intent of providing a randomized experiment," such as when men from specific birth cohorts were randomly assigned a lottery number for conscription. J. DiNardo, *Natural Experiments and Quasi-Natural Experiments*, in THE NEW PALGRAVE DICTIONARY OF ECONOMICS, S. N. Durlauf and L. E. Blume (Eds.), 2008, at 859. A quasi-natural experiment, by comparison, does not involve actual randomization, but is instead one "where an observation is made before and after a treatment." *Id.* at 862.

<sup>139</sup> This term is defined in Appendix A—Database Creation and Coding Notes.

publicly-listed cannabis companies with a market capitalization greater than or equal to USD \$25 million was created. This list was cleaned to remove companies that were not relevant for purposes of this Article, such as companies with no US operations. The final list (the "Company List") contained thirty-four companies.

All public documents of certain types filed between May 1, 2018, and May 10, 2023, for companies on the Company List were reviewed. Documents reviewed for each company included: 10-Ks (or equivalent if listed in Canada or a 10-K was not otherwise available), organizational documents, merger agreements, secured debt contracts, unsecured debt contracts, leases, and material contracts. Material contracts, in turn, were any contract that was publicly filed as part of a company's 10-K or 8-K filings but which did not fit within any of the other preceding document categories, such as employment contracts or indemnity agreements.

Each document in the Data Set was reviewed by hand and coded according to set procedures. The goal of the coding was to answer two questions: how did companies alter their legal or capital structures to account for their ability to make bankruptcy contracts, and what kinds of substantive changes did they make to their contracts to account for their exclusion from the protections of the Bankruptcy Code. The data presented below is based on this analysis.

A fuller description of the methods used to build and code the Company List and the Data Set can be found in Appendix A.

## 2. Summary Statistics

#### a. Company List

The Company List contains thirty-four companies ranging from relatively small businesses to companies with multi-billion-dollar market capitalizations. Some continue to be extremely active in the marijuana market, while others appear to be companies situated toward the end of their life cycle. With one exception, all operate in multiple states.

Companies on the Company List can be generally broken down into three categories: cannabis operators ("Operators"), cannabis financiers ("Financiers"), and other cannabis related companies ("Others"). The Company List contains twenty-four Operators. Operators consist of wholesale, retail, and vertically-integrated growers and dispensers. All but

one of the Operators on the Company List are what the industry terms "multi-state operators," meaning that they have cultivation and dispensary operations in multiple states. Since multi-state operators cannot ship inventory across state lines, they either operate their own grow facilities or purchase inventory from other growers within each state in which they operate. Finally, only Operators touch the plant, while the rest of the companies on the Company List do not. As directly plant-touching businesses, they would not be eligible for bankruptcy relief.

Next, Financiers consist of companies that specialize in providing financing to the marijuana industry. These companies originate loans either through sale-leaseback financing or through more traditional secured or unsecured financing channels. The five companies in this category are all cannabis-specific financiers, meaning they derive most or all of their revenue from providing capital to the cannabis industry. As a result, it appears unlikely the cannabis-specific financiers would be able to file for protection under the Bankruptcy Code.

Finally, five companies that do not fit within the prior categories, but are still on the Company List, are categorized as Other. Whether these Others would be eligible for bankruptcy relief would generally depend on the business models of each company, with the likelihood of access to bankruptcy inversely correlated with the extent to which the business depends on revenue from the cannabis industry. These Others either are not primarily cannabis companies but have made substantial investments in plant-touching cannabis companies in the US, are reliant upon marijuana sales for sales growth in their marijuana accessory business, or are developing marijuana-related intellectual property that does not at this time directly involve the sale of marijuana.

The table below provides a summary of the financial and operational statistics of the companies on the Company List:

Company	Count	Largest	Smallest	Average	Median
Type		Market	Market	Market	Market
		Сар	Cap	Cap	Cap
		(\$mm)	(\$mm)	(\$mm)	(\$mm)
Operators	24	\$2,141.4	\$26.1	\$490.0	\$180.1
Financiers	5	\$1,942.0	\$53.5	\$550.8	\$255.1
Other	5	\$41,311.5	\$30.9	\$8,445.6	\$331.4
Total	34	N/A	N/A	\$3,508.8	\$255.5

These statistics show that the typical size of listed cannabis companies far exceeds the size of companies typically handled under state-law insolvency resolution procedures. With a median market capitalization of over \$255 million, the median company on the Company List is likely at least an order of magnitude larger than the companies examined by Professor Morrison, which had average annual sales of only \$1.45 million. 140

The average market capitalization of companies in the Other category is skewed due to one major outlier–Constellation Brands—a very large producer and marketer of various alcoholic beverages that made a multibillion dollar investment in Canopy Growth, a large multi-state operator. Without Constellation, the average market capitalization of this category drops from \$8.45 billion to about \$229 million (i.e., a reduction of more than 97%).

Companies on the Company List typically take one of several approaches when seeking funding from public equity markets: they file a primary listing in Canada and a secondary listing on over-the-counter markets in the US, they file on over-the-counter markets in the US only, or they file on major stock exchanges in the US. A small number of companies pursue a fourth option, discussed below. Only the first option is available for plant-touching companies. The table below enumerates the listing strategies undertaken by companies on the Company List:

Morrison looks at annual sales while the Company List focuses on market capitalizations, valuations can vary so widely across industries, and as discussed *infra* valuation is particularly challenging in the cannabis industry. In 2023, one advisory firm noted that the median enterprise value to revenue multiple across publicly-listed companies in the US ranged from 0.95 to 9.91, with an average of 2.62. Valuation Multiples by Industry, Full Year Review @ 30 December 2022 8, INTERPATH (Mar. 20, 2023), https://interpath.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/03/us-valuation-multiples-by-industry-2022-review-v1-07.pdf (average calculated by author). Nevertheless, even a hypothetical company from the highest-multiple sector with earnings of \$1.45 million would only be worth \$14.4 million, which is approximately 17 times smaller than the median company on the Company List.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>141</sup> See David Jagielski, Why Constellation Brands Remains Bullish on Canopy Growth, THE MOTLEY FOOL (Oct. 20, 2022, 6:45 a.m.), https://www.fool.com/investing/2022/10/20/why-constellation-brands-remains-bullish-on-canopy/.

Listing Type	Operators	Financiers	Other
Primary Canadian, OTC US	21	0	0
OTC US Only	1	1	2
Major US Index	0	4	2
Other	2	0	1
Total	24	5	5

The data demonstrates a largely bimodal distribution consistent with the regulatory environment for marijuana. Companies that service the marijuana industry turn first to the deeper capital markets available in the United States, while companies that touch the plant primarily list in Canada and offer shares on a secondary basis through over-the-counter markets. The two apparent exceptions to this are not really exceptions at all. Operators Tilray Brands, Inc. (third-largest Operator on the Company List, with a market capitalization of \$1.7 billion) and Canopy Growth Corporation (sixth-largest Operator on the Company List, with a market capitalization of \$694 million) have multiple listings, including on Canadian, US, German, French, and other exchanges. These companies eschew planttouching operations in the US for building brand awareness and intellectual property in Canada with the goal of quickly dominating the US market if cannabis is ever legalized at the federal level. The creative structuring used by these companies, allowing them to get close to the plant without touching it, opens capital markets to them and likely makes a US bankruptcy filing more feasible as well. This structuring and its implications are discussed in more detail below.

Data on the Company List allows us to draw several conclusions. First, the market is likely too large to use state-law insolvency procedures, since, as described earlier, these systems are optimized for far smaller businesses with simpler capital structures and operations. Next, at least twenty-nine of the thirty-four companies on the Company List—the Operators and the Financiers—would almost certainly be ineligible to file for bankruptcy. Finally, public equity financing appears available for the industry, as shown by the existence and size of the publicly-listed companies. Unpublished results provide greater detail on the companies in the Company List, while more granular detail on the contracts used by these companies is provided in the next subsection.

#### b. Data Set

In the Data Set, a document, together with all amendments, is counted as a single document. Unpublished results from my analysis of the Data Set provide greater detail on the companies therein, with reference to their May 10, 2023, market capitalizations, their 2022 long-term debt figures, and the number of documents included in the Data Set for each company.

The next table offers a breakdown of the types of documents (collectively, the "Company Documents") included and analyzed in the Data Set.

Document Type	Number of Documents	Percentage of Total	
Annual Reports	120	10.3%	
Organizational Docs.	104	8.9%	
Merger A greements	64	5.5%	
Secured Debt	100	8.6%	
Unsecured Debt	58	5.0%	
Leases	38	3.3%	
Material Contracts	683	58.5%	
Total	1,167	100%	

Average long-term debt loads from 2019-2022 are provided below in thousands of dollars (not including the outlier Constellation Brands):<sup>142</sup>

	2019	2020	2021	2022
Average	\$154,670	\$147,604	\$332,440	\$377,318
Long-Term				
Debt (\$000				
USD)				
Number of	15	20	29	27

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>142</sup> Only one company provided data for 2023, and only five companies provided data for 2018. One company reported no long-term debt during this entire period. One company provided its debt figures in Canadian dollars; this figure was converted to US dollars using the prevailing exchange rate on December 31 of the corresponding year. Three companies only provided figures for all debt, rather than only long-term debt, and therefore were excluded from this table. Constellation Brands, as an outlier by at least an order of magnitude, was excluded from this table as well.

.

Reporting		
Companies		

In addition, the average (median) market capitalization of companies in the Data Set was \$1,668.8 million (\$223.5 million) as of May 9, 2023. After removing Constellation Brands, the single major outlier, the average (median) market capitalization of companies in the Data Set was \$467.5 million (\$220.2 million). 143 This generally demonstrates a growing industry of micro- and small-cap companies with increasing debt loads. It also suggests the absence of bankruptcy is not acting as a major deterrent for debt financing, market entry, or investment. Of course, we cannot be certain as to this latter point—how could we know whether companies might have been able to take on even more debt had they had access to the bankruptcy system? But two facts make this conclusion more plausible—one logical, one empirical. First, to state the obvious, the mere issuance of debt makes insolvency possible for any company. If lenders were seriously concerned that the absence of bankruptcy protection would make it impossible to make profitable loans, as a logical matter they would not lend billions of dollars to the industry. Second, an average debt load of \$377.3 million on an average market capitalization of \$467.5 million results in a book debt-to-market capitalization ratio of 80.7%. This is higher than the book debt-to-market capitalization value for public companies in industries that might be assumed to have similar or relevant characteristics, such as the alcoholic beverage (42.6%), agriculture (55.3%), food processing (43.3%), REIT (61.1%), retail (general) (49.8%), retail (grocery and food) (61.4%), and retail (specialty lines) (63.6%) industries.144 The tobacco industry, meanwhile, has a book debt-to-market capitalization ratio of 115.1%. 145 Again, this data is suggestive of the fact that this industry appears to have substantial borrowing capacity in spite of its overall legal uncertainty and the specific absence of federal bankruptcy protection.

The data collected here further suggests difficulty in valuing and underwriting the risk of investing in and lending to cannabis companies.

<sup>143</sup> Note that the *average* debt load in the sample far exceeds the *median* market capitalization in the sample, though *average* debt load is, as would be expected, lower than *average* market capitalization.

Aswath Damodaran, *Debt Fundamentals by Sector (US)* (January 2024), https://pages.stern.nyu.edu/~adamodar/New\_Home\_Page/datafile/dbtfund.html (Excel file on file with author).

<sup>145</sup> *Id*.

Market capitalizations may shift substantially, due to thin trading, secular undervaluation of cannabis companies because of its tenuous legal status, or other reasons. To compare two similarly-valued and similarly-situated companies, as of May 9, 2023, Trulieve (an Operator with a primary listing in Canada and a secondary listing in the US) had a market capitalization of \$1.051 billion, while Verano (another Operator with a primary listing in Canada and a secondary listing in the US) had a market capitalization of \$1.089 billion. While the had similar market capitalizations, Trulieve had \$1.262 billion in debt at the end of 2022, and Verano had less than half as much debt, \$668 million. A more fundamental analysis of the difference between the two companies might elucidate reasons for this distinct treatment, but at first blush it appears that companies may be able to take on substantial debt loads that their market capitalizations may not support at least some of the time.

Finally, these summary statistics suggest that companies are not electing to eschew debt issuance simply because they are unable or unwilling to incorporate provisions reflecting the absence of bankruptcy protection for this industry.

### B. Cannabis Company Contracts

This Section examines the contracts included in the Data Set to answer how cannabis companies are making ex ante changes to their legal or capital structures or substantively altering their contracts to account for the absence of bankruptcy protection and their ability to contract around bankruptcy. The data shows that cannabis companies (1) are largely aware of their unique bankruptcy status, but (2) generally do not tailor contractual provisions to capitalize on this fact, and (3) generally limit the tailoring that does exist to contracts with secured lenders. In addition, cannabis companies (4) more frequently rely on structural mechanisms to obtain favorable outcomes, and (5) never issue exotic securities to automate the bankruptcy process.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>146</sup> See, e.g., Ian Cooper, The 7 Most Undervalued Cannabis Stocks to Buy in May 2024, YAHOO! FINANCE (May 13, 2024, 7:17 a.m.), https://finance.yahoo.com/news/7/most-undervalued-cannabis-stocks-111700177.html.

## 1. Awareness of Unique Bankruptcy Status

Companies in the Data Set all expressly describe their cannabis-related activities in their public filings. Of the 120 annual reports examined, only five fail to note that marijuana is federally illegal and that their activities could violate the CSA, and these companies all mention this risk in their most recent annual reports. <sup>147</sup> In fact, almost all companies that do not touch the plant in the United States and have made a primary listing in the United States still discuss the risks of CSA violations in their annual reports.

Seventy of 120 annual reports (58.3%), from eighteen of thirty-four companies (52.9%), in the Data Set expressly discuss the unavailability of bankruptcy in their industry. After accounting for companies that do not mention this risk in one annual report but mention it in another, twenty-three of thirty-four (67.7%) companies with annual reports in the Data Set expressly explain in at least one of their annual reports that bankruptcy is unavailable in the industry.

A typical discussion of the issue from the perspective of an Operator is provided in the 2021 10-K of Acreage Holdings, Inc., one of the largest multi-state operators. They explain that:

Because cannabis remains illegal under U.S. federal law, many courts have denied cannabis businesses bankruptcy protections, thus making it very difficult for lenders to recoup their investments in the cannabis industry in the event of a bankruptcy. If the Company . . . or any of the Subsidiaries were to experience a bankruptcy, there is no guarantee that U.S. federal bankruptcy protections would be available, which would have a material adverse effect.<sup>148</sup>

Financiers also recognize this risk and that they might be foreclosed from bankruptcy protection. Some financiers also note that even if they could

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>147</sup> Of the five annual reports that fail to note marijuana's illegality, two are from companies that failed to mention this in the annual report for one year, but which mention it in other years. The other three are from Tilray Brands, Inc., a NASDAQ-listed operator that does not touch the plant in the US. Tilray failed to discuss this risk in its 10-Ks for 2018, 2019, and 2020, but did discuss this risk in 2021 and 2022.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>148</sup> Acreage Holdings, Inc., 2021 Annual Report (Form 10-K), 54 (Mar. 11, 2022).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>149</sup> Innovative Industrial Properties, Inc., 2022 Annual Report (Form 10-K), 42 (Feb. 28, 2023).

access bankruptcy protection, the disallowance of bankruptcy access for their tenant-borrowers would harm them as well. If their tenants became insolvent without access to bankruptcy's tools to right their finances, this insolvency would "reduc[e] the probability that such tenant would be able to honor its lease obligations with us." <sup>150</sup>

Eleven of thirty-four companies (32.4%) fail to expressly acknowledge that bankruptcy protection is unavailable to them in any of their annual filings. This group consists of seven out of twenty-four Operators (29.1%) and five of five Other companies (100%). The companies in the Other category are easiest to explain: none touches the plant in the US. For example, Bakhu describes itself as a company that has licensed technology to "mirror ... [the] flavor, aroma, and CBD and THC potency qualities of the source plant cells without growing the plant. We do not now, and do not intend to, produce, transport, or sell cannabis or cannabinoids directly."151 Even without directly touching the plant, Bakhu is concerned enough about possible violations of the CSA that it included more than ten pages of potential risks related to marijuana's legal status in its public filings. But it may genuinely believe that access to bankruptcy would not present an issue for it, and as a corollary that its bankruptcy contracts would not be enforceable. This is consistent with the observation that Bakhu takes no steps in any of its Company Documents to negotiate around insolvency.

Some companies, like Canopy and Crucial, do touch the plant, but *not* in the US. They devote many pages of their public filings to discussing the federally illegal nature of marijuana businesses and many correlated risks. <sup>152</sup> Nevertheless, they structure their business so they do not produce or sell any marijuana in the United States. Instead, they have grown by negotiating contingent purchase agreements, warrants, and other similar devices which will allow them to quickly enter the US marijuana market upon legalization. <sup>153</sup> Despite this hands-off approach, Canopy is one of the few companies that has actually negotiated specific contractual remedies upon insolvency, the particulars of which will be discussed in greater detail in the next subsection.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>150</sup> *Id.* at 34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>151</sup> Bakhu Holdings, Corp., 2022 Annual Report (Form 10-K), 8 (Nov. 7, 2022)(emphasis added).

 $<sup>^{152}</sup>$  See, e.g., Canopy Growth Corp., 2022 Annual Report (Form 10-K), 26-33 (May 31, 2022) (hereinafter, "Canopy 2022 10-K").

<sup>153</sup> Id. at 17-20.

Finally, there are four plant-touching multi-state operators <sup>154</sup> that do not note the industry's bankruptcy prohibition in their annual filings. This is true even though these companies expressly acknowledge the federally illegal nature of their businesses in their public filings and, for all but one, <sup>155</sup> in at least some of their contracts. The omission is puzzling, and likely represents a material risk factor that was not appropriately disclosed by these companies.

In short, 67.7% of companies in the Data Set expressly discuss the unavailability of bankruptcy in at least one of their annual filings. Seven of the remaining eleven companies (63.6%) do not discuss it for plausible reasons, while four companies (36.4%) do not discuss the issue without an apparent justification. It is also important to view how common it is for industry participants to describe the unavailability of bankruptcy in their public filings in context: the unavailability of bankruptcy for industry participants has been well-established and reported upon for years, and it appears implausible that a well-represented company with US-based plant-touching operations would not be aware of this issue. Therefore, we can conclude that most, if not all, companies are aware of this restriction, even if they failed to disclose it.

# 2. Limited Bankruptcy Contracting

Despite broad awareness and public acknowledgment of the unavailability of bankruptcy, companies in the industry generally do not tailor contractual provisions in their Company Documents to account for this fact. The table below shows the number and percentage of contracts that include, or do not include, contractual provisions of any kind that seek to modify or waive aspects of the Bankruptcy Code:<sup>156</sup>

<u>Type</u>	<u>Count (%)</u>	Count (%) with	<u>Count (%)</u>
	of Total	<b>Bankruptcy</b>	W ithout
		Contracting	<b>Bankruptcy</b>
			Contracting
Annual	120 (10.3%)	0 (0%)	120 (100%)

 $<sup>^{154}</sup>$  C21 Investments Inc., MariMed Inc., TerrAscend Corp., and The Cannabist Co. (f/k/a Columbia Care Inc.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>155</sup> C21 Investments Inc.

 $<sup>^{156}</sup>$  Business structuring that might achieve a similar goal is discussed in subsection II.B.4, infra.

Reports			
Organizational	104 (8.9%)	8 (7.7%)	96 (92.3%)
Documents			
Merger	64 (5.5%)	7 (10.9%)	57 (89.1%)
A greements			
Secured Debt	100 (8.6%)	29 (29.0%)	71 (71.0%)
Unsecured	58 (5.5%)	0 (0%)	58 (100%)
Debt			
Leases	38 (3.3%)	16 (42.1%)	22 (57.9%)
Material	683 (58.5%)	17 (2.5%)	666 (97.5%)
Contracts			
Total	1,167	77 (6.6%)	1090 (93.4%)
	(100%)		

Only 6.6% of Company Documents contain bankruptcy contracting of any kind. Nevertheless, this bankruptcy contracting is broadly dispersed among companies in the Data Set: 26 of 34 companies (76.4%) have at least one document that contains some kind of bankruptcy contracting. Interestingly, only five documents designated the use of a particular state-law insolvency procedure, perhaps reflecting a lack of knowledge of, or confidence in, such a process. <sup>157</sup> This data presents a puzzle for proponents of bankruptcy contracting, since companies should want to write bankruptcy contracts to obtain cheaper capital. Rationales for why bankruptcy contracting might theoretically be expected are provided in Part III, while reasons that could explain the empirical rarity of bankruptcy contracting are explored in Part IV.

3. Contracting is Concentrated in Agreements with Secured Lenders

Bankruptcy contracting is concentrated in secured debt agreements and leases, with smaller concentrations in organizational documents and merger agreements. Each of these is discussed in turn.<sup>158</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>157</sup> These five documents merely provide that disputes related to "cannabis, marijuana or related substances shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the Laws of the State of Colorado." Columbia Care Inc., Agreement and Plan of Merger dated June 15, 2021 (Form 10-12G/A), 71 (Feb. 15, 2022).

<sup>158</sup> It is possible that some of the provisions noted in the Data Set are boilerplate, or at

### a. Secured Debt Agreements

Bankruptcy contracting is present in 29% of the reviewed secured debt agreements. Since bankruptcy is not available for companies in the marijuana industry, terms in these agreements supplement, modify, or replace the state-law rules that might otherwise apply upon insolvency. Sometimes they replicate what would occur if protection under the Bankruptcy Code were available, while other times they create procedures more favorable to one party or another than what would occur under the Bankruptcy Code.

A credit agreement entered into among various members of the Acreage Holdings, Inc. corporate family as borrowers provides among the most aggressive examples of bankruptcy contracting. 159 Section 9.3 of this agreement provides that upon an Event of Default (such as failing to make timely loan payments or declaring insolvency), Lenders have the option to send Borrowers a notice (the "Sale Notice") requiring Borrowers to auction one or more of their marijuana licenses and related real property. 160 Very similar to the current practice for sales under § 363, the auction must follow a pre-ordained process, requiring selection of an investment bank and strict timelines for completion of the auction. 161 The sale must include sufficient assets to repay all obligations owed to Lenders, "including any premiums, exit fees, penalties, and/or default interest . . . . "162 If the sale of assets proposed by the borrower is insufficient to repay all amounts owed, then the sale must be for all assets which serve as collateral for the loan. 163 Finally, since the Lenders "would not have an adequate remedy at law" if the provisions of this section were breached, the Lenders are entitled to specific performance of the obligation. 164

It is difficult to overstate how dramatic a departure Section 9.3 is from

a minimum might be found in contracts unrelated to the cannabis industry. Nevertheless, even if this were true, the precise content of these provisions matters greatly because they would operate very differently in a marijuana company insolvency than in the insolvency of another type of company with a contract that uses the same language. Lawyers for both sides would (or should) know this and negotiate accordingly.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>159</sup> Acreage Holdings, Inc., Credit Agreement dated December 16, 2021 (Form 8-K) (Dec. 22, 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>160</sup> *Id.* at 70.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>161</sup> *Id.* at 70-71.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>162</sup> *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>163</sup> *Id.* 

<sup>164</sup> *Id*.

the typical operation of the Bankruptcy Code, both procedurally and substantively. Procedurally, the decision under the Bankruptcy Code to sell, or retain, property lies at the discretion of the *debtor*, not its creditors. A sale would take place only following a hearing where other creditors could object because they believe the sales price is too low, the auction is not being run in good faith, the property being sold would be worth more to the debtor (and ultimately its creditors) if kept by the company, or many other possible reasons. The sales timeline and process would typically be proposed by the debtor and approved by the court, with the goal of ensuring that the process is fair to all creditors. If a sale did not result in sufficient proceeds to repay all creditors (*let alone one specific creditor*), creditors would be unable to object. Finally, a specific performance right under a contract would be subject to the automatic stay, and a bankruptcy court would likely be unwilling to enforce it if doing so would harm other creditors.

The Lenders' right to interest payments under the Acreage Holdings, Inc. agreement also substantively diverge from what they would be entitled to under the Bankruptcy Code. The Bankruptcy Code disallows claims for unmatured interest, 167 while the payment of premiums remains contentious and is often disallowed by courts. 168 Payment of interest on undersecured claims is also not permitted, and bankruptcy courts typically need to determine whether a claimant is oversecured or undersecured before authorizing certain interest payments. 169 The rate of interest paid to a claimant also varies, with interest paid at the statutory rate following a liquidation. 170 These procedural and substantive differences are exactly the types of things scholars predicted might be negotiated were bankruptcy contracting permitted. Similar language found in other secured credit agreements, which in bankruptcy would be subject to careful parsing and defenses under the Bankruptcy Code, would instead be far more likely to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>165</sup> See 11 U.S.C. § 363.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>166</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>167</sup> See 11 U.S.C. § 502(b)(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>168</sup> See Ultra Petroleum Corp. v. Ad Hoc Comm. of OpCo Unsecured Creditors (In re Ultra Petroleum Corp.), 51 F.4th 138 (5th Cir. 2022), cert. denied, 143 S. Ct. 2495 (2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>169</sup> United Savings Ass'n of Texas v. Timbers of Inwood Forest Assocs., Ltd., 484 U.S. 365 (1988).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>170</sup> See 11 U.S.C. § 726(a)(5).

result in a payment obligation.<sup>171</sup>

Procedural and substantive differences for sales processes can be found in other agreements as well. For example, a Loan and Security Agreement entered into by Green Thumb Industries, Inc. provides that upon an Event of Default, Lender may require a public or private sale of Collateral, may bid for Collateral itself, and may "restrict the number of prospective bidders or purchasers, and require such bidders or purchasers to have certain qualifications" before allowing them to participate. 172 Bidding qualifications, minimum bid amounts, and other restrictions on who may bid in an auction are commonplace in bankruptcy; however, they are typically determined by the debtor, not by the secured creditor. Sometimes secured lenders that provide debtor-in-possession financing to a company already in bankruptcy will be able to negotiate with the debtor to set such terms as a condition of providing such financing, but here the terms of the auction are being set by the lender unilaterally and well before insolvency. These differences further demonstrate how lenders can use the absence of bankruptcy protection to improve their recoveries from borrowers in this industry.

Another notable contractual provision is included in a credit agreement entered into by Acreage and collateralized by intellectual property rights. <sup>173</sup> Upon an Event of Default, in addition to traditional acceleration remedies, the agreement sets forth an elaborate procedure for selling intellectual property assets at a set price within a fixed time period to a pre-designated third party. <sup>174</sup> If the pre-designated third party does not consummate the purchase, then "the Agent shall . . . direct the Borrower to cause [parent company Acreage Holdings, Inc.] to offer for sale" a fixed number of shares in Acreage Holdings, Inc., with proceeds of the sale being used to repay the loan according to a predetermined priority waterfall. <sup>175</sup> If either of these are insufficient to repay the obligations, then Lenders may exercise their rights with respect to certain intellectual property and the pledged shares of other

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>171</sup> See, e.g., TerrAscend Corp., Credit Agreement dated December 18, 2020 (Form 10-12G), 65 (Nov. 2, 2021) (upon bankruptcy, loan is accelerated with additional Make-Whole Amount and Prepayment Premium).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>172</sup> Green Thumb Industries, Inc., Loan and Security Agreement dated October 2, 2017 40-41, available at https://www.sedarplus.ca/csa-party/records/document.html?id=25e41c0843df0a114a045fdedebf75606323472c08c382 3d766c3a62d2d2e1ce.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>173</sup> Acreage Holdings, Inc., Credit Agreement dated March 6, 2020 (Form 8-K) (May 29, 2020).

<sup>174</sup> *Id.* at 40-41.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>175</sup> *Id.* at 41.

subsidiaries.<sup>176</sup> This provision appears to strike a balance between strict lender control and the potential downsides of the types of withdrawal rights discussed by Professors Baird and Casey.<sup>177</sup> It also modifies the careful balance between the rights of intellectual property licensors and licensees established under the Bankruptcy Code, granting this secured lender rights at the expense of other creditors that they would not have under the Bankruptcy Code.<sup>178</sup>

A less drastic, but still material, divergence from the Bankruptcy Code can be found in a credit agreement by AFC Gamma, Inc., as Borrower. Section 8.12 of the agreement authorizes the Agent, upon instructions from the Lenders, to credit bid or purchase all or any portion of the collateral that secures the loan at any sale conducted under the Bankruptcy Code, under the UCC, or as part of any other sale proceeding. "Obligations with respect to contingent or unliquidated claims [will be] estimated" for a credit bid or purchase. But if doing so would "impair or unduly delay" any credit bid or purchase, "then such claims shall be disregarded, not credit bid, and not entitled to any interest in the Collateral that is the subject of such credit bid or purchase . . . ." Similar language is found in other agreements as well. 182

Bankruptcy judges are statutorily authorized to estimate the value of contingent or unliquidated claims if failing to do so would "unduly delay the administration of the case." They do so in accordance with the terms of the statute and precedent, with courts barred from estimating claims that are unenforceable and ensuring that no party receives more than it is owed. The language in Section 8.12 closely mirrors the language of the Bankruptcy Code, but instead empowers the Agent and the Lenders to take on a role for themselves that is normally assigned to the bankruptcy judge under the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>176</sup> *Id.* at 42.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>177</sup> See notes 278-284, supra, and accompanying text.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>178</sup> 11 U.S.C. § 365(n).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>179</sup> AFC Gamma, Inc., Secured Revolving Credit Agreement dated August 18, 2020 (Form S-11), 26 (Dec. 28, 2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>180</sup> *Id.* 

<sup>181</sup> *[A* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>182</sup> See Acreage Holdings, Inc., Loan Agreement dated October 30, 2020 (Form 8-K), 62-63 (Nov. 4, 2020) (hereinafter, "Acreage Loan Agreement October 2020").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>183</sup> 11 U.S.C. § 502(c)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>184</sup> See Douglas G. Smith, Resolution of Mass Tort Claims in Bankruptcy, 41 U.C. DAVIS L. REV. 1613, 1647-48 (2008).

Bankruptcy Code. Without the limitations imposed under the Bankruptcy Code or precedent, and with the estimation process run by an interested party rather than a neutral judge, it would seem possible that the process would not be run in the interests of preserving value for all creditors.

Terms in other contracts authorize lenders to have a receiver appointed by a court to operate the business and dispose of assets, <sup>185</sup> require an equity raise to repay a loan in full, <sup>186</sup> treat licenses differently from how they would be treated in bankruptcy, <sup>187</sup> require marijuana to be disposed of upon repossession in accordance with marijuana laws in the state where the property is located, <sup>188</sup> permit the appointment of a receiver with a state marijuana license to continue business operations, <sup>189</sup> and to take other actions that would be stayed or prohibited under the Bankruptcy Code. Inclusion of these types of provisions appears to indicate that some lenders negotiated different rights than they would be entitled to under the normal bankruptcy regime.

Although aspects of contracts that were altered by parties to affect the substantive rights that might apply in the event of insolvency, it is notable that parties rarely appear to use cannabis-related reasons to select any particular jurisdiction as the governing law for their secured loans. Governing law provisions are easily altered and generally accepted by courts, and as discussed section I.C.1. *supra*, some jurisdictions have more sophisticated marijuana regulatory regimes than others. <sup>190</sup> Nevertheless, the data shows that of the 100 secured loan contracts reviewed, forty-four of them were governed by New York law. The second-most commonly used jurisdictions were Illinois and British Columbia, Canada, with thirteen agreements each; Ontario, Canada, rounded out the most-used jurisdictions

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>185</sup> Acreage Loan Agreement October 2020, supra note 182, at 46.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>186</sup> Acreage Holdings, Inc., Loan Agreement dated June 16, 2020 (Form S-3), 12 (June 22, 2020)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>187</sup> Canopy Growth Corporation, Arrangement Agreement dated April 18, 2019 (Form 6-K), G-9, G-15 (Apr. 30, 2019) (hereinafter, "Canopy Arrangement Agreement April 2019"); see also Medicine Man Technologies, Inc., License Agreement dated May 10, 2022 (Form 10-K), 8 (Mar. 29, 2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>188</sup> Columbia Care Inc., Mortgage and Security Agreement dated December 28, 2021 (Form 10-K), 20 (Mar. 31, 2022).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>189</sup> MedMen Enterprises, Inc., Securities Purchase Agreement dated April 23, 2019 (Form 10·12G/A), 70 (Dec. 7, 2020); see also Cresco Labs Inc., Senior Secured Term Loan Agreement dated January 22, 2020 (Form 6·K), 86 (May 3, 2021) (upon Event of Default, Administrative Agent may "instruct any Loan Party to carry on [the business]] . . . and to do all things necessary to maintain any Cannabis Licenses . . . .").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>190</sup> See notes 116-119, supra, and accompanying text.

with twelve agreements. Only Delaware and Florida had five agreements each, with a smattering of other jurisdictions with fewer than five agreements each making up the rest. It appears unlikely that New York law was selected because of expertise in cannabis regulation generally or insolvency resolution in particular for several reasons. First, New York's cannabis regulatory regime has been slow to commence and is mired in controversy. 191 Additionally, many of the contracts entered into designating New York law as the governing law were entered into before recreational marijuana was legalized in New York in March 2021, and almost all secured debt contracts in the Data Set were entered into before the first legal dispensary opened in December 2022. 192 Second, and perhaps more fundamentally, New York law is commonly used as the jurisdiction of choice for agreements of all stripes, so its use as the applicable law for cannabis financing law is unsurprising. 193 New York's status as a go-to choice of law jurisdiction and its limited cannabis legal infrastructure during the relevant period suggests clustering in New York (and, to a lesser extent, Illinois 194) has little to do with marijuana considerations. Choosing these jurisdictions, rather than ones with more sophisticated marijuana regulatory regimes, could be seen as a missed opportunity for easy bankruptcy contracting.

#### b. Leases

42.1% of the leases in the Data Set contain some kind of bankruptcy tailoring. Since cannabis companies use sale-leaseback financing as a major

<sup>191</sup> See, e.g., Amelia Pollard, New York Cannabis Farms Have \$750 Million of Weed—and Nowhere to Sell It, BLOOMBERG (Nov. 18, 2022, 6:00 a.m.), https://www.bloomberg.com/news/features/2022-11-18/new-york-farms-have-a-glut-of-cannabis-and-no-retailers.

<sup>192</sup> New York Opens its First Legal Recreational Marijuana Dispensary, NPR (Dec. 30, 2022, 1:05 a.m.), https://www.npr.org/2022/12/30/1146165347/new-york-opens-its-first-legal-recreational-marijuana-dispensary.

<sup>193</sup> See, e.g., Theodore Eisenberg and Geoffrey P. Miller, The Flight to New York: An Empirical Study of Choice of Law and Choice of Forum Clauses in Publicly-Held Companies' Contracts, 30 CARDOZO L. REV. 1475 (2009) (New York law was the most common choice of law state in a data set of almost 3,000 contracts by publicly-traded firms).

<sup>194</sup> Convenience, rather than strength in marijuana regulation, might at least partially explain this secondary clustering in Illinois. At least one-third of the secured loan agreements governed by Illinois law involved Chicago Atlantic, a financier based in Illinois, as either lender or agent.

source of financing, these documents are often treated by parties more like parts of secured loan agreements than as standard leases. As such, parties sometimes negotiate special rights in bankruptcy to ensure their lease (i.e., loan) payments continue even though such payments would be strictly limited under the Bankruptcy Code. 195

Fourteen of the sixteen leases that contained substantive bankruptcy provisions of the type discussed in this article were entered into with subsidiaries of IIPR, the largest sale-leaseback financier in the cannabis industry, as landlord/lender. 196

Almost all IIPR leases provide that a trustee or debtor-in-possession in bankruptcy, "or another person with similar rights, duties and powers under Applicable Laws," must follow certain steps to cure any defaults under the leases. <sup>197</sup> A bankruptcy judge would traditionally require "adequate assurance" payments to cure a defaulted lease, which amount would be set by a judge but which would typically be based on a balancing of the facts and circumstances of a case. <sup>198</sup> However, under the leases:

such adequate assurance shall include any or all of the following, as designated by Landlord in its sole and absolute discretion: (i) those acts specified in the Bankruptcy Code or other Applicable Laws as included within the meaning of "adequate assurance," even if this Lease does not concern a facility described in such Applicable Laws; (ii) a prompt cash payment to compensate Landlord for any monetary defaults or actual damages arising directly from a breach of this Lease; (iii) a cash deposit in an amount at least equal to the thencurrent amount of the Security Deposit; or (iv) the assumption or assignment of all of Tenant's interest and obligations under this Lease. 199

Here, the Landlord is arrogating to itself the power to determine what constitutes "adequate assurance," and doing so even if these payments would not be required under bankruptcy law. It also gives the Landlord the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>195</sup> See 11 U.S.C. § 502(b)(6) (limiting unpaid rent claims).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>196</sup> See, e.g., Ascend Wellness Holdings, LLC, Lease dated April 2, 2020 (Form DRS/A) (Feb. 26, 2021) (hereinafter, "Ascend Lease April 2020").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>197</sup> Ascend Lease April 2020, *supra* note 196, at 53-54.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>198</sup> See 3 Collier on Bankr. ¶ 365.06[3] (16th ed. 2023).

 $<sup>^{199}</sup>$  Ascend Lease April 2020, *supra* note 196, at 53-54 (emphasis added). The same language is included in the other leases.

ability to require the debtor to assume or assign all obligations under the lease, a power which belongs only to the debtor under the Bankruptcy Code. On Unfavorable leases can typically be shed by a debtor in order to permit it to restructure its business, while favorable ones can be kept or assigned to a third party, even if there is a default and even if a landlord would prefer the lease be abandoned. The provision in the IIPR lease instead shifts the optionality to the Landlord, all while ensuring that the Landlord's lease/loan payments continue unabated. This shift places the Landlord in a far more favorable position than they would be under the Bankruptcy Code. Nevertheless, the almost exclusive use by IIPR of provisions like this could suggest that larger or more sophisticated landlords, such as IIPR, are more likely to use bankruptcy contracting than smaller landlords.

IIPR leases contain other provisions that would be unenforceable under the Bankruptcy Code. For example, one lease provides that upon default, in addition to amounts due under the lease, Landlord is entitled to liquidated damages equal to, at Landlord's option, (1) the present value of rent payments due under the lease discounted by an agreed-upon rate, or (2) twelve months of rent.<sup>202</sup> Under the Bankruptcy Code, damages for defaulted and rejected leases are capped at "the rent reserved by such lease, without acceleration, for the greater of one year, or 15 percent, not to exceed three years, of the remaining term of such lease . . . . "<sup>203</sup> Default acceleration provisions are commonplace in all leases despite the limitations placed on them in the Bankruptcy Code, but a liquidated damage provision is far rarer (and was not present in the other leases examined). This latter provision grants IIPR greater certainty in its recovery upon default and thus could also be an example of contracting for better outcomes than would be available

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>200</sup> See 11 U.S.C. § 365(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>201</sup> Following general online searches and online searches using Bloomberg EDGAR (defined in Appendix A), the author is aware of only one example, outside of the cannabis context, of such a clause being used (but does not exclude the possibility that this clause is used in other agreements). Lease, dated August 2, 2018, by and between BMR-Rogers Street LLC, as Landlord, and Generation Bio Co., as Tenant, Sec. 32, accessible at: https://contracts.justia.com/companies/generation/bio/co-10575/contract/118794/. Its use in other contexts could suggest that there are other reasons beyond the one explored in this subsection for its inclusion in this context or other contexts. Nevertheless, it does not appear to be a commonly-included provision in leases generally.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>202</sup> Innovative Industrial Properties, Inc., Lease dated December 15, 2017, 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>203</sup> 11 U.S.C. § 502(b)(6).

under the Bankruptcy Code.

### c. Organizational Documents and Merger Agreements

7.7% of organizational documents and 10.9% of merger agreements in the Data Set contain some form of contractual tailoring to adjust for bankruptcy purposes.

Some organizational agreements provide substitutes for bankruptcy's estimation mechanism. For example, upon dissolution of High Street Capital Partners, LLC, if the manager or its appointee (the "liquidator") determines that "an immediate sale of part or all of the Company's assets would be impractical or would cause undue loss," the liquidator can instead distribute assets in kind.<sup>204</sup> (The Limited Partnership Agreement for GreenAcreage Operating Partnership contains similar language. 205) Any distribution in kind would be valued according to a determination of fair market value—"the amount which the Company would receive in an all-cash sale of such asset in an arms-length transaction with a willing unaffiliated third party, with neither party having any compulsion to buy or sell .... "206 If there is any dispute as to the fair market value, the LLC agreement sets forth an independent appraisal-based dispute resolution mechanism.<sup>207</sup> Rather than an imperfect judicial valuation as provided for under the Bankruptcy Code, or a market test that might misvalue assets due to regulatory uncertainty, the company relies on an estimate of a market of willing buyers and sellers to value assets.

The merger agreement between Canopy Growth and Acreage Holdings also includes substantive terms that differ from the rules of the Bankruptcy Code. Pursuant to an intellectual property license entered into as part of the merger, a subsidiary of Canopy licensed intellectual property to Acreage. The intellectual property license provides that "if Licensor, Canopy and/or their estate shall become subject to any bankruptcy... all rights and licenses granted to Licensee hereunder will continue... and will not be affected [by the bankruptcy], including by Licensors' or Canopy's rejection of this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>204</sup> Acreage Holdings, Inc., Third Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement dated November 14, 2018 (Form 401FR12G), 35 (Jan. 29, 2019) (hereinafter, "Acreage LLC Agreement November 2018").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>205</sup> NewLake Capital Partners, Inc., Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of GreenAcreage Operating Partnership LP dated July 15, 2020 (Form S-11), 54 (June 21, 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>206</sup> *Id.* at 36.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>207</sup> Id.

Agreement."<sup>208</sup> However, if the licensee files for bankruptcy, the license agreement automatically terminates.<sup>209</sup> This partially replicates the treatment under the Bankruptcy Code. Under the Bankruptcy Code, a license that is rejected by a bankrupt licensor can be maintained by the licensee.<sup>210</sup> However, a license cannot automatically be terminated upon a bankruptcy filing by a licensee, as this would violate the prohibition on ipso facto clauses in bankruptcy.<sup>211</sup> Thus, this provision gives Canopy, as a licensor, more rights than it would have under the Bankruptcy Code. By contrast, license agreements entered into by Medicine Man Technologies, Inc. provide for termination if either party files for bankruptcy or initiates an assignment for the benefit of creditors, displaying very different preferences than those that would be foisted upon the parties if the Bankruptcy Code applied.<sup>212</sup>

This subsection 3 examined in detail the contractual tailoring achieved by secured lenders, lessors, and others in the legal cannabis industry. While somewhat rare, these changes favor secured lenders and lessors, who effectively act as secured lenders. The next subsection analyzes the structural mechanisms imposed on marijuana businesses in light of the freedom to contract in bankruptcy and the unavailability of bankruptcy protection.

### 4. Structural Mechanisms are More Common

As demonstrated in the prior subsection, bankruptcy contracting can be used by parties to achieve outcomes that diverge from what would typically be required under bankruptcy's mandatory rules. But only about 6.6% of contracts within the Data Set contain such tailored terms. This subsection analyzes the ways that companies more commonly use structural mechanisms, rather than precise contractual terms, to ensure that their rights are protected when bankruptcy is unavailable.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>208</sup> Canopy Arrangement Agreement April 2019, *supra* note 187, at G-15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>209</sup> *Id.* at G-9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>210</sup> 11 U.S.C. § 365(n).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>211</sup> 11 U.S.C. § 365(e)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>212</sup> See Medicine Man Technologies, Inc., License Agreement dated May 10, 2022 (Form 10-K), 8 (Mar. 29, 2023); Medicine Man Technologies, Inc., Technology License Agreement dated May 1, 2014 (Form S-1), 7 (Apr. 14, 2015).

Bankruptcy structuring refers to two distinct approaches a company could use to address the fact that bankruptcy protection is unavailable to the cannabis industry. One approach that a company could use to largely, if not entirely, sidestep the bankruptcy issue is by choosing not to touch the plant in the United States. Thirteen of thirty-four (35.3%) of companies in the Data Set do not touch the plant in the United States (an "opt-out" strategy). Nevertheless, as described in Part I, this approach is not foolproof for at least two reasons. First, the reach of the bankruptcy prohibition could extend beyond only plant touching companies to companies like the seller in Way to Grow whose businesses largely depend on the cannabis industry.<sup>213</sup> Second, non-plant touching companies—particularly financiers—need to concern themselves with the availability of bankruptcy for their plant-touching contract counterparties. As such, many non-plant touching companies in the Data Set still spend significant portions of their Annual Reports discussing the risks facing marijuana companies.

A second approach would be to use the tools of corporate and organizational law to limit the unpredictable consequences of a bankruptcy filing. Strategies commonly used include seeking pledges of equity interests in affiliates and/or parent company guaranties. In each case, these strategies reduce or eliminate potential collective action problems and ensure additional assets are available to repay loans. At least some of these strategies are common in the marijuana industry: for example, pledges of the ownership interests of the borrower and related entities were found in 67% of the secured loan agreements reviewed. Similarly, parent guaranties were present in 71% of the secured loan agreements reviewed. But since these strategies are so commonly used across industries, relying on them might present a misleading picture of the prevalence of structuring mechanisms as a response to the unavailability of bankruptcy in the marijuana industry, rather than simply a typical secured lending tool.

Therefore, for purposes of this subsection, a document is counted as including a structural mechanism if it (a) was entered into by a non-plant touching company ("non-plant touching"), or (b) contains one or more cannabis-specific structures ("cannabis-specific structuring"). Cannabis-specific structuring could include using separate legal entities for each cannabis license or property, special treatment of marijuana fixtures or inventory, or other strategies. A complete list of the types of structuring

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>213</sup> See notes 92-93, supra, and accompanying text.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>214</sup> Four of the five remaining documents were inconclusive on this count, leaving only one of twenty that definitively did not include such a pledge.

considered to be cannabis-specific structuring can be found in Appendix A. The table below shows the number and percentage of contracts that

The table below shows the number and percentage of contracts that include any kind of structuring (i.e., contracts that are non-plant touching, or contain cannabis-specific structuring), along with a breakdown by category:

<u>Type</u>	Count (%) of Total	Count (%) Non-Plant Touching	Count (%) Cannabis- Specific Structuring 215	Count (%) without Any Structurin g
Annual	120	44 (36.7%)	22 (18.3%)	54 (45.0%)
Reports	(10.3%)			
Organizational	104 (8.9%)	87 (83.7%)	3 (2.9%)	14 (13.5%)
Documents				
Merger	64 (5.5%)	14 (21.9%)	0 (0.0%)	50 (78.1%)
A greements				
Secured Debt	100 (8.6%)	21 (21.0%)	45 (45.0%)	34 (34.0%)
Unsecured	58 (5.5%)	34 (58.6%)	0 (0.0%)	24 (41.4%)
Debt				
Leases	38 (3.3%)	10 (26.3%)	6 (15.8%)	22 (57.9%)
Material	683	237	0 (0.0%)	446
Contracts	(58.5%)	(34.7%)		(65.3%)
Total	1,167	447	76 (6.5%)	644
	(100%)	(38.3%)		(55.2%)

The data demonstrates that 55.2% of contracts contain no structuring of any kind, meaning that a little less than half (44.8%) of contracts contain some form of bankruptcy structuring. Simply trying to "opt out" of the dual status issues faced by marijuana companies appears to be the most common strategy for almost all types of contracts examined. Recall that thirteen of thirty-four (35.3%) companies in the Data Set used this opt-out strategy. Thus, by classifying all their contracts as having opted out, we see that more than half of the coded documents are written on this basis. About one in twenty (6.5%) agreements contained some form of cannabis-specific

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>215</sup> As it was sometimes impossible to ascertain whether certain criteria for cannabisspecific structuring were met, the figures in this column may represent a slight undercount.

structuring, with these terms again being concentrated in secured debt agreements (45.0%) and leases (15.8%), along with a smaller concentration in organizational documents.<sup>216</sup> Each of these will be explored below.

Opting out is an easy enough strategy to implement. A company can simply decide not to engage in plant-touching activities until the dual status issue is solved. A prime example of this strategy is Canopy Growth Corp. Its annual report explains that the company "will only conduct business activities related to growing or processing marijuana in jurisdictions where it is federally permissible to do so." This extends even to transactions where Canopy has obtained ownership interests or options to purchase ownership interests in US-based operators: in such situations, the company has "taken steps to insulate [itself] from all economic and voting interests until such time as there are changes to the federal laws of the United States related to cannabis related activities." Although this strategy is not foolproof, it is sufficient to permit several companies that use this strategy to conduct primary listings on US stock exchanges. 219

That said, even non-plant touching companies can face troubles related to bankruptcy. For example, AFC Gamma, Inc., a financier, dedicates several pages of its annual report to the multiple forbearances, amendments, and defaults, including an attempted bankruptcy filing under Canadian law, it has struggled with in connection with one of its borrowers.<sup>220</sup> In brief, this strategy is blunt, likely forecloses business opportunities for operators, and is only partially effective.

Cannabis-specific bankruptcy structuring is much less common, and found in only 6.5% of agreements in the Data Set. Acreage Holdings, Inc.,<sup>221</sup> Goodness Growth Holdings, Inc.,<sup>222</sup> Planet 13 Holdings Inc.,<sup>223</sup> The

<sup>219</sup> See, e.g., Chicago Atlantic Real Estate Finance, Inc., 2022 Annual Report (Form 10-K), 41-42 (Mar. 9, 2023).

 $<sup>^{216}</sup>$  Annual reports are marked as containing cannabis-specific structuring if they are issued by a company that uses cannabis-specific structuring.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>217</sup> Canopy 2022 10-K, supra note 152, at 13.

<sup>218</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>220</sup> AFC Gamma, Inc., 2022 Annual Report (Form 10-K), 29, 49, 90 (Mar. 7, 2023). The strategies that cannabis companies use in out-of-court restructurings is a topic I hope to explore more in future work.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>221</sup> Acreage 2022 10-K, supra note 54, at 5, 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>222</sup> Goodness Growth Holdings, Inc., 2022 Annual Report (Form 10-K), 57-60 (Mar. 31, 2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>223</sup> Planet 13 Holdings Inc., 2021 Annual Report (Form 10-K), 5 (Mar. 28, 2022).

Cannabist, Inc.<sup>224</sup> and Trulieve Cannabis Corp.<sup>225</sup> each create separate entities for each state in which they own property to hold all property within that state. Cresco Labs Inc.<sup>226</sup> and Glass House Brands Inc.,<sup>227</sup> meanwhile, create individual entities for each property. Presumably, either strategy could make it easier for a lender to take assets within each jurisdiction without needing to worry about the marijuana laws or regulations of other jurisdictions. Either, but particularly the latter, would also likely make the seized assets more valuable, by keeping the most important and specialized assets together in a single bloc. Other operators scatter ownership of licenses and properties across state lines in a number of different ways, which may reflect less concern for bankruptcy-related structuring than ease of integration into a larger corporate structure following waves of mergers and acquisitions. Similarly, only Acreage Holdings, Inc.,<sup>228</sup> Ascend Wellness Holdings, Inc.,<sup>229</sup> and MedMen Enterprises Inc.<sup>230</sup> pre-authorize all-asset sales to facilitate liquidation in case of insolvency. These provisions make it easier for secured lenders to seize assets or proceeds from asset sales, increasing the likelihood they will recover greater amounts in case of insolvency and thus lowering borrower credit costs.

An example of structuring provisions related to the special treatment of inventory can be seen in leases entered into between Ascend Wellness, Inc. and IIPR. Section 9.5 of this lease<sup>231</sup> (which language is mirrored in other Ascend leases)<sup>232</sup> provides the landlord with special powers to deal with abandoned marijuana inventory. As with many commercial leases, if Tenant fails to remove its property from the Premises prior to the termination of the

 $<sup>^{224}</sup>$  The Cannabist Co. (f/k/a Columbia Care Inc.), 2022 Annual Report (Form 10-K), 13 (Mar. 29, 2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>225</sup> Trulieve Cannabis Corp., 2020 Annual Report (Form 10-K), 15-30 (Mar. 23, 2021). <sup>226</sup> Cresco Labs Inc., 2022 Annual Information Form (Form 40-F), 5-7 (Mar. 22, 2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>227</sup> Glass House Brands Inc., 2022 Annual Information Form (Form 40-F/A), 6-7, 17-27 (Apr. 3, 2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>228</sup> Acreage LLC Agreement November 2018, supra note 204, at 37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>229</sup> Ascend Wellness Holdings, LLC, Fourth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement dated November 3, 2020 (Form DRS/A), 72-73 (Feb. 26, 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>230</sup> MM Enterprises USA, LLC, Third Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement dated May 28, 2018 (Form 10-12G/A), 24, 36-38 (Oct. 7, 2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>231</sup> Ascend Lease April 2020, supra note 196, at 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>232</sup> Id.; Ascend Wellness Holdings, LLC, Lease dated December 20, 2018 (Form DRS/A), 12 (Feb. 26, 2021).

lease (including through acceleration as a result of a Tenant bankruptcy filing or other default), Landlord may remove the property.<sup>233</sup> However, if the property is marijuana, then "subject to approval from Massachusetts cannabis regulatory authorities as required for certain items, [Landlord may] sell such property . . . for such prices as Landlord may obtain . . . . "234 Trulieve's landlord can act similarly, in accordance with Section 381.986 of the Florida Statutes, which governs medical marijuana.<sup>235</sup> Despite the possibility such provisions could expose the landlord to federal liability, it makes clear that the landlord will not wait for the cooperation of the tenant to dispose of cannabis inventory if the tenant files for bankruptcy. It also acts to remove potential conflict between the landlord and other creditors of the tenant who might try to obtain the inventory or sales proceeds. By purporting to treat marijuana as no different from any other personal property, these leases rely on well-established doctrines of property and contract law to remove some degree of uncertainty from the landlord's ability to recover in case of tenant insolvency.

Finally, secured lenders use cannabis-specific bankruptcy-related structuring in forty-five secured debt contracts (45%). A breakdown of the strategies used by secured lenders is included below:<sup>236</sup>

Collateral Includes	Collateral Includes	Collateral Includes
License Count (%)	Marijuana Count (%)	Real Estate Count
		<u>(%)</u>
43 (95.6%)	35 (77.8%)	40 (88.9%)

These structuring tactics are meant to permit a lender to keep the most valuable parts of a marijuana company—licenses, inventory, and real estate—together. In all likelihood, seizing a license would require state approval, if permitted at all. Nevertheless, a license remains one of the most valuable assets held by a marijuana company, and therefore is an asset a secured lender would want to ensure it had a strong claim on in case of default or insolvency.<sup>237</sup> Marijuana inventory is also quite valuable, but perhaps

<sup>235</sup> Trulieve Cannabis Corp., Lease Agreement dated April 29, 2020 (Form S-1), 8 (Jan. 12, 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>233</sup> Ascend Lease April 2020, *supra* note 196, at 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>234</sup> Id.

 $<sup>^{236}</sup>$  Since some secured debt contracts use more than one strategy, values sum to greater than forty-five. Percentages are out of forty-five.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>237</sup> See note 343 infra, and accompanying text.

presents even greater difficulties for lenders, for whom mere possession of the inventory would cause them to run afoul of federal law. The status of a lien placed on inventory under the UCC is less clear, since mere possession of marijuana (or even its proceeds) is a federal (and if not licensed, a state) crime. Finally, real estate, through well-established foreclosure law, is the most easily seized asset, especially if cannabis inventory is removed. It also is the most readily adaptable for another user, making it more likely to serve as a source of recovery for the lender. Finally, if a lender were able to keep two, or even all three, of these assets together, they could far more easily maintain the company as a going concern, whether for themselves or a third party, if they so chose. This can explain why these strategies are fairly common among secured lenders in the Data Set.

The data presented in this subsection demonstrates that bankruptcy structuring is more common than bankruptcy contracting. 523 contracts in the Data Set (44.8%) contain some form of bankruptcy structuring: 447 documents (85.5% of the 523-document subset, and 38.3% of all documents) rely on the opt-out strategy, while 76 documents (14.5% of the 523document subset, and 6.5% of all documents) use one or another form of cannabis-specific structuring. These figures, however, should be considered in light of some important caveats. It was not infrequently challenging to ascertain whether lenders claimed a security interest in certain useful blocks of assets. Many underlying security agreements were inaccessible, so the precise terms needed to be inferred from the related loan agreements. Unless it was absolutely clear from the accessible documents that the inventory, license, and/or real estate was included in the collateral package, a document was not coded as such. As a result, the data presented above likely represents an undercount of the actual use of cannabis-specific bankruptcy structuring. This means that the data presented in this subsection should not be taken with the same level of precision as the other data presented in this Part. Nevertheless, the existence of bankruptcy structuring, and its greater prevalence than bankruptcy contracting, should be apparent.

This subsection presented data on the prevalence of bankruptcy structuring, showing it to be fairly common and far more regular than bankruptcy contracting. The next subsection addresses a prediction from the bankruptcy contracting literature: would companies, if able, choose to automate parts of the bankruptcy process through the issuance of exotic

equity? The data presented in the next subsection answers this question in the negative.

### 5. Never Issue Exotic Securities

As described briefly in the next Part, scholars have predicted that if companies were permitted to contract around bankruptcy's mandatory rules, they might choose to use their very capital structure to automate the insolvency process. These proposals are premised upon the theory that a simpler insolvency process could lead to higher recoveries for creditors, who would, in turn, pass on this benefit in the form of lower interest rates.<sup>238</sup>

One approach starts from the common view that bankruptcy exists, in part, to prevent value destruction caused by the liquidation of financially insolvent, but otherwise economically viable firms.<sup>239</sup> Rather than impose the "ubiquitous cost" of bankruptcy on all firms, a firm's capital structure could offer clues as to whether a firm is viable or not.<sup>240</sup> To achieve this, firms could issue "Chameleon Equity."<sup>241</sup> Such a firm would not issue any debt<sup>242</sup>; instead, it would issue a special form of preferred equity, where a default would automatically convert this preferred equity to common equity and eliminate any lower-priority equity. This would accomplish a quicker and cheaper reorganization than under the Bankruptcy Code.<sup>243</sup>

Another way to accomplish the same goal—allocation without an expensive valuation process—could be through the issuance of option contracts to senior creditors, junior creditors, and equityholders. If structured properly, these options could ensure that each party receives exactly what it would be entitled to regardless of the ultimate value of the company.<sup>244</sup> A final way to automate parts of the bankruptcy process concerns the decision of whether to liquidate or reorganize. Reorganization

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>238</sup> See generally Alan Schwartz, A Normative Theory of Business Bankruptcy, 91 VA. L. REV. 1199 (2005).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>239</sup> Adler, *supra* note 272, at 345.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>240</sup> *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>241</sup> *Id.* at 352.

 $<sup>^{242}</sup>$  All but two companies in the Data Set issues substantial debt, which demonstrates independently of the data presented *infra* that the Chameleon Equity approach has not been embraced by these companies.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>243</sup> Adler, *supra* note 272, at 352.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>244</sup> Bebchuk, *supra* note 303, at 787 (1988).

is only appropriate when a firm is financially distressed but economically viable—i.e., it is temporarily unable to pay creditors but otherwise remains a potentially profitable business. But it can be difficult to discover whether a firm is economically viable in any given case. Nevertheless, it may be that, in general, the viability of firms in a certain industry is strongly correlated with certain objective economic indicators, such as the consumer price index or the price of certain common inputs.<sup>245</sup> So, a firm could issue equity or other contracts that require liquidation upon insolvency if a relevant indicator (in the case of marijuana companies, this could be the average price of legal marijuana in a given market) performs poorly. Alternatively, if the firm is insolvent while the relevant indicator is performing well, the contract could call for reorganization. In either case, the decision to liquidate or reorganized is automated based on objective, easy-to-ascertain factors.

Such unique, bankruptcy-automating terms would need to be clearly disclosed to investors under securities laws. The presence of such equity or contracts would need to be included in a company's 10-K filings, and the terms of these options or equity conversion arrangements would separately need to be disclosed as well.

There is no contract or filing for any company in the Data Set that indicates the existence of any such exotic equity or option arrangement. Moreover, all firms limit themselves to issuing secured and unsecured debt, standard and preferred equity, and convertible debt. This indicates that not only are the three proposals discussed above not used by any cannabis companies, but also that no other similar proposal involving options or conversion rights that would automate aspects of the bankruptcy process are used. Possible explanations for this complete absence are suggested in Part IV.

### 6. Conclusions on Bankruptcy Contracting

This Part presented novel, hand-collected data on the bankruptcy contracting undertaken by marijuana companies in the real world. Perhaps surprisingly, even though these companies know that traditional chapter 11 protection is almost entirely unavailable for them, they largely do not write contracts that account for this fact. Nevertheless, a key exception to the lack

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>245</sup> See Alan Schwartz, A Contract Theory Approach to Business Bankruptcy, 107 YALE L.J. 1807, 1823-24 (1998).

of bankruptcy contracting is found in secured lending and leases that are part of larger sale-leaseback financing transactions. Although still somewhat uncommon, bankruptcy contracting is found four times more frequently in secured financing agreements and six times more frequently in leases than in the general set of examined contracts. Furthermore, while bankruptcy contracting is rare, bankruptcy structuring is far more common, with a little less than half of examined documents containing one or more forms of bankruptcy structuring. Finally, while bankruptcy contracting is rare and bankruptcy structuring more common, issuance of exotic securities is nonexistent. These results suggest a reexamination of the theory justifying the existence of the Bankruptcy Code may be warranted, its mandatory nature (outside of the marijuana industry), and contractualist critiques of these foundational principles. The next Part analyzes this theory and why the results presented in this Part might be surprising, while the final Part offers some explanations for these results.

# III. BANKRUPTCY CONTRACTING AS AN ALTERNATIVE TO A MANDATORY BANKRUPTCY REGIME

The first Part of this Article explored why bankruptcy is unavailable to the legal marijuana industry. The industry's unique inability to access the bankruptcy system raises questions for supporters of bankruptcy's mandatory rules while presenting opportunities for those who support a regime based on bankruptcy contracting. The prior Part, meanwhile, made the empirical case that bankruptcy contracting is rare despite its availability in the industry. This Part investigates the typical understanding of why access to bankruptcy is mandatory, criticisms of this view, and suggestions regarding how companies might write bankruptcy contracts to implement tailored, more efficient solutions to insolvency.

## A. The Creditors' Bargain and Arguments Against Bankruptcy Contracting

Bankruptcy is unlike many other parts of corporate law. Corporate law mostly consists of default rules that parties can contract around if they prefer a different outcome. Mandatory rules, which parties cannot contract around for public policy reasons, are much rarer.<sup>246</sup> Bankruptcy, however,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>246</sup> See Ian Ayres and Robert Gertner, Filling Gaps in Incomplete Contracts: An Economic Theory of Default Rules, 99 YALE L.J. 87, 87-88 (1989) (explaining and illustrating the mandatory/default distinction).

primarily consists of mandatory rules—parties cannot waive their right to file for bankruptcy or otherwise generally contract around parts of bankruptcy's framework. This Section gives an overview of the justifications for bankruptcy's mandatory system.

Bankruptcy is a mandatory regime because it is meant to force all parties with a financial interest in the debtor—lenders, vendors, employees, tort victims, governments, and others—to the negotiating table while preventing those parties from unfairly taking advantage of one another.<sup>247</sup> If parties could opt out of bankruptcy, theory suggests that they would race one another to the courthouse to levy on a debtor's assets.<sup>248</sup> Slower creditors would be unfairly left without recovery, while value may be wasted if assets could be worth more kept together rather than sold piecemeal.<sup>249</sup> Creditor monitoring costs would increase, because each creditor would need to guard against the strategic behavior of all other creditors.<sup>250</sup> These aspects, in turn, would increase the costs to lenders of providing credit while decreasing their potential recoveries in the event of borrower distress, ultimately leading to less credit being provided at higher cost.<sup>251</sup>

The bankruptcy system exists, it is argued, to avoid this parade of horribles. Scholars conceptualize bankruptcy as the outcome of a hypothetical bargain among creditors to solve this collective action problem—a set of rules that would apply to all parties to a bankruptcy proceeding. Thus, in this classical "Creditors' Bargain" formulation, bankruptcy is a compulsory system because "allow ing the debtor to contract with other creditors on an opt-out basis would destroy the advantages of a collective proceeding." Bankruptcy therefore consists of a system of mandatory rules regarding the imposition of a stay on collections, specified treatment for different types of claimants, powers that debtors can exercise to bring value back to the company, and a voting system to ensure

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>247</sup> See Anthony J. Casey, Chapter 11's Renegotiation Framework and the Purpose of Corporate Bankruptcy, 120 COLUM. L. REV. 1709, 1715-17 (2020); Elizabeth Warren & Jay Lawrence Westbook, Contracting Out of Bankruptcy: An Empirical Intervention, 118 HARV. L. REV. 1197, 1199, 1202-03 (2005).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>248</sup> Thomas H. Jackson, *Bankruptcy, Non-Bankruptcy Entitlements, and the Creditors' Bargain*, 91 YALE L.J. 857, 862 (1982).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>249</sup> *Id.* at 862-65.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>250</sup> *Id.* at 865.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>251</sup> *Id.* at 861; Schwartz, *supra* note 238, at 1203.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>252</sup> Jackson, *supra* note 248, at 866.

that creditors of all kinds are informed about and have a say in a reorganization plan.

Other reasons for a mandatory bankruptcy system have been put forward by scholars concerned about how certain classes of creditors would be treated in a default rule regime. Theorists worry that a system where some parties could opt out would harm tort victims, <sup>253</sup> small creditors, unsophisticated parties, and certain types of governmental claimants. <sup>254</sup> These "maladjusting creditors" might lack the time, inclination, sophistication, or wherewithal to make bankruptcy contracts with a counterparty. <sup>255</sup> Courts, meanwhile, reason that if opting out of bankruptcy law were permitted, "astute creditors would routinely require their debtors to waive" access to bankruptcy, thus rendering the law effectively moot. <sup>256</sup>

Bankruptcy's mandatory regime has convinced many theorists, and there is little judicial or legislative support for a default, rather than mandatory, bankruptcy system. In short, with limited exceptions, bankruptcy contracting has not caught on. Nevertheless, there are powerful arguments for permitting bankruptcy contracting across industries, along with considered predictions about the types of changes we might expect in a regime that permitted bankruptcy contracting. These are explored in the next Section.

### B. Arguments in Favor of Bankruptcy Contracting

Although the explanation for a mandatory bankruptcy system summarized in the prior Section has become commonly accepted, <sup>257</sup> it is not without its detractors. Practice also demonstrates demand for contractual alternatives, with contract being used to chip away at parts of the existing bankruptcy system. <sup>258</sup> Many scholars have suggested that it is odd,

<sup>256</sup> Bank of China v. Huang (*In re* Huang), 75 F.3d 1173, 1177 (9th Cir. 2002).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>253</sup> Bankruptcy has increasingly become the forum of choice for companies hoping to resolve their mass tort liability, creating stresses for the bankruptcy system and those who use it. See generally William Organek, Mass Tort Bankruptcy Goes Public, 77 VAND. L. REV. 723 (2024). A recent Supreme Court decision in the Purdue Pharma bankruptcy, Harrington v. Purdue Pharma L.P., 144 S. Ct. 2071 (2024), might make bankruptcy less attractive for resolving mass torts—or, it might not. See William A. Organek, Why Bankruptcy Will Keep Eating Mass Torts (working paper on file with author).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>254</sup> Warren & Westbook, *supra* note 247, at 1216.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>255</sup> *Id.* at 1213-14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>257</sup> See Mark J. Roe & Frederick Tung, Breaking Bankruptcy Priority: How Rent-Seeking Upends the Creditors' Bargain, 99 VA. L. REV. 1235, 1239 (2013).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>258</sup> See, e.g., Douglas G. Baird & Anthony J. Casey, No Exit? Withdrawal Rights and

inefficient, and costly to impose a single bankruptcy system on all debtors and creditors while the rest of corporate law is built upon freedom of contract. These critics instead propose that at least some parties be permitted to negotiate insolvency remedies by contract. Using private ordering, they could replicate, modify, or even abandon some or all of the current Bankruptcy Code, tailoring its provisions to their particular needs. Arguments in favor of bankruptcy contracting are explored in this Section.

### 1. Weak Form—Bankruptcy as a Menu

Proponents of bankruptcy contracting fall into several camps. One set of critics sees bankruptcy's dependence on nonwaiveable provisions as incongruous with the rest of corporate law. Bankruptcy's mandatory rules lead to less efficient outcomes than would be available if parties could contract around them. <sup>260</sup> A default rule, on the other hand, is one that would apply *only if* parties do not decide on a different rule. Default rules provide parties with more flexibility to tailor their arrangements to their specific situations, and only come into force if parties are silent on the particular issue to which the default rule applies. As a result, parties are generally expected to negotiate to a better outcome for them than would be provided by a default rule so long as the transaction costs of doing so are not too high. <sup>261</sup> Without this flexibility, parties are forced to use an expensive, time-consuming, one-size-fits-all process with no analogue in any other part of corporate law.

the Law of Corporate Reorganizations, 113 COLUM. L. REV. 1 (2013); Skeel & Triantis, supra note 16; Bussel, supra note 18; Vincent S.J. Buccola, Sponsor Control: A New Paradigm for Corporate Reorganization, 90 U. CHI. L. REV. 1, 39-42 (2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>259</sup> See Robert B. Thompson, Private Ordering and Contracting Out in Twenty-First-Century Corporate Law, 74 CASE W. RES. L. REV. 13, 22 (2023) ("[t]] here has been a very visible shift in corporate law empowering more private ordering and authorizing parties to contract around what had been mandatory legal rules . . . ."); Tomer S. Stein, Rules vs. Standards in Private Ordering, 70 BUFF. L. REV. 1835, 1838 (2022) (offering contracts and corporate governance arrangements as two examples of private ordering).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>260</sup> See Avery Katz, Taking Private Ordering Seriously, 144 U. PA. L. REV. 1745, 1752 (1996) ("Allowing people to opt out of the state-provided default rule, other things being equal, is efficient; it preserves private incentives to acquire information about norms [within an industry or community] and put that information to its best use.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>261</sup> Robert K. Rasmussen, *Debtor's Choice: A Menu Approach to Corporate Bankruptcy*, 71 TEX. L. REV. 51, 62, 62 n.36 (1992) (describing this as "standard 'Coasian [sic]] contractual theory'").

Professor Rasmussen proposes that companies could reach a more efficient solution by selecting, at the time of their formation, from a menu of corporate reorganization options in the event of insolvency. 262 The choices available would be to commit to: (1) never use federal bankruptcy law, (2) only file for liquidation under chapter 7, (3) only use chapter 11, (4) only use a modified proceeding where all creditors except the financing creditor are stayed, or (5) create a fully-customized insolvency regime.<sup>263</sup> In theory, creditors and equityholders might prefer one or another of these choices under certain circumstances. For instance, never using federal bankruptcy law would enable equityholders to obtain lower interest rates from secured creditors because secured creditors could more quickly and easily repossess collateral using state law foreclosure procedures.<sup>264</sup> A chapter 7-only firm might benefit unsecured creditors who could rely on an orderly liquidation to ensure they will obtain a pro rata share of a company's remaining value and forestall a wasteful race to the courthouse. 265 Finally, a custom regime could unlock even more efficiencies for parties willing to negotiate for it.<sup>266</sup>

The purpose of the menu is to provide a broader set of options to debtors and creditors than is currently available, along with a credible mechanism to ensure they do not strategically change their choice to selectively harm creditors.<sup>267</sup> This form of critique does not say that bankruptcy does not solve problems, or that contract is the ideal solution

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>262</sup> *Id.* at 53.

 $<sup>^{263}</sup>$  Id. at 107. Under the fifth choice, maladjusting creditors would be treated according to state-selected mandatory rules.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>264</sup> *Id.* at 101.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>265</sup> *Id.* at 103-04.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>266</sup> Id. at 106-07. Notably, Professor Rasmussen's article was written before the incorporation of Chapter 12 (for family farms and fishermen) or Subchapter V (for small businesses) into the Bankruptcy Code. While a full explanation of either is far beyond the scope of this Article, both are generally acknowledged to be more debtor-friendly. See Katherine M. Porter, Phantom Farmers: Chapter 12 of the Bankruptcy Code, 79 AM. BANKR. L.J. 729, 732 (2005) (noting ways that Chapter 12 is more debtor-friendly than Chapter 11); Edith Hotchkiss, Benjamin Iverson, and Xiang Zheng, Can Small Businesses Survive Chapter 11? (manuscript 9-13), https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=4726391\_(same\_with\_respect\_to Subchapter V). Perhaps Professor Rasmussen would have advocated for additions to his list of five possible choices to account for subsequent changes to the Bankruptcy Code, and likely would have wanted sufficient flexibility for companies to amend their charters to account for changes to the Bankruptcy Code. See Rasmussen, supra note 261, at 112, 117-118. Regardless, it is likely that he would still argue in favor of a limited menu of default choices to encourage lower credit costs for borrowers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>267</sup> *Id.* at 117, 121.

for every economic actor. Instead, it merely suggests that parties should have a broader set of options in the name of efficiency.

### 2. Middle Form-Markets Evolve

Other scholars take a different approach to their criticisms of the bankruptcy system. They start with the Creditors' Bargain theory, <sup>268</sup> but suggest that markets have changed in important ways that makes this theory obsolete in some respects. As a result, some of bankruptcy's mandatory rules, as justified by the Creditors' Bargain theory, might be better circumvented by mutual agreement between the parties.

Some critics believe the collective action problem bankruptcy is meant to solve is overblown. Smaller businesses or those with simple capital structures may have only a handful, or even just one, dominant creditor. As discussed above, smaller businesses often resolve financial distress without bankruptcy's supposedly essential mandatory rules, instead using consensual workouts or state-law procedures.<sup>269</sup> Coordination problems for larger, publicly-owned firms are also much smaller now than they were in the past. Over the past two decades, distressed private investment firms have been able to acquire controlling positions in widely-held distressed firms through purchases of their debt or other claims against them on secondary markets.<sup>270</sup> The increasing power of senior secured lenders means there is less need for lenders to coordinate with one another, since "the most senior creditors call the shots."271 As long as this is true, bankruptcy is not needed to prevent a race to the courthouse or force parties to the negotiating table; therefore, other rules during insolvency might achieve better outcomes.<sup>272</sup>

Some recent developments in capital markets suggest that control of distressed companies is swinging back from secured lenders to private equity owners. Even though ownership may be more widely dispersed on public markets, since control is concentrated in the hands of private equity owners

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>268</sup> See notes 248-252, supra, and accompanying text.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>269</sup> Morrison, *supra* note 106, at 256-58.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>270</sup> Vincent S.J. Buccola, *Bankruptcy's Cathedral: Property Rules, Liability Rules, and Distress*, 114 NW. U. L. REV. 705, 714-717 (2019).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>271</sup> *Id.* at 718.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>272</sup> See Barry E. Adler, A Theory of Corporate Insolvency, 72 N.Y.U. L. REV. 343, 351 (1997) (the collective action problem bankruptcy is meant to solve is "largely illusory").

coordination problems may be less important. Moreover, private equity owners may try to avoid bankruptcy because its mandatory rules would wipe out a private equity firm's substantial investment in a portfolio company, eliminate its advisory fees, harm its market reputation, and expose it to lawsuits for prebankruptcy actions.<sup>273</sup> Instead, private equity sponsors can use the threat of a drawn-out bankruptcy case, which could diminish firm value and therefore harm creditors,<sup>274</sup> in exchange for creditor agreement to grant them value in direct contravention of bankruptcy's mandatory requirements.<sup>275</sup> Thus, even though under bankruptcy's rules the private equity sponsor should retain no equity in the company and should remain liable for certain prebankruptcy actions, clever private equity firms are sometimes able to obtain releases from liability<sup>276</sup> and retain equity in the firm instead.<sup>277</sup> If markets have transformed so there is no collective action problem to solve, or if it can be efficiently solved by contract, then why have a compulsory, yet inefficient, bankruptcy system?

Bankruptcy practice has also evolved to take advantage of the fact that "[b] ankruptcy operates on legal entities, not on firms." Creditors cannot force companies to opt out of bankruptcy by writing a contract that excludes an important asset from a bankruptcy proceeding. But, creditors can achieve much the same thing by requiring a company to place a key asset in a separate legal entity within a corporate group, and then keep that entity out of bankruptcy (and out of the hands of other creditors) if the group suffers financial distress. This type of "withdrawal right," which in this case would take place prior to a bankruptcy filing by one or more of the other entities within a corporate group, might sound like exactly the circumstances that bankruptcy's mandatory procedures are meant to avoid—indeed, "[t] here is nothing mandatory about rules like the automatic stay when assets can be partitioned off into legal entities that never enter

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>273</sup> Buccola, *supra* note258, at 5-6, 28.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>274</sup> See notes 294-298, infra, and accompanying text.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>275</sup> Buccola, *supra* note 258, at 39-42; *see also* Roe & Tung, *supra* note 257, at 1250-54, 1262-64; Melissa B. Jacoby, *Shocking Business Bankruptcy Law*, 131 YALE L.J.F. 409 (2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>276</sup> Releases of parties from liability they may have towards third parties remains a controversial topic, especially in the mass torts context. *See generally* William Organek, "A Bitter Result": Purdue Pharma, a Sackler Bankruptcy Filing, and Improving Monetary and Nonmonetary Outcomes in Mass Tort Bankruptcies, 96 AM. BANKR. L.J. 361 (2022).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>277</sup> Buccola, *supra* note 258, at 39-42.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>278</sup> Baird & Casey, supra note 258, at 4-5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>279</sup> *Id.* at 8.

bankruptcy."280

But, a withdrawal right can solve the collective action problem that bankruptcy is supposedly needed to solve. If a firm's key asset (without which the firm would need to shut down) is placed in a separate entity owned by only one investor, then there is no collective action problem upon insolvency. Instead, the withdrawal right operates as "an acid test of whether the firm should be saved."281 If the firm has going-concern value, the parties will negotiate to keep the firm together; if not, the withdrawal right will be exercised and the firm will shut down, all at a cost far below that of a bankruptcy proceeding.<sup>282</sup> Withdrawal rights impose costs on other creditors, and if too many withdrawal rights are given then collective action problems can be reintroduced.<sup>283</sup> But, withdrawal rights offer a potentially more efficient alternative to bankruptcy's mandatory rules under some circumstances.<sup>284</sup> Withdrawal rights demonstrate another way markets have evolved to provide, in limited circumstances, a response to financial distress that differs from that supposedly demanded by the Creditors' Bargain.

Finally, the international shipping industry provides an idiosyncratic example of how private ordering solutions can arise in particular markets in the absence of public law mandates. Ships are owned and operate in multiple jurisdictions and on the high seas, and visit ports where corruption and inefficiency may lead to suboptimal outcomes for creditors if insolvency resolution was based on public law alone.<sup>285</sup> Since depending on a single nation's bankruptcy laws may be impractical or unduly costly, this industry has developed institutions for resolving financial distress through "a nexus of private, decentralized, differentiated and competitive market institutions."<sup>286</sup> Primary among these for purposes of this Article are the "double mortgage," governing law, and forum selection clauses.<sup>287</sup>

<sup>281</sup> *Id.* at 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>280</sup> *Id.* at 48.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>282</sup> *Id.* at 8-9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>283</sup> *Id.* at 13, 20-24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>284</sup> *Id.* at 12-13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>285</sup> Julian Franks, Oren Sussman & Vikrant Vig, *The Privatization of Bankruptcy: Evidence from Financial Distress in the Shipping Industry*, European Corporate Governance Institute Finance Working Paper No. 505/2017, at 2 (2017).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>286</sup> *Id.* at 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>287</sup> *Id.* at 9-16.

First, a double mortgage gives a lender a mortgage on a ship *as well as* a security interest in the shares of the special-purpose entity that is the registered owner of the ship.<sup>288</sup> So, if distress strikes the holding company while a particular ship is on the high seas, a lender can simply seize ownership of the shares of the special-purpose entity that owns the ship, becoming the record owner of the ship without any court process.<sup>289</sup> Lenders also often require that ships be registered in certain trusted jurisdictions because while a ship could be registered in any jurisdiction some have poor reputations for protecting lenders' property rights.<sup>290</sup> Similarly, loan agreements often specify choice of law and arbitration venue in favored jurisdictions to ensure expertise and reduce expense.<sup>291</sup> Collectively, these contractual and legal innovations replace bankruptcy law in this industry, suggesting that under some circumstances it may be possible to avoid the parade of horribles that justifies the Creditors' Bargain theory.

## 3. Strong Form—Replace Bankruptcy with Contract

A final group of critics claims that bankruptcy law should be eliminated entirely and replaced by contractual arrangements, auctions, and other similar structures.<sup>292</sup> Replacing bankruptcy with these other mechanisms could improve outcomes in several ways. First, if there is only one or a small number of creditors, bankruptcy law—specifically the ability of management to decide whether to liquidate or reorganize, or delay undertaking either<sup>293</sup>—often serves to shift value from creditors to management, rather than helping the business. Eliminating bankruptcy law, the argument goes, would improve recoveries for creditors and therefore lower interest costs for borrowers.

To understand why, recall that managers are often major equityholders in the companies they run, and obtain substantial private benefits from their

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>288</sup> Id. at 14. This is similar in structure to a mortgage and mezzanine loan in the real estate industry. See Christopher J. Collins, Mezzanine Real Estate Loan Foreclosures: What is Commercially Reasonable During an Emergency?, 16 BROOK. J. CORP. FIN. & COM. L. 191 (2022).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>289</sup> Franks, Sussman & Vig, supra note 285, at 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>290</sup> *Id.* at 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>291</sup> *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>292</sup> Sweden's bankruptcy system relies almost entirely on auctions. *See generally* Per Stromberg, *Conflicts of Interest and Market Illiquidity in Bankruptcy Auctions: Theory and Tests*, 55 J. FIN. 2641 (2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>293</sup> 11 U.S.C. § 1121.

positions—salaries, perks, reputational benefits, and others.<sup>294</sup> Moreover, consider that liquidations and reorganizations harm management in two ways. Liquidations that fail to repay senior creditors in full necessarily wipe out equityholders, while reorganizations often dilute any preexisting equityholders. In both liquidations and reorganizations, management will typically be replaced. With all of this in mind, management may wish to delay a liquidation or reorganization to maintain their private benefits while also betting that the company's fortunes may improve in the meantime and their equity will once again have value (this is the so-called option value of equity).<sup>296</sup> Delay harms creditors because assets dissipate in value over time and because reorganization is expensive.<sup>297</sup> But this harm is asymmetric, because equity in an insolvent company is already worthless. Proponents of bankruptcy contracting argue that replacing these rules with a contract providing for quick foreclosure and an abbreviated auction could improve creditor recoveries and thus lead to a lower cost of credit for debtors.<sup>298</sup>

Alternatively, the bankruptcy system could be redesigned to give junior creditors and equityholders a stake in the reorganized company to compensate them for the option value of their equity. This so-called relative priority system would give some value to junior creditors and equityholders because it is possible a company's fortunes could turn around and simply wiping out junior claimants is unfair (why should they bear the entire loss?) and inefficient (it could lead to the delay and waste discussed in the prior paragraph). Relative priority has some prominent supporters, but contravenes current bankruptcy law's insistence on absolute priority when parties do not consent to different treatment.<sup>299</sup> Senior and junior claimants could potentially negotiate for customized forms of relative priority and implement them by contract rather than legislatively.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>294</sup> Schwartz, *supra* note 245, at 1824-32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>295</sup> See 11 U.S.C. § 1129(b)(2)(B)(ii).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>296</sup> See generally Lucian A. Bebchuk & Howard F. Chang, Bargaining and the Division of Value in Corporate Reorganization, 8 J. L. ECON. & ORG. 253 (1992).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>297</sup> See generally Melissa B. Jacoby & Edward J. Janger, Ice Cube Bonds: Allocating the Price of Process in Chapter 11 Bankruptcy, 123 YALE L.J. 862 (2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>298</sup> See Schwartz, supra note 238, at 1203.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>299</sup> See, e.g., Douglas G. Baird, *Priority Matters: Absolute Priority, Relative Priority, and the Costs of Bankruptcy*, 165 U. PA. L. REV. 785 (2017); AMERICAN BANKRUPTCY INSTITUTE, COMMISSION TO STUDY THE REFORM OF CHAPTER 11, FINAL REPORT AND RECOMMENDATIONS (2014); Anthony J. Casey, *The Creditors' Bargain and Option-Preservation Priority in Chapter 11*, 78 U. CHI. L. REV. 759 (2011).

Finally, if entire firms can readily be sold at auction, then the market can determine what the going concern is worth and there may be no need for bankruptcy's costly and time-consuming forced negotiation process.<sup>300</sup> A bankruptcy judge might play an important role if she can help parties overcome bargaining frictions that might otherwise prevent them from reaching a mutually beneficial deal. But large and efficient markets for distressed companies and their debt reduces the need for judicial intervention.<sup>301</sup> Over the years there have been numerous proposals to replace the reorganization process with an auction of some or all of the firm, <sup>302</sup> or flotation of shares or options to purchase the firm. <sup>303</sup> More exotic solutions include urging companies to issue preferred equity that automatically converts to common equity, 304 grant options that permit the purchase of shares in a reorganized company for a fixed price, 305 permit signals from the wider industry or broader economy to determine whether a company will liquidate or reorganize, 306 and others. Collectively, these proposals suggest that bankruptcy's mandatory rules can be inefficient for some potential debtors, and that sophisticated parties could, and would, prefer to use contractual solutions to automate some aspects of insolvency resolution.

# C. Predictions About Bankruptcy Contracting

In a world where bankruptcy contracting was permitted, we might expect companies to act differently from how they currently do across a variety of different measures. This Section identifies and classifies these changes, tying them to the theory explored in the prior Section and suggesting the types of contracts that might have been predicted to be present, but rarely were, in the legal cannabis industry. The list provided here cannot be anything but incomplete because a true freedom of contracting regime would allow for an unlimited amount of customization.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>300</sup> Douglas G. Baird & Robert K. Rasmussen, *The End of Bankruptcy*, 55 STAN. L. REV. 751, 755-56 (2002).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>301</sup> Buccola, *supra* note 270, at 715-19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>302</sup> Mark J. Roe, *Bankruptcy and Debt: A New Model for Corporate Reorganization*, 83 COLUM. L. REV. 527 (1983).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>303</sup> Lucian A. Bebchuk, *A New Approach to Corporate Reorganizations*, 101 HARV. L. REV. 775 (1988).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>304</sup> Adler, *supra* note 272, at 352.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>305</sup> Bebchuk, *supra* note 303, at 781-88.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>306</sup> Schwartz, *supra* note 245, at 1823-24.

Instead, it aims to catalogue two broad types of changes one might expect if the restrictions on bankruptcy contracting were loosened: changes legal or capital structure *prior to* examining any particular contracts, and substantive changes to a company's contracts.

## 1. Ex Ante Changes to a Company's Legal or Capital Structure

If companies could more freely contract around bankruptcy, we might expect them to publicize this ability and the broad contours of any bankruptcy contracts they made. Even proponents of bankruptcy contracting agree that "[f]irms cannot be allowed unlimited freedom to amend" their general choice of which bankruptcy rights to use, because counterparties will change their behavior in reliance upon the bankruptcy choices an individual firm makes.<sup>307</sup> It would therefore be reasonable to expect companies to explain the absence of bankruptcy protection, how this enables them to make bankruptcy contracts, and the importance of such contracting to their business.<sup>308</sup> We might expect material contracts, charters, and public disclosures to indicate the type of bankruptcy system that a company would choose to use upon insolvency. Over time, custom provisions might evolve into a relatively small set of potential alternatives for efficiency reasons.

We could also predict that the absence of bankruptcy protection, or the need to make bankruptcy contracts, might impact the supply of, and demand for, debt. Of course, it would be difficult to demonstrate that a given company's decision not to borrow was based upon the unavailability of bankruptcy. But debt is not essential for corporate growth, and companies can both grow and remove insolvency risk by funding themselves entirely through equity.<sup>309</sup> Therefore, if debt was an important feature of most companies in the marijuana industry, or if debt incurrence increased over time, this could suggest that neither companies nor their lenders are put off by the unavailability of bankruptcy.

We might further conclude that looser restrictions on bankruptcy contracting could affect the types of debt that cannabis companies incur. Secured debt might be more common than unsecured debt, since the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>307</sup> Rasmussen, supra note 261, at 117.

 $<sup>^{308}</sup>$  See Barry E. Adler, The Creditors' Bargain Revisited, 166 U. PA. L. REV. 1853, 1860 (2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>309</sup> See Barry E. Adler, A World without Debt, 72 WASH. U. L. Q. 811, 814-18 (1994).

existence of identified collateral could reduce concerns about a race to the courthouse. Looser restrictions might also impact the structure companies use to borrow. For example, if lenders believe it will be difficult to foreclose on properties in multiple states without bankruptcy's automatic stay, they could try to implement structural mechanisms to ease the foreclosure process. These might look like the double mortgages used in the international shipping industry described *supra*, or like mezzanine loans common in real estate transactions. As described above, these structures permit quicker foreclosure with reduced court intervention. More generally, companies might engage in asset partitioning to keep useful blocks of assets (for instance, using a single entity to hold all licenses or property in a given state) together and thus increase potential recoveries for a foreclosing party. 313

Finally, even severe critics of bankruptcy's mandatory rules tend to agree that the ability to sell property quickly, and free and clear of liens held by creditors, is an essential part of insolvency resolution.<sup>314</sup> Without the powers under the Bankruptcy Code, a cannabis company would likely need to obtain assent from all shareholders prior to engaging in a sale of substantially all assets.<sup>315</sup> As a result, cannabis companies might try to obtain pre-authorization for an all-asset sale in their organizational documents.

## 2. Substantive Changes to a Company's Contracts

In addition to changes cannabis companies might make to their legal or capital structure if able to contract around bankruptcy, they might also make changes to contracts themselves. First, we could examine their contracts to see whether parties try to mirror certain rights they might have in bankruptcy. Scholars have disagreed over the need for a non-opt-out automatic stay,<sup>316</sup> the usefulness of the absolute priority rule (perhaps

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>310</sup> See Baird, supra note 26, at 801.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>311</sup> See notes 285-291, supra, and accompanying text.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>312</sup> Franks, Sussman & Vig, supra note 285, at 9-16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>313</sup> See Kenneth Ayotte and Henry Hansmann, Legal Entities as Transferrable Bundles of Contracts, 111 MICH. L. REV. 715, 721 (2013); Morgan Ricks, Organizational Law as Commitment Device, 70 VAND. L. REV. 1303, 1345-47 (2017).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>314</sup> See Schwartz, supra note 17, at 56; Adler, supra note 308, at 1864; Buccola, supra note 270, at 732-41 (important because it removes the ability of shareholders to veto a sale of all assets).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>315</sup> Buccola, *supra* note 270, at 739; Adams, *supra* note 108, at 1006.

<sup>316</sup> Compare Schwartz, supra note 245, at 1840-41 (some form of automatic stay is

bankruptcy's most fundamental mandatory rule),<sup>317</sup> and whether bankruptcy functions as an effective valuation mechanism,<sup>318</sup> among a host of other issues. The importance of these terms might be reflected in their presence, or absence, in contracts when bankruptcy contracting is permitted.

Contractual terms could demonstrate how concerned parties are about collective action problems—do they try to contractually create some version of an automatic stay or replicate some version of bankruptcy's class-based voting mechanisms (such as through an intercreditor agreement)?319 Lenders could try to obtain detailed information rights or third-party appraisal rights—the types of things the Bankruptcy Code would, perhaps imperfectly, provide.<sup>320</sup> If so, this might indicate that such information is important to remaining informed about the value of their collateral and thus aid in deciding when liquidation is warranted.<sup>321</sup> Alternatively, do secured financiers successfully get borrowers to waive any right they may have to a stay on foreclosure?<sup>322</sup> If lenders instead demand auctions upon borrower insolvency, this could suggest a general distaste for the reorganization process.<sup>323</sup> Junior creditors or equityholders, meanwhile, might try to negotiate deviations from absolute priority in exchange for agreement to move quickly through distress.<sup>324</sup> These or other potential contractual incorporation of, or deviation from, bankruptcy's mandatory rules could shed light on what parties themselves believe are the most important parts of the Bankruptcy Code.

<sup>&</sup>quot;essential to the existence of an efficient bankruptcy system") with Buccola, supra note 270, at 742 (the stay could be negotiated by contract).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>317</sup> Compare Baird, supra note 26 (in support of relative priority) with Barry E. Adler & George Triantis, Debt Priority and Options in Bankruptcy: A Policy Intervention, 91 AM. BANKR. L.J. 563 (2017) (in support of absolute priority).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>318</sup> Compare Roe & Tung, supra note 257, at 1258 (bankruptcy-based auctions can accurately value a firm); with Douglas G. Baird & Donald S. Bernstein, Absolute Priority, Valuation Uncertainty, and the Reorganization Bargain, 115 YALE L.J. 1930 (2006) (valuation is always uncertain and creates opportunities for deviation from absolute priority).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>319</sup> See Skeel & Triantis, supra note 16, at 1799-1807.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>320</sup> See Fed. R. Bankr. P. 2004 (examination rights); 11 U.S.C. § 1129(b) (valuation is ultimately required for confirmation of a nonconsensual bankruptcy plan).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>321</sup> See Kenneth Ayotte & David A. Skeel, Jr., Bankruptcy Law as Liquidity Provider, 80 U. CHI. L. REV. 1557, 1579-89 (2013).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>322</sup> See Schwartz, supra note 238, at 1259-61.

<sup>323</sup> See id

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>324</sup> See note 299, supra, and accompanying text.

Next, as discussed above, there are several state-law alternatives to bankruptcy, only some of which have been explicitly authorized for use by cannabis companies. Nevertheless, some companies or their creditors might prefer the advance selection of one procedure or another (such as a marijuana-specific state-law receivership) to reduce uncertainty, obtain the particular protections available under a specified procedure, or for any other reason. Although many contracts across all industries contain governing law and venue provisions, if some jurisdictions have made more efforts to legitimize marijuana businesses than others, parties might choose governing law provisions that reflect expertise in this domain. Provisions dictating the use of a particular governing law, venue, or distress procedure might, therefore, be expected to be a common feature of contracts in the marijuana industry.

Finally, the possibility that companies might innovate in uncommon, or heretofore unexpected, ways should be considered as well. The variety of forms these could adopt is too large to catalog here. The point, however, is that if bankruptcy contracting is possible for cannabis companies, over a large enough sample we should expect to see some range of contractual innovation take place.

# IV. THE ROLE OF BANKRUPTCY CONTRACTING AND MANDATORY BANKRUPTCY LAW

Part II demonstrated the key findings of this Article. Overall, it shows that in the one industry where bankruptcy contracting is possible, it is quite rare. The bankruptcy contracting that does exist is primarily concentrated in one type of contract—secured financings, whether by loan or by sale-leaseback. Marijuana companies more often alter their capital structures or operations to account for their prohibition of bankruptcy filings, but even these types of changes are uncommon. The cannabis-specific changes made are also quite rare. Finally, proposals for using bankruptcy contracting to automate the most difficult, costly, or time-consuming aspects of bankruptcy are entirely absent from the publicly-available documents in this industry. Informed by the data uncovered in Part II and how it diverges from the theoretical predictions of Part III, this Part aims to offer explanations for why bankruptcy contracting is concentrated in certain types of documents but otherwise generally rare, while providing a normative view of the uses and drawbacks of bankruptcy contracting. In short, the data suggests that

<sup>325</sup> See Franks, Sussman & Vig, supra note 285.

bankruptcy contracting might be beneficial in some circumstances, but there may be higher costs associated with a regime in which bankruptcy contracting is permissible than theorists might have expected.

### A. The (Ir)rationality of Bankruptcy Contracting

Why isn't bankruptcy contracting more common in the legal marijuana industry? And why is the contracting that does exist concentrated among secured lenders? One likely explanation for both questions arises from the informational and transactional costs imposed by a bankruptcy contracting regime. For most contract counterparties, trying to create a tailored bankruptcy regime may simply be too expensive and the risks addressed by these rules too remote to make negotiation worthwhile. For entrepreneurs, most contract counterparties, and maladjusting creditors, the game simply isn't worth the candle.

First, consider the cost-benefit analysis of entrepreneurs who start cannabis companies. On the cost side, there is reason to believe that entrepreneurs in the industry may possess a higher-than-typical risk Operators in the industry must be comfortable with legal uncertainty. Insurance is often unavailable, difficult, or costly to obtain.<sup>326</sup> The regulatory landscape evolves rapidly and is subject to major shifts from administration to administration. In addition, leaders in this industry take on personal risk that is almost unheard of in other industries. For example, one company notes that its "employees, directors, officers, managers and/or investors could face detention, denial of entry or lifetime bans from the United States for their business associations" with it.327 entrepreneurs in this industry, perhaps more than others, may require an optimistic disposition in order to enter the market in the first place. This optimism in turn could systematically result in a heavy discounting of bankruptcy risks. Entrepreneurs embarking on a new venture rarely want to consider the particulars of how to resolve the failure of their new venture, and with marijuana entrepreneurs this may be especially true. Viewing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>326</sup> Regulatory Guide--Understanding the Market for Cannabis Insurance: 2023 Update 3, 26-27, 35, NAT'L ASS'N OF INS. COMM'S (Aug. 16, 2023), https://content.naic.org/sites/default/files/cip-23.pdf.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>327</sup> Acreage 2022 10-K, *supra* note 54, at 78; *see also* Jushi Holdings Inc., 2021 Annual Information Form Dated May 2, 2022, 59 (outlining banking, tax, IP, RICO, and insurance risks for participants in the marijuana industry).

bankruptcy as unlikely, or having a higher-than-typical risk tolerance, could lead an entrepreneur to conclude that the cost of negotiating a bankruptcy contract is not worth any benefit that might accrue as a result.

At the same time, the benefits of bankruptcy contracting to entrepreneur equityholders are also uncertain because of their low priority in bankruptcy and the nature of any negotiation process. Under normal circumstances, equityholders would expect to recover last (if at all), be removed from management, and likely be wiped out in a bankruptcy. This would likely be true whether the Bankruptcy Code applied or not, since as a general principle repaying debt takes priority over redeeming equity. Knowing this, entrepreneur-equityholders could try to negotiate a provision to retain them or make an explicit payment to them in the event of insolvency. However, doing so might be challenging: it would require them to ask their lender, the party that would pay them or retain them, to do so if the business fails before the business even commences. Additionally, they would be negotiating from a position of weakness as compared to a normal company, since bankruptcy's automatic stay-the key holdup tool by which payments to managers are typically extracted—would be unavailable. Such a negotiation might be possible and could succeed, but its absence from the data implies that entrepreneur equityholders are not likely to be a primary source of demand for bankruptcy contracting. Thus, from both the cost and the benefit side it may be that it is more rational for entrepreneurs, and perhaps especially marijuana entrepreneurs, to avoid bankruptcy contracting.

Next, consider parties like employees, trade creditors, and other unsecured creditors. These groups will have a wide range of negotiating leverage and sophistication regarding the unique risks of bankruptcy for cannabis companies. For some, any given contract with a cannabis company may be one of a very large number of contracts the company has with all its other counterparties, or may concern relatively small dollar amounts. Such creditors may not be willing or able to negotiate custom bankruptcy terms in their contracts. Additionally, the cannabis companies themselves might not want to negotiate such contracts because of the high transactional cost of doing so with each potential creditor. Moreover, in order to negotiate an effective bankruptcy contract, both the marijuana company and its creditor would need to understand the bankruptcy terms of *all other contracts* entered into by the cannabis company. Without this understanding, a counterparty might believe it is entitled to a certain priority, only to find out that some other party negotiated a contract granting that party priority

instead. A further difficulty arises since contracts can vary infinitely, so understanding a company's particular priority within a complex capital structure could be daunting.<sup>328</sup> For them, even if bankruptcy contracting is possible, it likely is too costly, in terms of the information, time, and legal fees required, to make sense for many parties to regularly undertake. This could be true even of sophisticated parties able to understand the potential benefits and drawbacks of bankruptcy contracting—they might decide that the benefits would be diffuse, unlikely to be realized, and not worth the cost.

Finally, consider maladjusting creditors. Professors Warren and Westbrook claimed that bankruptcy contracting would disadvantage tort victims, small creditors, unsophisticated parties, and governmental claimants who are proscribed by law from engaging in risk-based price discrimination. Some of these maladjusting creditors overlap with the claimants described in the prior paragraph. But the difference here is that there is no expectation of sophistication, or even of contractual awareness, with most maladjusting creditors. Tort victims, in particular, have commonly been understood by contractualists to be a class that requires protection via a default set of bankruptcy rules. This was true even before recent mass tort bankruptcies have highlighted the aggressive, and potentially troubling, bankruptcy tactics companies can use to reduce their litigation exposure. If sophisticated parties that might stand to benefit from bankruptcy contracting rarely engage in it, then it seems even less likely that maladjusting creditors would do so. Indeed, not writing bankruptcy contracts seems rational for these parties, and could be one major reason why only 2.5% of material contracts within the Data Set (of which a subset would be made with maladjusting creditors) contain any form of tailoring. A bankruptcy system that forces maladjusting creditors to write bankruptcy contracts likely imposes costs on them that exceed any benefits they might obtain through contracting. This would most probably shift any benefits from contracting to the cannabis company at the expense of the maladjusting creditors. Over time, this could increase inequities between sophisticated and maladjusting parties in the bankruptcy system.

Yet the fact is that bankruptcy contracting is not ignored completely by industry participants. Instead, contracting is concentrated among secured lenders. This concentration lends further credence to the information and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>328</sup> See Kenneth Ayotte & Christina Scully, J. Crew, Nine West, and the Complexities of Financial Distress, 131 YALE L.J.F. 363, 363-366 (2021).

transaction cost hypothesis presented in this Section. Secured lending is generally understood to be beneficial for companies because secured lenders can monitor borrowers more closely than other outsiders (and sometimes even more closely than insiders like corporate boards).<sup>329</sup> This monitoring ensures discipline, reduces conflicts of interest, and increases enterprise value.<sup>330</sup> The importance of secured lenders as monitoring parties in the marijuana industry may be heightened due to the regulatory uncertainty and the absence of most traditional sources of institutional capital. Marijuana companies, in particular, might substantially benefit from the steadying hand and watchful eye of a secured lender.

Secured lenders, in turn, are incentivized to negotiate tailored bankruptcy terms in their contracts because of their long-term, high-stakes bets in this uncertain industry. Secured lenders to this industry often specialize in the unique aspects of providing financing for cannabis companies, both because the industry is complex and because there is very limited appetite from more traditional lenders to enter the market. In addition, many secured loans obtained by cannabis companies contain all-asset liens or otherwise constitute the most important part of the capital structures of cannabis companies.<sup>331</sup> This, in turn, works to dissuade other lenders from providing capital to the borrower, limiting the complexity the secured lender might face in trying to determine its exact priority with respect to any given asset.<sup>332</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>329</sup> See generally Frederick Tung, Do Lenders Still Monitor? Leveraged Lending and the Search for Covenants, 47 J. CORP. L. 153, 155 (2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>330</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>331</sup> See, e.g., Ascend Wellness Holdings, Inc., 2022 Annual Report (Form 10-K), 140 (Mar. 15, 2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>332</sup> An alternative prediction of bankruptcy contracting in the cannabis industry is that contracts would eventually update and standardize. As time passes and all parties in the space become more sophisticated, one could imagine that contracts might begin to include standardized versions of provisions to deal with specific problems faced by companies in the cannabis industry. This theory of contractual updating is plausible, especially as attorneys involved in these transactions begin to become more comfortable with bespoke terms. See generally Matthew Jennejohn, Julian Nyarko & Eric Talley, Contractual Evolution, 89 U. CHI. L. REV. 901, 922-927 (2022) (modeling contractual evolution and emphasizing the importance of dynamic learning by attorneys involved in multiple transactions within an industry, as they are "the pivotal repeat players."). Nevertheless, there remain examples—perhaps most famously in the Argentine sovereign bond cases—where contractual updates were not pursued following adverse court rulings even though they would be simple to implement and could protect parties against substantial downside risks. See generally Robert E. Scott, Stephen J. Choi, & Mitu Gulati, Contractual Landmines, 41 YALE J. ON REG. 307, 309-312 (2024) (discussing the Argentine sovereign

Despite this putative security, however, as noted above and described in detail below, a secured lender may be severely limited in its ability to foreclose on much of the most valuable collateral on which it has a lien.<sup>333</sup> Thus, secured lenders take major risks in providing financing to these companies. As such, lenders are motivated to negotiate strict, complex, customized provisions relating to bankruptcy, as well as to ensure that they monitor and enforce these provisions. Secured lenders take advantage of the freedom to contract around bankruptcy because they believe the benefits of negotiating insolvency-specific remedies justifies its cost and complexity. Consonant with this statement, it is notable that IIPR, the largest sale-leaseback financier in the industry, included several bankruptcy-related substantive and structural rights in its leases, while almost no other lessor did.

Of course, sometimes it is still too difficult or costly to negotiate bankruptcy contracts. Lenders or other contract counterparties may hope for more certainty in the case of insolvency, but are unwilling or unable to negotiate the types of custom terms that the largest and most sophisticated secured lenders bargain for. In such cases, reliance upon a relatively small number of well-tested mechanisms founded in general principles of corporate law, which operate the in the same manner as they would for more traditional companies, could serve as a second-best approach. Such mechanisms include ensuring that the most valuable assets are held together in blocs that should be easier to seize, taking security interests on the most valuable assets, using distinct legal entities to hold the most valuable assets, and pre-authorizing a sale of all assets. Combining assets in easy-to-seize blocs is reminiscent of the international shipping industry's double mortgage approach, which operates predictably across a wide range of potential circumstances to reduce the time and frictions required to complete a foreclosure. Although this approach may appear second-best when compared to be poke contracting, this standardized approach may actually be optimal after accounting for information and transaction costs.

The foregoing analysis, based on informational and transactional costs, provides a possible explanation for the relatively low prevalence of tailored

bond provisions). It is not clear whether the types of provisions discussed in this Article would be amenable to contract updating or not.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>333</sup> See, e.g., Silver Spike Investment Corp., 2022 Annual Report (Form 10-K), 78 (Mar. 31, 2023) ("[c]] ertain attractive assets of our borrowers, such as cannabis licenses and cannabis inventory, may not be able to be used as collateral or transferred to us.").

bankruptcy contracting and capital and operational structuring, as well as why the latter is more common than the former. If bankruptcy contracting is seen as too costly, then parties will not engage in it; at the same time, if structuring is cheaper and provides some of the same benefits, parties may choose to use structuring instead. Following this analysis leads to proposals to improve the use of bankruptcy contracting, whether in this industry or in a hypothetical bankruptcy system more amenable to contracting. The first would be to implement a mandatory, standardized disclosure requirement for any bankruptcy contracts. This would enable all interested parties to more quickly understand what rights would already be spoken for through prior bankruptcy contracts, while also making public the common types of rights that parties contract for. A second way to improve bankruptcy contracting would be to try to limit, either by law, contract, or custom, the varieties of bankruptcy contracts that are possible. If only a fixed, small number of different types of bankruptcy contracts or structures would be permitted—akin to property law's numerus clausus principle that limits the different types of property ownership available<sup>334</sup>—information costs would be reduced and transactions could proceed more smoothly. Finally, there should be clear and balanced default rules for parties who choose, rationally or otherwise, not to make bankruptcy contracts. Without well-established default rules, the risk of inequitable outcomes for many types of creditors is too great.

Disclosure and standardization are interrelated and have been recognized as important by scholars in the bankruptcy contracting and other contexts.<sup>335</sup> Together, these strategies would reduce informational and transactional costs, thus making it more likely that greater numbers of secured lenders and other parties might use bankruptcy contracting. However, it would also reduce the costs imposed by granting too much freedom. Creating a choice architecture that facilitates mostly optimal choices under most circumstances should benefit those who make bankruptcy contracts as well as those who do not.<sup>336</sup> Disclosure and standardization in turn should reduce insolvency costs and thus lower companies' cost of capital. By requiring better disclosure, more standardization of the tailoring and structuring strategies that might be used

<sup>334</sup> See note 28, supra, and accompanying text.

<sup>335</sup> Rasmussen, *supra* note 261, at 107, 117; Ayotte & Huang, *supra* note 28 (standardization reduces information and transaction costs).

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 336}$  See generally Richard H. Thaler and Cass R. Sunstein, Nudge: The Final Edition 13-19.

in this industry, and clear default rules, some of the possible inequities that bankruptcy contracting can introduce may be reduced as well. Even if bankruptcy contracting never extends beyond the legal cannabis industry, making these changes would still improve outcomes for marijuana debtors and creditors.

## B. The Purposes of (Imperfect) Bankruptcy Rules

The motivating premise behind the contractualist critique of bankruptcy is that a well-functioning bankruptcy system, by maximizing the insolvency state returns of creditors, lowers a firm's financing costs. If mandatory bankruptcy rules stand in the way of this goal, then parties should be able to alter or reject them in a manner that does not harm other creditors. The marijuana industry may have many reasons why its cost of capital remains higher than in other industries, making it impossible to use marijuana companies to test this premise directly.<sup>337</sup> Nevertheless, we can look to the data and the structure of the industry overall to consider whether permitting free contracting might be less important for a company's cost of capital than other legal interventions. This Section describes how a focus on the specific bankruptcy rules that could be improved upon through contract, rather than on the importance of clear and consistent rules more generally, may be missing the forest for the (marijuana) trees.

To understand why this might be, recall the discussion of the marijuana industry's legal framework from Part I. The dual status of marijuana—legal at a state level, but federally illegal—imposes substantial uncertainty on the industry. State action to form distinctive state markets and achieve political goals that may be unrelated to maximizing the efficiency of the market can also cause fragmentation and increase costs.<sup>338</sup> Tax, intellectual property, regulatory, and other issues all conspire to make it very expensive to run a cannabis company, and many cannabis companies remain unprofitable despite growing sales.<sup>339</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>337</sup> Kate Robertson, *High Cost of Raising Capital in Marijuana Industry Expected to Continue in 2023*, MJBIZDAILY (Feb. 13, 2023), https://mjbizdaily.com/high-cost-of-raising-capital-in-cannabis-industry-expected-to-continue-in-2023/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>338</sup> See generally Robert A. Mikos, Interstate Commerce in Cannabis, 101 B.U. L. REV. 857, 888-94 (2021)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>339</sup> Paul Demko, Why Weed Companies Can't Make Any Money, POLITICO (Sept. 4, 2022, 7:00 a.m.), https://www.politico.com/news/2022/09/04/weed-companies-cant-

Marijuana's dual legal status, and the legal uncertainty it generates, contributes to a cost of capital for the industry that far exceeds that faced by other industries.<sup>340</sup> One way it directly affects the cost of capital is by reducing the certainty of liens placed on company assets.<sup>341</sup> A marijuana company's most valuable assets would typically include its inventory, licenses, and real estate. But enforcing liens on each of these assets presents challenges. Inventory cannot be repossessed without running afoul of federal law, potentially endangering the lender's other business interests. Without proper licensure, doing so would violate state law as well. Thus, prominent marijuana-focused law firms do not view repossession of inventory as a viable option.<sup>342</sup>

Next, consider licenses. Generally, liens can be placed on general intangible assets (such as cannabis licenses) even if foreclosure would be barred because of government restrictions on alienability.<sup>343</sup> But a rational lender would discount the value of this collateral to the extent of the difficulty of foreclosing on any collateral so restricted. With the ability to foreclose on a borrower's most valuable asset depending on government discretion, financing costs will increase.

Finally, cannabis real estate presents several lien issues. If the secured party is not licensed, foreclosing on an active cannabis retail or grow facility could place the lender in immediate violation of state law. Federal law regarding seizure of property used in furtherance of violations of the CSA would also apply. Perhaps these issues could be avoided if the foreclosing lender agreed to use the property for non-marijuana purposes or to lease it to a party that would do so. But this makes underwriting for a lender incredibly difficult, as it is likely that marijuana operations at many properties would constitute the most profitable use possible at that location. For example, a cannabis grow facility prohibited from growing cannabis will

<sup>340</sup> Will Yakowicz, For the Cannabis Industry, Loans are Short and Interest Rates are High, FORBES (Sept. 16, 2022, 4:30 p.m.), https://www.forbes.com/sites/willyakowicz/2022/09/16/for-the-cannabis-industry-loans-are-short-and-interest-rates-are-high/ (documenting loans with rates as high as 40%, and penalty rates for late payments as high as 100%).

make-money-00054541.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>341</sup> See Julie Andersen Hill, Cannabis Banking: What Marijuana Can Learn from Hemp, 101 B.U. L. REV. 1043, 1057-1060 (2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>342</sup> See, e.g., Charles Alovisetti et al., Exploring Alternatives to Bankruptcy for Cannabis Businesses, VINCENTE LLP (Apr. 17, 2020), https://vicentellp.com/insights/bankruptcy-alternatives-for-cannabis-businesses/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>343</sup> U.C.C. § 9-408(c).

generate far less revenue as a non-cannabis greenhouse facility, if it could even be used as such. Without marijuana use, many such facilities would simply be large warehouses in unprofitable locations that could not otherwise justify their cost.<sup>344</sup> A well-located retail facility might better retain value, but in many cases the valuations upon which financing is underwritten might only be achievable on high-margin products like marijuana. The uncertainty of foreclosing on secured collateral, whether inventory, licenses, or real estate, presents a major hurdle for lowering capital costs in the industry. Lien uncertainty might also make the value of a debtor's ability under the Bankruptcy Code to sell assets free and clear of all liens more apparent to those in the marijuana industry.<sup>345</sup>

High credit costs in the cannabis industry may, at least partially, result from uncertainty that creditors face regarding the amount they stand to recover in case of insolvency. Yet this uncertainty, in turn, does not stem from the inclusion or removal of any one particular bankruptcy rule. It instead arises from the overall uncertainty faced by industry participants across a whole host of dimensions—liens, policy enforcement, tax, intellectual property, contract, and, yes, insolvency. All these uncertainties interact with and compound upon one another: for example, if a company's intellectual property turns out to be unenforceable, the company's creditors cannot properly value the intellectual property for collateral purposes even if the company could guarantee that creditors would obtain a recovery on the collateralized assets, which of course the company cannot do. Moreover, the data showing that cannabis companies and their counterparties rarely tailor bankruptcy terms in their contracts suggests that all involved understand that tailored contractual terms would likely only lead to marginal improvements in collectability and thus credit costs. Fiddling with the precise timeline within which a bankruptcy sale must be made, or the exact ways a license would be treated in insolvency, is of profoundly secondary importance compared to the major sources of uncertainty faced by industry participants. An industry with so much uncertainty will ineluctably face higher credit costs, all else equal.

The Creditors' Bargain theory explains that bankruptcy law should

<sup>344</sup> See Ana Cabrera et al., Did Pot Money Save Small Town from 'Abyss of Nothingness'?, CNN (Apr. 21, 2016, 11:14 a.m.), https://www.cnn.com/2016/04/20/health/trinidad-colorado-small-town-marijuana/index.html.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>345</sup> See 11 U.S.C. § 363(f).

consist of the hypothetical deal that creditors would strike if not faced with collective action problems. Contractualists, in response, take the Creditors' Bargain theory to its logical conclusion. They argue it would be better to permit parties to implement an actual, customized bargain rather than a hypothetical, one-size-fits-all solution. On the other side, there are those like Warren and Westbrook who are skeptical of the law-and-economics approach of the Creditors' Bargain theory generally, and who reject contractualism as naïve. They explain that bankruptcy law is needed to promote public welfare goals such as the protection of maladjusting creditors and parties like communities or municipalities that would be affected by the second-order effects of major bankruptcies.<sup>346</sup> But the implied precondition that makes disagreement among these commentators possible is the existence of a large body of settled and predictable debtor-creditor law (whether in the Bankruptcy Code or in the various state contract, secured transactions, and other laws that support its operation). It is only because stable debtor-creditor law exists that we can consider how it could be optimized, as the experience of marijuana companies underscores.

This realization—that a mostly fixed debtor-creditor law is the foundation upon which the contractualist critique (and its detractors) stands—suggests another possible purpose of bankruptcy law writ large. Uncertainty, rather than any particular rule, may be the greater roadblock to smooth commerce and value promoting distributions. Bankruptcy law and its state-law adjuncts, merely by providing a stable and well-settled set of rules, reduces uncertainty and thus makes the other goals possible. In this conceptualization, the comparison is not between one set of rules and another, or whether sophisticated parties can or should override a rule that does not work perfectly for them, or even whether some parties might be harmed more than those who might gain from bankruptcy contracting. Instead, the comparison is between a system where some consistent set of rules governs and one where it does not. Uncertainty helps explain the higher capital costs faced by cannabis companies. Companies that rationally choose to contract around bankruptcy are sometimes able to obtain better deal terms for themselves, but also benefit by circumscribing the range of potential outcomes that could occur upon insolvency. Meanwhile, the desire to reduce uncertainty in a simple manner could explain the larger number of companies that turn to a few well-established structuring tools for transactions instead of writing bankruptcy contracts.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>346</sup> See generally Elizabeth Warren, Bankruptcy Policy, 54 U. CHI. L. REV. 775 (1987).

In this paradigm of consistent versus inconsistent rules, the specifics of the rule matter less than the existence of rules that are understood by, and predictably enforced against, the parties.<sup>347</sup> Increased transactional and informational costs make the presence of some rule, whether optimal or not, essential.<sup>348</sup> As a result, perhaps any movement beyond the bankruptcy state of nature will be an improvement. By contract, a freer bankruptcy regime could counterintuitively *increase* credit costs, rather than decreasing them, by injecting still more uncertainty into the company's affairs. The fact that some parties might write bankruptcy contracts while others might not would increase the informational costs to all parties, who would therefore need to consider whether any other contract contains bankruptcy terms that would influence their own contracts.

Perhaps the increased complexity involved when parties transact under unsettled rules offers a partial explanation of why only about one in twenty contracts in the Data Set contains any form of bankruptcy contracting. The problem of having no insolvency rules is so massive that, absent incorporating the entirety of the Bankruptcy Code and all related state law by contract into each agreement, making an agreement about how one particular asset is handled upon insolvency may be missing the forest for a single tree. Indeed, it may be worse than that, since (to extend the analogy) the single tree may be an invasive species that actually adds to problems faced by creditors at large. To return to the most dramatic example of bankruptcy contracting discussed above,<sup>349</sup> the credit agreement entered into by Acreage Holdings, Inc. required marijuana licenses to be auctioned according to a particular process, with lenders having more control over the process and receiving greater returns than they would under the Bankruptcy Code. Would a court enforce these provisions? Would enforcement vary by state or asset type? How should other creditors react under this uncertainty? Could other creditors even discover these provisions or the exact assets to which they applied? And if a key asset is removed from under the noses of other creditors, would they have any recourse? These and a multitude of other questions arise from a single provision in a single contract for a company that likely enters into hundreds or thousands of agreements.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>347</sup> See ELLICKSON, supra note 44, at 52-64 (describing community norms that consistently govern behavior even while diverging from legal entitlements).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>348</sup> See id. at 280-82.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>349</sup> See notes 159-171, supra, and accompanying text.

Without well-established answers, it may well be that contract counterparties simply decide that taking the risk on a novel contractual provision is not worth the cost.

Perhaps as a result of the complexities added by inconsistent rules, the data demonstrates that parties mostly do not write bankruptcy contracts even when able. The existence of a bankruptcy system that cannot be modified or waived might therefore, at least in part, be justified by consideration of the alternative: no stable bankruptcy law, a general unwillingness to write bankruptcy contracts, insufficient disclosure of contracts that are written, higher informational and transactional costs, inequitable outcomes for many sophisticated and all maladjusting creditors, and potentially higher credit costs as a result.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Marijuana companies cannot file for bankruptcy. This status unique among American businesses—offers them the opportunity to write contracts that would override the otherwise mandatory bankruptcy rules that apply to all other firms. This Article leveraged a novel, hand-collected data set consisting of almost 75,000 pages across 1,167 contracts and filings publicly disclosed by thirty-four companies in the cannabis industry to examine whether, and how, the marijuana industry writes bankruptcy contracts. It found that despite widespread knowledge of the unavailability of bankruptcy, bankruptcy contracts were generally rare, with only around 6.6% of contracts including any bankruptcy terms. The bankruptcy contracting that did exist was concentrated among secured lenders, where a around one-third of contracts contained tailored bankruptcy provisions. Shaping operations and capital structures to account for the absence of bankruptcy protection was more common, with around 45% of contracts including such strategies. However, most of these documents relied on an opt-out strategy, with more than 85% of contracts with structuring pursuing an opt-out strategy. Cannabis-specific structuring techniques were only used in about 14.5% of contracts with structuring (or 6.5% of all contracts). Finally, companies never issued exotic securities to automate the bankruptcy process. This suggests that bankruptcy contracting may have a limited role to play, but that the costs of bankruptcy contracting, and uncertainty more generally, may be underappreciated by proponents of a bankruptcy contracting regime.

#### APPENDIX A—DATABASE CREATION AND CODING NOTES

Parts II and III of this Article are based upon the creation and hand-coding of a novel database on the publicly-available documents for listed cannabis companies. This database consists of 1,167 unique documents, totaling approximately 74,922 pages of legal documents disclosed by thirty-four companies in the legal cannabis industry. The author created this database for purposes of this Article, and is aware of no similar database elsewhere. This Appendix explains how this database was created and coded.

#### A. Database Creation

Using S&P Capital IQ Pro, a list of all companies that met the following criteria as of May 10, 2023 was created<sup>350</sup>:

- Business Description Includes: "cannabis" OR "marijuana"; OR
- Long Business Description Includes: "cannabis" OR "marijuana"; OR
- Topic Tags Includes: "cannabis" OR "marijuana"; AND
- Geography In: United States, Canada; AND
- Market Capitalization (M)  $\geq 25$

A screenshot of the filter used is provided below:

 $<sup>^{350}</sup>$  Note that quotation marks are used for illustrative purposes only, to distinguish the categories used in Capital IQ Pro from the keywords used in each category. In the actual creation of the screener, no quotation marks were used.



This generated a list of 113 companies. I then cleaned the list to remove any companies that were included in this list but were otherwise not relevant for the questions examined in this Article. Since the goal of creating this database was to focus on companies that were most directly involved in the cannabis industry, certain companies were removed that could plausibly be considered CSA-violating marijuana businesses,<sup>351</sup> but which likely would not be barred from accessing US bankruptcy courts as a result of this activity. In furtherance of this goal, nine categories of companies were removed from the list, as explained below:

- No US Operations with Cannabis as a Product: approximately twenty-three companies were removed from the list under this criterion. This criterion was meant to address two distinct, but related, reasons why a given company would not be relevant to the questions examined in this Article:
  - O Several companies on this list simply did not have operations in the United States. With little need to access US bankruptcy courts, and in light of the general hostility of US bankruptcy courts toward cannabis businesses, it is unlikely that such a company would attempt to file for bankruptcy in the US.
  - Also included in this tabulation is companies that maintain only federally-legal cannabis-related operations in the US.
     The 2018 Agriculture Bill legalized the manufacture and sale

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>351</sup> See generally Lauren A. Newell, Hitting the Trip Wire: When Does a Company Become a "Marijuana Business", 101 BOS. U. L. REV. 1105 (2021).

of products derived from marijuana or that include low levels of cannabidiol.<sup>352</sup> These include hemp-based products, products containing CBD, and other similar products. Because these products are not federally illegal, they do not raise the bankruptcy issues discussed in this Article.

- SPACs: approximately seven companies were removed from the list under this criterion. Special-purpose acquisition companies, or SPACs, raise funds and list on stock exchanges with the intention of acquiring existing private businesses. The SPACs removed under this criterion describe their intention to purchase companies in the cannabis industry, but to date have not done so, and so do not implicate the issues raised in this Article.
- ETFs: approximately seventeen stock listings were removed from the list under this criterion. These exchange-traded funds target investments in companies with varying degrees of connection to in the cannabis industry, ranging from investments in producers or retailers to investments in upstream input providers. ETFs are removed from the list for three reasons. First, ETFs are a step removed from the cannabis companies themselves, and therefore analyzing their contracts would provide less information on the contractual responses to the absence of bankruptcy than analysis of the active companies themselves. Second, analyzing ETFs would almost certainly lead to double counting, since ETFs likely invest in the same companies that remain on the list. Finally, although equity holders in a cannabis bankruptcy would almost certainly be affected by the absence of bankruptcy protection, ETFs do not negotiate the terms of their investment in equities before making the investments instead, they simply purchase equities within their mandate for the market price.
- *Testing Companies*: approximately four companies were removed from the list under this criterion. These companies, rather than trading in cannabis, create products meant to test for the presence of

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>352</sup> This bill removed hemp (i.e., cannabis and derivatives thereof with concentrations of THC less than or equal to 0.3% on a dry weight basis) from the definition of "marijuana" in the Controlled Substances Act, thus legalizing its regulation, production, and sale at the federal level. *See Testimony: Hemp Production and the 2018 Farm Bill*, United States Food and Drug Administration (July 25, 2019), https://www.fda.gov/news-events/congressional-testimony/hemp-production-and-2018-farm-bill-07252019.

- cannabis (say, though the use of a blood test or breath analysis). As such, they do not implicate the issues raised by potential insolvency in the cannabis industry without the protections of the Bankruptcy Code.
- Pharmaceutical Companies: approximately eight companies were removed from the list under this criterion. Many of these companies do not yet have a cannabis-related product to sell, as they are in clinical-stage trials. In addition, none of them require cannabis licensing at a state level because they do not intend to sell cannabis to consumers.
  - One company was removed under this criterion because it received approval from the federal Drug Enforcement Agency to produce and sell federally-legal cannabis commercially for research and manufacturing purposes to, inter alia, DEA-registered pharmaceutical companies. As a result, it would likely not face the issues raised in this Article.
- Dual-Use Input Suppliers: approximately 12 companies were removed from the list under this criterion. These companies sell products that are necessary for the manufacture and sale of cannabis and other agricultural products, such as hydroponic supplies, fertilizer, disinfection materials, and packaging. Case law discussed in the body of the Article indicates that courts might look skeptically at so-called dual-use products and thus plausibly bar these companies from filing for bankruptcy. Nevertheless, the particular facts of these cases mattered greatly: when bankruptcy relief was denied, this was because sales to cannabis companies were not an ancillary part of the business, but instead the prime reason for the existence of the business. Thus, companies like Scott Miracle-Gro, for which cannabis is an ancillary business, were removed.
- No Marijuana Tech Companies: four companies were removed from this list under this criterion. These companies offer technologies like payment processing, data analytics, and e-commerce portals for non-marijuana paraphernalia for cannabis operators. Similar to the so-called dual-use input suppliers discussed directly above, these companies might be prohibited from filing for bankruptcy, but also might be able to file for bankruptcy depending on the facts and

 $<sup>^{353}</sup>$  See the discussion in the Article on In re Way to Grow, 597 B.R. 111 (Bankr. D. Colo. 2018).

- circumstances of their particular operations. Because these companies do not directly sell marijuana, they were not included.
- No Banks Holding Companies: three companies were removed from this list under this criterion. While the lion's share of traditional financial institutions have shied away from involvement in the legal cannabis industry for fear of running afoul of federal anti-money laundering and other laws, a handful of smaller banks serve the industry. Despite material ties to the industry, these companies were excluded for two reasons. First, cannabis operations made up only a part of the operations of each bank, meaning that it is not clear whether the prohibition on bankruptcy filings would apply to them (or that they would not be able to evade the prohibition through divestment of the offending parts of the business). Second, and more fundamentally, banks receive unique treatment under Bankruptcy Code, with bank holding companies being permitted to file for bankruptcy while financial distress at operational divisions of banks is resolved by the FDIC.<sup>354</sup> Since it is not clear whether the Bankruptcy Code would play a role in any given bank contract, these companies were excluded to reduce analytical confusion.
- No US Listing: one company was removed from the list under this criterion. Although this company appears to have some operations in the US, and lists its headquarters as being in the US, the company is only publicly listed on the Korean Securities Dealer Automated Quotations (KOSDAQ) market. As such, no publicly-available English-language documents were available consistent with US securities laws.

After removing these companies, there were thirty-five companies remaining on the list (the "Initial Company List").

# B. Building the Data Set

Once the Initial Company List was constructed, the next step was to build a data set (the "Data Set") based on the documents made publicly available by the companies on the Initial Company List. To do this, I used

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>354</sup> See generally Richard M. Hynes and Steven D. Walt, Why Banks are Not Allowed in Bankruptcy, 67 WASH. & LEE. L. REV. 985 (2010).

Bloomberg Law to search for every public filing by each company on the Initial Company List that mentions the word "cannabis" or "marijuana" posted on the SEC's Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis, and Retrieval system ("EDGAR," and searches on EDGAR using Bloomberg Law, "Bloomberg EDGAR"). I reviewed every result (including both the filings and all exhibits) for the five-year period between May 1, 2018 and May 10, 2023. When documents were limited or unavailable on Bloomberg EDGAR for Canadian-listed operators, 355 I also cross-referenced the documents included on Bloomberg EDGAR with documents included on Canada's System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval Plus platform ("SEDARPlus") for companies listed in Canada.

After removing one company which returned no documents on a search of Bloomberg EDGAR, the final list of companies (the "Company List") consisted of thirty-four (34) companies. <sup>356</sup>

I downloaded the following categories of results, which I used to code the following information<sup>357</sup>:

Category		Coded In detail give	nformation en below)	(more	Notes		
10-K others <sup>358</sup>	or	• Lis	sting jurisdic	tions	10-Ks can different	include m types	any of

<sup>355</sup> As this term is used in the main article.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>356</sup> One company, Vext Science, Inc., was removed from the Company List at this stage because a search on Bloomberg EDGAR for the keywords described above returned zero results.

 $<sup>^{357}</sup>$  Fewer than ten documents were excluded from the Data Set because they could not be converted into an OCR-readable format or were otherwise illegible.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>358</sup> On July 1, 1991, the SEC adopted a multijurisdictional disclosure system ("MJDS") for Canadian issuers, meant to streamline and harmonize the filing requirements for Canadian issuers seeking to register securities for offerings in the United States. See generally Multijurisdictional Disclosure System, United States Securities and Exchange (June 30, 2013), https://www.sec.gov/corpfin/cf-manual/topic-16. Moreover, "foreign private issuers" can use different forms than those used by US-based issuers. See generally Accessing the U.S. Capital Markets—A Brief Overview for Foreign United States Securities Issuers, and Exchange https://www.sec.gov/divisions/corpfin/internatl/foreign-private-issuers-overview.shtml. As a result, some issuers subject to the MJDS or classified as foreign private issuers file Forms 10-F, 40-F, and/or 6-K rather than Forms 10-K, 8-K, or prospectus-based filings. When US-based forms were unavailable but corresponding forms for foreign issuers were available, those were used instead; alternatively, Annual Information Forms (which, when combined with corresponding consolidated financial statements and management discussion and analysis forms over the same period, collectively serve the same function)

Category	Coded Information (more detail given below)	Notes
	<ul> <li>Marijuana in business description<sup>359</sup></li> <li>Marijuana risk factors<sup>360</sup></li> <li>Reliance upon trade secrets due to the unavailability of federal trademark and/or patent protection<sup>361</sup></li> <li>Unionized employees<sup>362</sup></li> <li>Bankruptcy risk factors<sup>363</sup></li> <li>Limited reporter under JOBS Act</li> <li>Corporate structure         <ul> <li>Is there a separate entity for each property?</li> <li>Is there a separate entity for each license?</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	exhibits. Some of these are pertinent to the questions in this Article, such as management's discussion and analysis, loan agreements, leases, employment contracts, indemnities, consulting agreements, and others.

were used for some companies.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>359</sup> To screen for this, I searched documents for the terms "marijuana" and "cannabis".

 $<sup>^{360}</sup>$  To screen for this, I evaluated whether a document expressly describes the illegality of marijuana or cannabis, the Controlled Substances Act, compliance with applicable law (other than cannabis law), and/or the impact of this illegality on areas of law including contract, trademark, tax, or others.

 $<sup>^{361}</sup>$  To screen for this, I searched documents for the term "trade secret."

 $<sup>^{362}</sup>$  To screen for this, I searched documents for the terms "employee," "union," and "collective bargaining".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>363</sup> To screen for this, I evaluated whether a document expressly describes the fact that companies may not avail themselves of the protections of the Bankruptcy Code.

Category	Coded Information (more	Notes
Organizational Documents 365	o Is there a single entity for all licenses in a state?  Is there a single entity for all licenses in a state?  Is there a single entity for all property in a state?  Exotic securities <sup>364</sup> Total long-term debt  State of incorporation  Do the organizational documents provide	Only Articles where the entity is a US entity; if the entity is a Canadian
Documents 365	l e	-
	rights <sup>366</sup> • Authorization for state-level procedures • Exotic contract	

 $^{364}$  To screen for this, I evaluated whether any types of securities are issued by the company other than standard equity, preferred equity, convertible debt, and standard secured or unsecured debt.

<sup>365</sup> Such as articles of incorporation, bylaws, and limited liability company agreements. <sup>366</sup> To screen for this, I evaluated whether a document expressly seek to mirror, replace, or alter a rule that would apply if a non-marijuana company filed for bankruptcy in the event of insolvency. (This excludes rights such as the express right to file a proof of claim, which is simply included by creditors for certainty and does not actually expand rights available to a creditor or trustee for creditors.) These would often, but not exclusively, be included in parts of contracts that discussed bankruptcy-related terms, events of default, remedies for events of default, and rights regarding collateral. In leases, these would also sometimes be included in parts of contracts discussing assignment or subletting rights.

Category		Notes
Merger Agreements <sup>367</sup>	<ul> <li>detail given below)         provisions</li> <li>Marijuana risk factors</li> <li>Marijuana-specific         provisions<sup>368</sup></li> <li>Bankruptcy risk         factors</li> <li>Bankruptcy-specific         rights<sup>369</sup></li> <li>State-level procedures</li> <li>Involvement of US         companies</li> <li>Governing law</li> </ul>	Merger agreements contain numerous disclosures, and sometimes contain financing arrangements that would be relevant to the questions addressed in this Article. While many occur under Canadian law and primarily involve Canadian companies, US companies are often involved enough that their bankruptcy might have a material impact on the transaction.
Secured Debt	<ul> <li>Borrower domicile</li> <li>Governing law</li> <li>Does the collateral include the license?<sup>370</sup></li> </ul>	Secured debt comes in many forms. Some of the types of secured debt examined include

<sup>367</sup> Under American law, such agreements are often referred to as an "Agreement and Plan of Merger" or a similar title. Under Canadian law, these are often referred to as a

"Business Combination Agreement," "Arrangement Agreement," or a similar title.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>368</sup> To screen for this, I evaluated whether a document includes provisions that vary precisely because of marijuana's regulatory framework. These might include comments on 26 U.S.C. § 280E, audit limitations under relevant state law, etc.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>369</sup> To screen for this, I searched documents for the terms "bankruptcy", "insolvency", "liquidation", "dissolution", "winding up", and "reorganization."

 $<sup>^{370}</sup>$  For all collateral-related coding, I searched documents for the terms "collateral," "security," and "pledge", and also review the document to see if it contained other provisions that would act to offer collateral as security. This query is meant to answer the question: if the borrower went bankrupt, would the lender claim the right to be able to seize a marijuana license? A financier that does not itself possess a license, so such companies were coded N/A.

include intellectual others.  property?  • Does the collateral include cash?  others.  If a license is held by a entity which pledges in	Category	Coded Information (more Notes detail given below)	
<ul> <li>Are there mezzanine style pledges of interests in upper-tier or related entities?</li> <li>Is there a parent guaranty?</li> <li>Number of financial creditors</li> <li>Multiple layers of creditors?<sup>372</sup></li> <li>Marijuana risk factors</li> <li>Marijuana-specific provisions</li> <li>Bankruptcy risk factors</li> <li>Bankruptcy-specific rights</li> <li>Can the lender exercise significant control?<sup>373</sup></li> <li>ownership interests in favor of a lender, this treated as though the license is also pledged a collateral (since the reasonable expectation of the lender would be that the license would transfer along with the ownership interests is favor of a lender, this treated as though the license is also pledged a collateral (since the reasonable expectation of the lender would transfer along with the ownership interests is favor of a lender, this treated as though the license is also pledged a collateral (since the reasonable expectation of the lender would transfer along with the ownership interests in favor of a lender, this treated as though the license is also pledged a collateral (since the reasonable expectation of the lender would transfer along with the ownership interests in favor of a lender, this treated as though the license is also pledged a collateral (since the reasonable expectation of the lender would that the license would transfer along with the ownership interests in favor of a lender, this treated as though the license is also pledged a collateral (since the reasonable expectation of the lender would be that the license would transfer along with the ownership interests in favor of a lender, this treated as though the license is also pledged a collateral (since the reasonable expectation of the lender would apply to ownership interests subject to the same transfer restrictions the would apply to transfer of the license itself.</li> </ul>		<ul> <li>Does the collateral include marijuana?<sup>371</sup></li> <li>Does the collateral include intellectual property?</li> <li>Does the collateral include cash?</li> <li>Are there mezzaninestyle pledges of interests in upper-tier or related entities?</li> <li>Is there a parent guaranty?</li> <li>Number of financial creditors</li> <li>Multiple layers of creditors?<sup>372</sup></li> <li>Marijuana risk factors</li> <li>Marijuana-specific provisions</li> <li>Bankruptcy risk factors</li> <li>Bankruptcy-specific rights</li> <li>Can the lender exercise significant</li> </ul>	by an ges its ests in this is the estation uld be would the erests, same as that to a

 $^{371}$  As with the license query above, a financier does not possess marijuana and therefore were coded N/A for this query.

<sup>372</sup> To screen for this, I evaluated whether the document in question already contemplates the existence, or permits the future incurrence, of additional debt lent to the borrower by a third party. Such terms would often be included in the definition of "permitted encumbrances," "permitted indebtedness," or similar terms.

 $^{373}$  To screen for this, I evaluated whether the lender has the right to force the borrower to act, or prevent the borrower from acting, prior to an Event of Default in a way that might materially limit the borrower's ability to operate its business in the ordinary course. These might include deadlines within which borrowers need to take certain actions, budgets that

Category	Coded Information (more detail given below)	Notes
	<ul> <li>Does the lender have audit rights?<sup>374</sup></li> </ul>	
Unsecured Debt	<ul> <li>Borrower domicile</li> <li>Governing law</li> <li>Does the loan agreement explicitly state its repayment priority (i.e., senior or subordinated)?         <ul> <li>If so, is it senior or subordinated?</li> </ul> </li> <li>Existence of secured vs. unsecured debt</li> <li>Are there multiple tiers or layers of borrowers or guarantors?<sup>375</sup></li> <li>Number of financial creditors</li> <li>Multiple layers of creditors?</li> <li>Bankruptcy-specific rights</li> </ul>	Unsecured debt comes in many forms. Some of the types of unsecured debt examined include unsecured promissory notes, convertible promissory notes, and debt paid by share or warrant issuance.
Leases	<ul> <li>Does the collateral include the license?</li> <li>Does the collateral include marijuana?</li> <li>Does the collateral</li> </ul>	Because cannabis companies often face difficulties obtaining traditional financing, sale-leaseback

constrain their operational freedom, strict covenants, consent for basic operational decisions, and other similar items.

 $<sup>^{374}</sup>$  To screen for this, I searched documents for the terms "inspect", "books", "records", "financial", and words of similar import.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>375</sup> To screen for this, I evaluated whether the document contemplates the existence of multiple borrowers, or separate borrower and guarantor.

Category	Coded Information (more detail given below)	Notes
	<ul> <li>include cash?</li> <li>Special treatment of marijuana-related fixtures?</li> <li>Special treatment of on-site inventory?</li> <li>Are there mezzanine-style pledges of interests in upper-tier or related entities?</li> <li>Are there lease guarantors?</li> <li>Marijuana risk factors</li> <li>Marijuana-specific provisions</li> <li>Bankruptcy risk factors</li> <li>Bankruptcy-specific rights</li> </ul>	arrangements are a common and important method used to raise capital. As a result, leases can contain loanlike terms, including pledges of collateral, guaranties, financial and operational covenants, and others.
Material	<ul><li>Audit rights</li><li>Marijuana risk factors</li></ul>	Inclusion of a contract
Contracts	<ul> <li>Marijuana-specific provisions</li> <li>Bankruptcy risk factors</li> <li>Bankruptcy-specific rights</li> <li>Governing law</li> </ul>	as an attachment to a 10-K, or inclusion as part of an 8-K filing, indicates that it is material.

A relatively small number of documents (fewer than twenty) were removed after examination because they expressly disclaimed any cannabis-related operations in the United States. $^{376}$  These typically related to

<sup>376</sup> See, e.g., SNDL Inc., Credit Agreement dated June 27, 2019 (Form F-1), 58 (July 5, 2019) (among other negative covenants, borrower and the other Credit Parties are prohibited from conducting the Business (defined as, *inter alia*, "cultivating, producing, processing, packaging and marketing . . . cannabis products for distribution and sale," *id*.

companies, such as SNDL Inc., which have substantial cannabis retail operations in Canada but no retail operations in the United States.<sup>377</sup> In the case of SNDL, Inc., the company also has a joint venture through which it makes loans to cannabis companies worldwide, including in the United States. Documents for this company, such as secured credit documents memorializing loans made to non-US companies that held no cannabis-related assets in the United States, were therefore excluded.<sup>378</sup> Nevertheless, the companies associated with these documents were still analyzed if they had documents that were still valuable for other parts of the analysis.

In total, the Data Set contained 1,167 documents (with all amendments to a document being counted with the original document as a single document), composed of 74,922 pages.

#### C. Exclusions from the Data Set

Although every publicly-available document was examined, several types of documents were consistently removed from the data set. After a time, these documents were excluded entirely (and therefore were not reviewed once they were identified as one of the document types described below).

These excluded documents, the corresponding forms used when filed with the SEC, and reasons for their exclusion, are described below:

• 8-K Press Releases: as these releases did not contain actual legal

at 3) in the United States and/or from having "any operations, sales or investments in the United States of America.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>377</sup> See, e.g., SNDL Inc., Amended and Restated Equity Distribution Agreement dated January 20, 2021 (Form 6-K), 19 (Jan. 21, 2021) (neither the company nor its subsidiaries have derived any revenue or funds, or expended any funds, in connection with any dealings in the United States of America or its states, territories, or possessions, and they will not do so).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>378</sup> See, e.g., SNDL Inc., Senior Secured Non-Revolving Term Credit Facility dated August 29, 2019 (Form 20-F), 34 (March 31, 2020) (defining "Qualified Jurisdiction" as "a country in which it is legal in all political subdivisions therein (including for greater certainty on a federal, state and municipal basis) to undertake any Cannabis-Related Activities and the Business of the Loan Parties . . . [and] such country does not include the United States of America without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent and each Lender . . . .").

- documents, they were ignored.
- 10-Q: 10-Q information is already included in the corresponding 10-K, in even greater detail.
- 10A: Registrations of securities will cover the same general issues, descriptions of securities, and risk factors as 10-Ks.
- DEF-14A, 14A: proxy statements are irrelevant to the issues in the Article.
- 6-K: duplicative of 8-K for foreign issuers.
- 20-F: a restatement of 10-K.
- D: Notice of Exempt Offering of Securities.
- Beneficial ownership information is ultimately irrelevant to the issues examined in this Article, and therefore was excluded. These forms include:
  - o 3: initial statement of beneficial ownership.
  - o 4: changes in beneficial ownership.
  - o 13D: beneficial ownership report.
  - o 13G: movement of ownership from an individual to a trust.
- S-8: the allocations under stock incentive plans are irrelevant to the issues examined in this Article.
- SD: specialized disclosure form.
- 424B3, 424B7, S-1, S-1/A, S-3: prospectus; but, attachments to prospectuses were reviewed, as these sometimes contained material documents not easily accessible elsewhere.
- Comment Letters to/from SEC Staff: correspondence between the SEC and the respective issuers relating to securities laws requirements were outside of the scope of the Article.
- Miscellaneous: items such as letters of intent were excluded if a corresponding document fully memorializing the agreement reached in the letter of intent could not be located.

# D. Coding for Bankruptcy Contracting

Contracts that included one or more express provisions that incorporated, altered, or rejected procedures that would typically be implemented under the Bankruptcy Code would be coded as a form of bankruptcy contracting. Such rights might include:

- Mirrors of rights under the Bankruptcy Code, such as:
  - o An automatic stay.

- o Delays in payments of interest or use of cash collateral.
- o Any collective action mechanism that could mirror what might be included in a restructuring support agreement or the voting rights present in the Bankruptcy Code.
- o Any examination or audit rights.
- Express deviations from rights under the Bankruptcy Code, such as:
  - o Replacing the sales process under section 363.
  - o Changing rights under section 365.
  - o Permitting parties to estimate the value of claims.
  - o Appointment of an administrator or receiver.
- Implementations of state-level procedures, such as:
  - o Appointment of a state-approved receiver.
  - o Statements regarding governing law in the event of insolvency.
  - Barring or facilitating ABCs.
- Any more customized, more exotic form of bankruptcy contracting that may be present.

## E. Coding for Structuring

Contracts that included bankruptcy structuring provisions would be coded as such if they (a) were entered into by non-plant touching companies, or (b) contained <u>one or more</u> of the following cannabis-specific structures:

- Separate legal entities for each cannabis property.
- Separate legal entities for each cannabis license.
- Using a single entity to own all properties in a given state.
- Using a single entity to hold all licenses in a given state.
- A preauthorized all-asset sale.
- Any special treatment of marijuana fixtures or inventory in leased space.
- Any other procedures for keeping useful blocks of assets together, such as by including *at least two* of the following items as security:
  - Real property
  - State licenses
  - Inventory

\* \* \*